University of Tromsø Center for Peace Studies Faculty of Humanities, Social Sciences and Education Supervisor: Dr. Miriam Fischer



Liberal Imperialism or Where Good Conscience Slumbers:

Juxtaposing the Liberal Peace with the Philosophical Approaches of Lévinas and Derrida

Master Thesis M.Phil. in Peace and Conflict Transformation SVF-3901 31st of May 2014

Mirja Bänninger Lentulusstrasse 69 3007 Bern Switzerland mirja.b@bluewin.ch

Abstract

In 1989, so-called 'actually existing socialism' collapsed, and for the next few decades the West seemed to have won the ideological fight, regarding the way society, politics, and the economy were to be organised. In the discipline of peace studies this led to a hegemonic status of the liberal peace in terms of both theory and practice. Lately, however, the liberal peace has been faced with increased criticism. Liberal peacebuilding seems unable to respond to the needs and wishes of people affected by violent conflict. Its tactics are highly standardised, and aim at engineering a specific set of conditions supposed to ensure a sustainable peace. Most often, these tactics fail to institutionalise the promised peace. Moreover, they display neo-colonial tendencies, as the ability to define and institute peace is ascribed to those living in peace, while those immersed in conflict are expected to receive whatever action plan has been declared most suitable for them. This is highly problematic, as those living in peace also happen to benefit from living in the core of globally operating social, political, and economic power relations. The liberal peace has thus been increasingly recognised in its imperial character. What has not been thoroughly researched, however, is how this imperial character of the liberal peace might be connected to very basic epistemological assumptions Western philosophy, and with it Western academia, holds concerning the subject, rationality, understanding and truth.

In this thesis I shall investigate exactly this connection and try to show, how deeply the concepts and practices of the liberal peace operate within a specifically Western understanding of what it means to be a human being, and how this human being comprehends and engages with the world. I will argue that it is, again, this understanding that leads us to a specific conception of what is needed in order to create a politically lasting peace. I shall first offer a thorough analysis of the discourse, condition and practice of liberal peace, as presented by its proponents, and contrast them with the downsides of liberal history, politics, and economics. Second, I shall introduce two philosophers critical of the Western tradition of epistemology: Emmanuel Lévinas and Jacques Derrida. Last, I shall juxtapose the approaches of Lévinas and Derrida to liberal peace, searching for both the criticism and the alternatives they might have to offer to a highly liberal approach to peace.

Keywords: liberal imperialism, social contract, rational subject, Lévinas, Derrida, (non)violence, performed peace, deconstruction

Acknowledgements

Sincerest thanks:

To my supervisor, Dr. Miriam Fischer, for her constant support, encouragement, and dedicated guidance.

To David Soofali and Lodve A. Svare for sharing their time, thoughts, and open ears.

To Oliver P. Richmond, for nudging me into the depths of critical inquiry, and to the AFK-Conference of Young and Critical Peace Scholars for showing me just how far criticism can go.

To Jill Farleigh Tattam Wolfe, Oliver Rizzi Carlson and Lukas Veraguth for their assistance in layout and language matters.

To the Center for Peace Studies, and especially to Percy Oware for allowing me to write on a topic I deeply care about, even though this meant writing, studying, and being supervised abroad.

Hunger or destituteness (dénuement) are not formal structures to signify the radical and elusive alterity of the Other; they are not metaphors. The Other is a destitution and a hunger; he/she is concretely in danger of dying, and when I meet his/her 'proletarian nakedness' I could kill him/her by my indifference. The Other is a dying Other or a dying part [...]. Accordingly I am responsible for his/her life.

> Annabel Herzog¹ _

The Palestinian poet Mourid Barghouti writes that if you want to dispossess a people, the simplest way to do it is to tell their story and to start with 'secondly'. Start the story with the arrows of the Native Americans, and not with the arrival of the British, and you have an entirely different story. Start the story with the failure of the African state, and not with the colonial creation of the African state, and you have an entirely different story.

- Chimananda Ngozi Adichie²

¹ Herzog, 2002, p. 210 ² Adichie, in: Kahlenberg, 2014, p. 4-5

Table of Contents

| 1 Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| 1.1 Content – Liberalism and a Philosophy of Peace | 1 |
| 1.2 Methodological Considerations | 3 |
| 1.3 Research Question and Thesis Structure | 5 |
| 2 Current Affairs – The Peace that Colonises | 7 |
| 2.1 The Liberal Legacy | 8 |
| 2.1.1 History and Ideology – Tracing a Concept | 9 |
| 2.1.1.1 Peace – A History | 9 |
| 2.1.1.2 The Dawn of Reason | 10 |
| 2.1.1.3 Balance-of-Power versus International Law | 12 |
| 2.1.1.4 The Economy of Peace | 14 |
| 2.1.2 A Beautiful Friendship – The Liberal Peace Condition | 15 |
| 2.1.3 "Clean and Clear" – The Practice of Missions and Operations | 16 |
| 2.2. Liberal Imperialism | |
| 2.2.1 The Other Side of History | 20 |
| 2.2.2 The Path to Empire | 24 |
| 2.2.2.1 The Fixed Price Menu | 26 |
| 2.2.2.2 A Responsibility to Protect? | 29 |
| 2.2.2.3 A Word on Planning | 31 |
| 2.2.3 A First Conclusion – Giving Voice to the Local-Local | |
| 3 Lévinas and Derrida – Irreducible Relations and Open Roads | |
| 3.1 Lévinas – A Peace Beyond the I | |
| 3.1.1 The Violence of Universality | |
| 3.1.2 At Home with the Same | 43 |
| 3.1.3 My Life for the Other | 46 |
| 3.1.4 "Peace, Love and Understanding" | 49 |
| 3.2 Derrida – The Madness of Peace | |
| 3.2.1 This Différence with an A | 54 |

| 3.2.2 A God Involved in War | 57 |
|---|----|
| 3.2.3 Rehabilitating Phenomenology and Ontology | 60 |
| 3.2.4 Justice, Forgiveness, and the Necessity of Deconstruction | 63 |
| 3.3 Another Conclusion – Attacking Good Conscience | 68 |
| 4 Discussion – The Liberal Peace Revisited | 74 |
| 4.1 Lévinas on Private Property and Embodied Peace | 75 |
| 4.1.1 Progress for Whom? | 76 |
| 4.1.2 Embodied Peace | 78 |
| 4.2 Derrida on Hierarchy and a Peace to Come | 79 |
| 4.2.1 Light and Darkness | 80 |
| 4.2.2 Deconstructing for a Peace to Come | 82 |
| 5 Conclusion – To Start with 'Secondly' | 85 |
| Bibliography | 89 |
| Declaration Concerning the Safeguarding of Academic Integrity | |

1 Introduction

1.1 Content - Liberalism and a Philosophy of Peace

"Human affairs proceed in their intricate, endlessly varied, and unpredictable paths, but occasionally events occur that are taken to be sharp turning points in history."³ One of these events that – as 1945 or 9/11 – wedged itself like a qualitative fissure into the timeline of our history is the fall of the Berlin wall in 1989. With it, a previously bipolar world of contested political strategies was suddenly placed under the only guiding star left. This ideology was to lead, not only its followers, but all humanity towards ever greater progress, freedom and above all, peace.⁴ The collapse of so called 'actually existing socialism' bequeathed humanity with a single ideologically legitimate and practically plausible option for the structuring of social and political life. Time had come for an era of peace lead by the knowledge and experience of the Cold War's victor, situated on the Western side of the former global division. Thus, the guiding star and the peace it was supposed to lead to were not so much about peace *per se*; rather, they were about promoting a specific political project. The peace to follow the anarchic balance-of-power politics that had marked the second half of the 20th century had a *name*, and any hope for the future had to lie within it. The new era of peace was to be *liberal.*⁵

Of course, the story is not that simple. Not only is the liberal peace far from homogeneous, but lately its practices have also received severe criticism. Unable to adequately respond to the needs of the population living in contexts of violent conflict, liberal peacebuilding has been, at best, called 'virtual', 'a chimera', and at worst, 'imperial' and 'neo-colonial'.⁶ In short, the liberal peace was accused of becoming violent. Suggestions have been made to turn

³ Chomsky, 2010, p. 3

⁴ In this thesis I will discuss different interpretations of violence and peace that vary both in nature and specificity. The liberal peace operates with a narrow understanding of violence – mostly as direct – and relates peace to a specific set of principles, the implementation of which are thought enough to secure sustainable peace. (See: chapters 2.1 and 4.2.1) Lévinas and Derrida, on the other hand, regard as violent any action that disrespects the singularity of a particular being. Violence, then, is already found in our basic form of judgement that places something particular under something more general in order to capture its essence. Both Lévinas and Derrida are therefore hesitant to define a specific condition that could ensure peace. To them, peace cannot be conceptualised or predetermined. It is a process into the unknown that should be lead by a deep concern for the singularity of the Other. (See: chapters 3 and 4)

⁵See: Behnke, 2008, p. 21; Bush, in: Rhodes, 2003, p.137; Chandler, 2004, p. 59; Cooper, 2007, p. 613; Paris, 2002, pp. 637-638; Richmond, 2007, pp. 207-208 & 223

⁶See for example: Richmond, 2007, pp. 204-205; Richmond, 2009, p. 567

away from the mechanic and highly standardised institutionalisation of universal, liberal agendas, in order to give room to the particular, the indigenous, the local.⁷ Yet, it remains unclear, how this new turn in peace and conflict studies can evade the problems of domination, which cling to the still hegemonic discourse and practice of the liberal peace. As Andreas T. Hirblinger and Claudia Simens suggest, the renewed concern for the local still fails to fully recognise the humanity of people affected by violent conflict. Scholars, they write, "talk about 'locals' not as humans, but in terms of abstract categories"⁸, which are then used to identify who could potentially assist and who will undermine the peacebuilding process. Scholars and practitioners critical of the liberal project thus continue to engage in the production of identities that homogenise and essentialise an actually plural and internally varied group of human beings.⁹

The problem with this identification is threefold. First, the production of identities is reserved to very few. Second, the identities constructed are not mere categories of thought, used to better understand the complexities of war and conflict. Peacebuilding physically intervenes into lives, whereby the being lost, or saved of a life is often influenced by or dependent on the identity given. Last, peace missions operate along a geographical division, which links the production of identities, the knowledge of peace and the ordering of an intervention to political and economic power. Violence – most often understood as direct physical assault – is specifically defined to match the problems of the global South. Accordingly, interventions rarely take place in the global North - that is, the West. It is needless to point to the historical continuity of this division, and a much older and much less camouflaged practice of intervention: colonialism. In sum, it almost seems as if recent criticism to the liberal peace is not critical enough.¹⁰

Where does this inability to receive another human being for what he or she is spring from? Why the need to categorise, to superimpose identities, and, with it, to dominate, and ultimately exploit? In the following thesis, I would like to argue that these are not mere questions of politics, economy, or the law. They are posed to the human condition in its entirety. Peace, before all else, is a question of philosophy. To approach peace, we need to know how we relate to the world, to each other and to ourselves. That is, we must reflect and constantly reconsider our assumptions with regards to ontology and epistemology, always shaped by their own time and place. The Enlightenment, for example, – the philosophical root of the liberal peace – defends the

⁷ See for example: Mac Ginty, 2008, pp. 143-154; Richmond, 2009, p. 566

⁸ Hirblinger/Simons, 2014, p. 2

⁹ See: Hirblinger/Simons, 2014, pp. 2-7
¹⁰ See: Appeltshauser, 2014, p. 9-21; Polat, 2010, p. 317

values of freedom, reason, and the autonomous, rational subject. Yet, it equally harbours thoughts of racism, and is used to defend colonialism as a mission to civilise others. Above all, however, it is a particular, European project. The liberal peace, by building upon the Enlightenment's foundations, might therefore never escape the violence of its Eurocentric roots.¹¹ It is therefore necessary for peace scholars and practitioners to understand the liberal project in its particularity, and to engage in discussions that present different approaches to knowledge, subjectivity, the social, and, with it, the possibility of peace; approaches that are perhaps more fit to our times.

Consequently, I¹² shall test the following assumptions: Peace research and peacebuilding will continue to fail in their attempts to build sustainable peace if they remain restricted to the Enlightenment-shaped Western tradition of thought and its *doxai* concerning the rational subject, the power of reason, and the nature of freedom. Therefore, peace will not be found by constantly revising political and institutional suggestions as to how a peaceful society can be built and maintained. Instead, peace research needs to engage in a much more fundamental discussion with regards to the conception of knowledge and truth, the nature of subjectivity, and the latters engagement with and in the world. Peace research needs to let philosophy back in. Only thus might an answer to the violent and imperial character of the liberal peace be found.¹³

1.2 Methodological Considerations

This thesis will thus operate between disciplinary borders. On the one side, its inquiry is to be situated in the discipline of peace and conflict studies, since understanding the causes of violence and inquiring into the possibilities for peace are its major concern.¹⁴ The form this thesis takes, on the other hand, is that of a philosophical analysis. At its heart lies a close reading of and engagement with primary literature by Emmanuel Lévinas and Jacques Derrida. In a discipline mainly influenced by the social sciences and empirical research, this is just as unusual as it is

¹¹ See: Harpham, 1994, pp. 532-539

¹² I write in the frist person, singular for two reasons. First, as shall be more extensively discussed in chapter 4.2.1, I agree with Appeltshauser that research is highly political, rather than neutral. I therefore think it important not to make the author disappear in the texts that he or she writes and with it hide that every author writes from a specific point of view. Second and in consequence, as I will show in chapter 3.1, Lévinas argues that we can never take another position than our own. This, I think, should be made equally clear, by renouncing the use of a more 'neutral' style.

¹³Lévinas, 1969, p. 113-117

¹⁴ For further information on the discipline of peace studies, again, see for example: Alfs, 1995, p. 26; Koppe, 2006, p. 17

necessary. Philosophy in this context is unusual, because this means that I will not include my own fieldwork. Any examples I use have been researched by other scholars, and are shaped by those scholars' own foci and concerns. Moreover, what is taken as primary philosophical data the texts of Lévinas and Derrida - would be deemed secondary by most social scientists.¹⁵ Conversely, a philosophical analysis is necessary, because, as has been argued above, the hegemonic status of the liberal peace takes the universality of its underlying philosophical assumptions for granted, and is therefore trapped in its own Eurocentric, violent, and imperial ways. A critical reconsideration of what we think natural with regards to our human condition is urgently called for within peace research, if new possibilities for peace are to be sought and attempts at peace are to be made. There is a need for peace studies to engage with philosophy in order to change its violent practice.

This is not to say that peace research should restrict itself to philosophical consideration. On the contrary, additional research is needed to mediate between the abstractedness of philosophical thought and the tangled nature of everyday life, and the complexities of conflict settings and of mechanisms and structures that perpetuate inequality and exploitation. Likewise, in the thesis at hand I will not be able to offer specific advice as to how politics, policies, or projects could or should be newly shaped. Rather, I engage in both a meta-analytical consideration of peace research and a foundational discussion on the philosophical assumptions with which current peace scholars and practitioners operate. I ask what other philosophical approaches there might be, and how our understanding of peace could be shaped in a different way, when considering the thought of Lévinas and Derrida. My approach, therefore, is theoretical, and focuses on the discursive structure used to uphold the liberal peace condition. Any translation into practice will have to follow elsewhere.

The choice to focus on the philosophical approaches of Lévinas and Derrida has four reasons. First, by criticising the approaches to peace, which are based on the assumptions of the original social contract¹⁶, especially Lévinas, but also Derrida, offer a direct link to the liberal peace. Second, Lévinas and Derrida do not present two approaches independent from another. With regards to the concern to understanding the possibility of peace, their philosophical approaches are intricately entwined; they form a dialogue. Third, bearing in mind the advice of James Der Derian and Michael J. Saphiro that alternatives to hegemonic violence are found at the

 ¹⁵ See: Adams et al., 2007
 ¹⁶ For further elaboration on the conceptualisation of an original social contract see chapter 2.1.1.2.

margins of an established discourse,¹⁷ I believe it important to reintroduce Lévinas' and Derrida's dialogue on peace into peace research. Last, the two philosophers offer insightful ideas to many of the issues and problems the liberal peace is faced with. In this thesis I shall work with a restricted number of texts by both philosophers that I regard as exemplary regarding the basic theoretical features of both approaches and their implications for the possibility of peace.

However, I find it also important to state that both Lévinas and Derrida, despite their Jewish, and in Lévinas' case Lithuanian¹⁸ as well as in Derrida's case Algerian¹⁹ background, are philosophers writing and researching within Western academia and its tradition. That is, despite their critical approach to Western thought, they do have certain roles closely linked to academic inequality and with it epistemic violence. They are both white, and they are both male. My focus on these two philosophers, therefore, might seem absurd to some thinkers critical of the liberal project and more in favour of post-colonial theory and de-colonising research. Their concern with regards to the mechanisms of exclusion of scholars from most parts of the globe, as well as the legitimacy of field research and the structures of power the latter conveys, is to be taken seriously.²⁰ However, in my view, it should not lead to a converse discrimination. I shall therefore take a pragmatic stance. By merely taking into account the approaches of Lévinas and Derrida, I will have to insist on my thesis' incompleteness with regards to an inclusive philosophical critique of the liberal peace. Equally, I will not gain a comprehensive picture on the way our human condition could be understood and conceptualised. However, it is, in my view, still important not to negate the valuable insights, Lévinas and Derrida have to offer when it comes to peace.

1.3 Research Question and Thesis Structure

What follows below, then, is an analysis of the liberal peace and its philosophical foundations, which shall be contrasted with an alternative philosophical dialogue on peace held between Lévinas and Derrida. As guiding research questions I ask how the approaches of Lévinas and Derrida can help to better understand the imperial character of the liberal peace and if, beyond all criticism, they are able to provide an alternate vision of peace. Thus, in the second chapter, I shall

¹⁷ See: Der Derian, 1989, pp. 4-7; Saphiro, 1989, pp. 12-15

 ¹⁸ See: Bernard-Deonals, 2005, p. 70
 ¹⁹ See: Ofrat, 2001, p. 3

²⁰ See for example: Appeltshauser, 2014, pp. 10-18; Kahlenberg, 2014, pp. 1-8

introduce the liberal peace, as it viewed by both proponents and opponents. In the third chapter, I will present the philosophical approaches of Lévinas and Derrida, to then juxtapose them with the liberal peace in the fourth, in which I shall attempt to better explain the imperial character of liberal project, and search for alternate possibilities for peace.

2 Current Affairs – The Peace that Colonises²¹

Today, the liberal peace is mainly understood in terms of "technical solutions"²² for the building of peace in societies that face, or have faced, violent conflicts. Yet, I shall argue in the following chapter that the liberal peace, being a "concept, condition and practice"²³ all at the same time, is highly multifaceted. As a *concept*, or rather, as Oliver P. Richmond puts it, as discourse and framework, the liberal peace entails ideas, as to how a political, social and economic system is to be organised. It is presented as the beacon of hope for everlasting prosperity and progress, proven by those already living in its *condition*. It is also a *practice*, as

leading states, international organisations and international financial institutions [attempt] to promote their version of peace through peace-support interventions, control of international financial architecture, support for state sovereignty and the international status quo.²⁴

With such conceptual and material comprehensiveness, the liberal peace has both scholarly and practically, has gained a hegemonic status, fortified by the notion that a liberal peace is desirable for as well as acceptable and suitable to all societies and states. Consequently, neither peace research nor peacebuilders can currently find a way around it.²⁵

Yet, the 'end of history'²⁶ was of short duration, and the liberal peace project has not been left unchallenged. In fact, Richmond argues that, after its flourishing years of the 1990s and early 2000s, the liberal peace is now suffering from a lack of legitimacy and has been accused of being

ethically bankrupt, subject to double standards, coercive and conditional, acultural, unconcerned with social welfare, and unfeeling and insensitive towards its subjects. It is tied to Western and liberal conceptions of the state, to institutions and not to the local.²⁷

Highly standardised, the peace to be built and spread had become a "peace from IKEA"²⁸, and is in danger of being disclosed as "a tragedy masquerading as a farce, as a bonfire of neoliberal

²¹ See: Richmond, 2007, p. 224

²² Heathershaw, 2008, p. 597

²³ Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 143

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁵ See: Cooper, 2007, p. 613; Doyle, 1983, pp. 212-224 & 232; Marshall, 2010, p. 244; Paris, 2002, pp. 637-638; Richmond, 2006, pp. 292-295

²⁶ The 'end of history' is a phrase mostly associated with Francis Fukuyama, who, after the end of the Cold War and the victory of liberalism, thought conflict and, with it, historical change to have ended for good. (See: Fukuyama, 2006)

²⁷ Richmond, 2009, p. 557

²⁸ Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 145. Mac Ginty uses the metaphor of IKEA as the liberal peace thinks that peace can be engineered the same way in every society and that it needs the same set of principles wherever it is implemented.

certainties²⁹, disregarding local practices and often cooperating with social elites. According to Richmond's view, this is a peace that colonises, because it allows some people to decide which state of affairs is best for all, and to dictate the means and impose the measures, through which this desired state can be achieved. The liberal peace, thus, has been recognised in its violence.³⁰

In this chapter I will try to bring some clarity into the multifaceted nature of the liberal peace project, by tracing in detail the argument made above. In the first subchapter, I will consider the apparent upside of liberal peace, by subsequently introducing its discourse, condition and practice. In the second, I will look at the downside of liberalism, in order to shed some light on what is being meant by a violent peace, or a peace that colonises.

2.1 The Liberal Legacy³¹

When in The Snows of Kilimanjaro, Julian tells his friend, 'The very rich are different from you and me,' his friend replies, 'Yes, they have more money.' But the liberals are fundamentally different.³²

As I have stated above, the liberal peace gained its highest popularity after the end of the Cold War and the related downfall of 'actually existing socialism'. However, its historical background as well as the ideological foundations of its political project are not as recent. This becomes evident when focus is laid on the liberal character of the peace in question. According to Raymond Geuss, the term 'liberal' first appeared around 1810-11 in Spain, where it was used to label a political party. Only afterwards was a prehistoric account of the term re-constructed, in order to legitimise and theoretically fortify its political meaning. Starting almost from the term's introduction, then, 'liberal' was used to refer to two things: a theoretical discourse and a specific political engagement.³³ From the outset it was a *concept* and a specific political *practice*. Its *condition* came with a broader political legitimation and institutionalisation of liberal ideas and

²⁹ Cooper, 2007, p. 606

³⁰ See: Cooper, 2007, p. 606; Chandler, 2004, p. 59; Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 145; Richmond, 2007, pp. 204 & 224

³¹ See: Doyle, 1983, Title

³² Doyle, 1983, p. 235

³³ See: Geuss, 2002, pp. 312-322

values. In the following subchapter I will introduce the liberal peace along the lines of its characterisation as 'concept, condition and practice'.³⁴

2.1.1 History and Ideology - Tracing a Concept

The *discourse* on liberal peace mainly draws its ideas from three different theoretical uses of the term liberal: first, from political philosophy; second, from the discipline of international relations; and last, from a particular understanding of economy. All three find their beginning in the Enlightenment. They are combined in Kant's theory on *Perpetual Peace*, which centres around a specific notion of the nature of human beings, as well as the social, political and economic system that is to be created in order to promote freedom and well-being.³⁵ Below, I will consider all three uses of the term. However, as "[t]heories are born in their own age"³⁶, any theoretical consideration of the ideas of liberalism has to equally take into account the historical driving force that brought them forth.

2.1.1.1 Peace – A History

Historically, Richmond points out, the theoretical roots of the liberal peace can be traced as far back as the late Middle Ages, culminating, as mentioned, in the Enlightenment.³⁷ They spring from demands for the secularisation of Christian power but readily transform into a debate, on how to contain the ambitions of conquest and the greed of rulers, in order to lessen the chance of interstate warfare, and at the same time prevent the chaos and horrors of civil war. In their first two phases, demands for the peace that was to become liberal, were thus driven by a deep unease with regards to both Papal as well as monarchic abuses of power. After that, the early stages of the Enlightenment led the thinking about peace onto two different roads. One was taken by the Revolution of the English bourgeoisie, which, while also discussing concepts such as welfare and

³⁴ Within the spatial and temporal scope of this thesis, this account cannot but remain a sketch. Especially a deeper and more intensive study of the historical and ideological precursors of present-day liberalism has to follow elsewhere. However, the account given here is regarded as sufficiently detailed to be of relevant use for the analysis to follow.

³⁵ See: Kersting, 1992, pp. 342-347

³⁶ Kende, 1989, p. 245

³⁷According to Richmond it is heavily built on the "philosophical and political debates that emerged from the writings of Hobbes, Macchiavelli, Abbe St. Pierre, Kant, Rousseau, Locke Paine, Penn, Cobden, Mill, Bentham, and Grotius" (Richmond, 2009, p. 559).

equality, mainly stressed the notion of peace as economic "utility and profitableness"³⁸, and introduced the idea that peace should be sought in the pursuit of protecting private property. The other road found its way to pre-revolutionary France, where "human rights and freedom were much more the 'raison' of their struggle than practical utility or usefulness"³⁹. Interestingly, both roads introduced the idea of a social contract that human beings, using their power of reason, in order to escape the dangers and threats of the state of nature. But their emphases were different. It was Immanuel Kant, who – as "a pragmatic synthesis of Hobbes' sense of political reality and Rousseau's ideal of justice"⁴⁰ – combined the two different strands in his treatise on *Perpetual Peace*, and with whom the Enlightenment reached its apex.⁴¹

2.1.1.2 The Dawn of Reason

The project of the Enlightenment, Geoffrey G. Harpham argues, was to reassemble the entire philosophical discourse into a public debate that is answerable to a truth not dictated by the church, the ruler or the nation. The entire cognitive process should be founded in reason, and reason alone. According to Kant⁴², for example, reason not only provides us with the forms necessary for objectively true judgements, but also entails the means through which ethical certainties can be gained. Putting both theoretical truth and ethical guidance down to reason brought with it a new importance for the reasonable and rational individual.⁴³ Arguments were brought forth to secure individual freedom, one of which was the idea of the original social contract.⁴⁴

The basic idea of social contract theories is that human beings are to be protected from the threat they pose to each other in the state of nature, through the formation of some sort of government. This government is legitimised by an original social contract, to which human beings agree thanks to reason. The social contract usually is presented as logical response to a

³⁸ Kende, 1989, p. 237

³⁹ Kende, 1989, p. 238

⁴⁰ Kersting, 1992, p. 359

⁴¹ See: Kende, 1989, pp. 234-240

⁴² It is to be mentioned at this point that considering Kant as part of the early liberalists is not an uncontested view. Geuss for example, regards only the "classical liberalism of Constant, Mill, and Tocqueville" (Geuss, 2002, p. 323) as the real liberal position (see: Geuss, 2002, pp. 322-323), whereas Michael W. Doyle clearly considers Kant as a precursor of liberal ideals (see: Doyle, 1983, pp. 206-212).

⁴³ This is shown for example by Kant's second categorical imperative to never treat a human being only as a means to an end, but always also as an end in itself. (See: Kant, 1999, p. 54-55)

⁴⁴ See: Haphram, 1994, pp. 531-539; Kant, 1956, B132-B169; Kant, 1999, pp. 319-412; Kersting, 1992, pp. 342-355

specific hypothesis on how human beings think and act in a lawless space – the state of nature. This state is imagined as violent, immoral and egoistic. Human beings in the state of nature are constantly subject to threat, insecurity and possible warfare. In order to prevent this hypothetical scenario, the social contract is to limit each individual's latitude of action, so that it can no longer interfere with the freedom of others. Consequently, the task of confining individual freedom is given to the ruler, the state, and its legal institutions.⁴⁵

However, conceptions of the state of nature, the arguments brought forth for the founding of a social contract, as well as the political system to be created, differ from theorist to theorist. Hobbes, for example, describes the state of nature as total anarchy, which entails the constant threat of violence "of every man, against every man"⁴⁶. Against the background of constant fear of death, reason therefore cannot but suggest the conclusion of a contract, which transfers both power and violence to a supreme ruler – the Leviathan – in order to contain individual passion and greed. According to Hobbes, the social contract, "once made, [...] is irrevocable"⁴⁷, no matter, which means of coercion are being applied by the ruler.⁴⁸

This notion is carried on by Kant in his arguing against resistance. However, Kant objects to Hobbes that the ruler should not be left unaccountable for any wrongdoing against his population. Instead, the latter has to be able to assume that it is protected from any harm done by the hands of the ruler. A state, therefore, has to base its founding principles on a republican civil constitution that secures freedom, equality and autonomy in interpersonal relations by imposing public rights and laws. Two things are important at this point. First, as Kersting writes, Kant does not intend the "community of right" to be "a community of solidarity among the needy but a community for self-protection among those who have the power to act"⁴⁹. Second, equality in this context only refers to juridical equality, leaving open the possibility of inequality with regard to both skills and possessions.⁵⁰

The protection of private property within the social contract is also advanced by John Locke, yet for different reasons. According to Locke, the state of nature is less anarchic than described by Hobbes. Social norms to respect the "life, health, liberty, and possessions"⁵¹ of

⁴⁵ See: Atterton, 1992, p. 59; Bahner, 1984; p. 6, Richmond, 2007, p. 222

⁴⁶ Hobbes, 1969, p. 188

⁴⁷ Bagby, 2002, p.74

⁴⁸ See: Hobbes, 1968, 183-201

⁴⁹ Kersting, 1992, p. 345

⁵⁰ See: Kant, 1992, pp. A232-A280; Kersting, 1992, pp. 345-354

⁵¹ Locke, 1980, p. 9

others already exist, and so does trade. Insecurity is only evoked with the development of inequality. Reason then leads to the formation a civil society and a government, with the intention to protect the "lives, liberties and *estates* [emphasis added]"⁵² of its citizens.⁵³ However, this government, unlike that envisioned by Hobbes and Kant, can be dissolved, should it no longer serve the preservation of self-interest.⁵⁴

Yet, however different the theories, they all introduced peace as a form of governance based on the original will of the people. Thus, from a philosophical perspective the heritage of Enlightenment lies in "ideals of political emancipation, universal rights, the autonomous subject, and the reign of reason"⁵⁵, politically unified through the social contract, as opposed to civil war or the arbitrary rule of monarchs. This idea of peace anchored in the hope that humankind will necessarily and constantly progress toward the better, if not the Good. As reason spreads, Kant argues in his essay on *Perpetual Peace*, more and more states will be founded on republican *constitutions*. Created thus, they will be less likely to go to war, and in the end form, if not a world republic, then a federation that will bind all states together under *international* law. Within this federation, the *cosmopolitan* right to hospitality is to guarantee prosperity through especially economic exchange among states.⁵⁶ While this subchapter focused more on the philosophical background that lead to Kant's introduction of republican constitutionalism, I shall now turn to liberal thoughts on both international relations and free trade.

2.1.1.3 Balance-of-Power versus International Law

Though discussed most prominently in the discipline of international relations, the distinction between an international arena dominated by balance-of-power politics and one being structured by cooperation and international law was already discussed during the Enlightenment.⁵⁷ However, with the development of international relations as a discipline, the two scenarios took hold within opposing schools of thought regarding the international sphere: realism and

⁵² Locke, 1980, p. 66

⁵³ See: Locke, 1980, pp. 8-9

⁵⁴ See: Bagby, 2002, p. 99; Locke, 1980, pp. 8-9 & 66; Macpherson, 1980, pp.xvi-xxi

⁵⁵ Harpham, 1994, p. 532

⁵⁶ See: Behnke, 2008, pp. 518-521; Kende, 1989, p. 240

⁵⁷ See: Kant, 1992, p. 313

liberalism.⁵⁸ Therefore, I will argue that, while realists draw on Hobbes' state of nature in order to describe the international sphere, liberalists draw on Locke's. Both have in common the consideration that the state is the most important entity in the international realm. Internationally, the state takes the place of the individual. And already the views of liberalism and realism beg only at securing its own interests, which revolve around gaining power. Unsurprisingly, cooperation and social norms are thought of as scarce and fragile. Like in the Hobbesian state of nature the threat of war is always present. The international sphere is characterised by anarchy and chaos, and the only way to prevent war from happening is to maintain a balance of power.⁵⁹

Conversely, liberalism regards this kind of politics as disrupted with the introduction of "liberal principles and institutions"⁶⁰. To liberalists, the international sphere is not adequately described by chaos and anarchy. As in the state of nature described by Locke, cooperation does happen, and so does trade. This, Andrew Moravcsik argues, is because, even in the realm of international relations, the individual, its freedom and interests never cease to be the primary point of reference. Hence, civil society does not only shape the process, through which the state of nature is left behind and a government is formed; it also influences the way international relations are structured. "[I]ndividuals and privately-constituted groups"⁶¹ of both domestic and international civil society try to secure their interests by steering governmental actions within as well as among states. As a consequence, the international sphere, too, leaves the state of nature in an "evolutionary social process"⁶² that increasingly protects private interests by institutionalising their fulfilment.⁶³

In short, the liberal road, if walked, will leave war and chaos behind, and – by securing individual freedom and interest through international cooperation, law and trade - lead to peace, progress and prosperity. What role, then, does trade play in all of this?

⁵⁸ The description of the realist and liberalist tradition in international relations here draws on an earlier exam paper by the author of this thesis, handed in on the ^{17th} October, 2011, at the Center for Peace Studies, University of Tromsø. (See therefor: Bänninger, 2011)

⁵⁹ See: Morgenthau, 1994, p. 34-38; Richmond, 2007, p. 212. This is, of course, a rather crude description of the realist tradition, which - with the changing of the international sphere -has itself undergone theoretical change in order to better explain phenomena such as international agreements or transnational institutions within a structure of international relations that is still best explained in realist terms. (See for example: Waltz, 2000, pp. 40-41)

⁶⁰ Doyle, 1983, p. 205

⁶¹ Moravcsik, 1992, p. 2 ⁶² Moravcsik, 1992, p. 9

⁶³ See: Doyle, 1992, pp.228-232; Moravcsik, 1992, pp. 8-9 & 36-38; Richmond, 2007, p. 212

2.1.1.4 The Economy of Peace

At its core, the economic aspect of the liberal peace lies in the assumption that states are less likely to engage in war, if they "trade a lot with each other"⁶⁴. To secure peace, economies ought to be without borders, and trade freely. As said, this idea is of British origin and was first introduced by William Penn. Later, Jeremy Bentham accentuated the economic utility of international laws that reduce the "sizes of armies and arms"⁶⁵, and promote the emancipation of the conquered colonies. John Stuart Mill, on the other hand, argues that free trade is necessary for the formation of peacefully regulated international relations. Politically, Mill's ideas were advanced by Richard Cobden, who is still mentioned in the context of economic post-war peacebuilding.⁶⁶ Yet, the perhaps most famous founding father of "[1]iberal economic theory"⁶⁷ is Adam Smith. According to Smith, trade is a natural affinity of human beings, and should be enhanced via a "system of natural liberty"⁶⁸ – the free market – based on the institution of private property and controlled but by individual owners, as opposed to the government. The market produces wealth through the division of labour, and is therefore best organised internationally, and free from any physical barriers or governmental restrictions. Consequently, an international economic order is dependent on "rules and institutions" that secure an "unimpeded circulation, across sovereign borders, of goods and money"69.70

This system matters to liberal peace theory, as it is placed within a specifically liberal conception of history, which resumes Kant's idea of humankind constantly progressing toward the better. According to this conception, progress is initiated by economic relations, of which liberal political institutions are only a consequence. Hence, "political liberalism is the product of economic liberalism"⁷¹. They are connected to one another, as private property is not only an economic principle, but also a right. It is this double character of private property that leads constitutionalism to apply the rule of law on both the economic and the political sphere. In other words, a free market is not enough to secure a peaceful order. Only when combined with the

⁶⁴ Weede, 2010, p. 206

⁶⁵ Kende, 1989, p. 240

⁶⁶ See: Kende, 1989, pp. 237-243; Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 234; Pugh, 2005, p. 24

⁶⁷ Doyle, 1983, p. 231

⁶⁸ Smith, 2005, p. 560

⁶⁹ Mandelbaum, 200, pp. 11-12

⁷⁰ See: Mandelbaum, 2002, pp. 37 & 11-12; Pugh, 2005, p. 24; Smith, 2005, pp. 18 & 491-560; Weede, 2010, pp. 206-207

⁷¹ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 234

spread of democratic institutions and increasing international regulations, does it fulfil the liberal promise of peace.⁷² Accordingly, the liberal peace cannot be reduced to democratic or capitalist peace; it integrates both political and economic liberal principles into a "particular kind"⁷³ of peace. It is to the condition of this peace I shall turn in the following subchapter.⁷⁴

2.1.2 A Beautiful Friendship – The Liberal Peace Condition

The term *liberal* has now been introduced, first, as a particular strand of philosophy that focuses on the importance of individual freedom, and the political institutions needed in order to guarantee it. Second, it was seen to stand for a theoretical lineage in international relations that objects to the realist balance-of-power by pointing toward the fact of cooperation, institutionalisation, the rule of law, and agreement in the international sphere. Last, it represents an economic theory that favours the free market, the pursuit of wealth, and the protection of private property. All three approaches promise to ensure peace, and each aspect of this threefold use of the term *liberal* is already represented in Kant's *Perpetual Peace*. Therefore, it is not surprising that the liberal peace condition does not exclude any aspect of it.

Only what used to be a republican constitution, a federation of states under international law, and the cosmopolitan right to hospitality in Kantian terms has been politically translated by Woodrow Wilson into what is today known as the "Wilsonian triad"⁷⁵. This triad describes a world shaped by democracy, international arms control, and a free-market economy. Though Wilson did not see his vision fulfilled in his own life-time, the end of the Cold War, as mentioned, does seem to leave the world with "no realistic alternative to liberalism"⁷⁶. From the ashes of realist balance-of-power politics rose one "set of principles binding all countries in the world, [...]. These are democracy, free markets, human rights, [...] peaceful behaviour toward other countries"⁷⁷, neoliberal "development, a vibrant civil society and multilaterism"^{78,79}

⁷² Thereby, those advocating less interference from the government in economic affairs are considered neoliberals. (See: Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 30) ⁷³ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 273

⁷⁴ See: Mandelbaum, 2002, pp. 30, 231-236, 265-271 & 295; Richmond, 2009, p. 559

⁷⁵ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 24

⁷⁶ Geuss, 2002, p. 320

⁷⁷ Purdy, in: Bishai, 2004, p. 64

⁷⁸ Richmond, 2006, p. 298

⁷⁹ See: Chandler, 2004, pp. 59-60; Doyle, 1983, p. 216; Mandelbaum, 2002, pp. 24-25

However, despite there being no prominent counter-ideology to liberalism, the liberal peace has not become politically universal. It is maintained among a specific group of states. This group carries different names, examples of which are the 'West', or the 'core' – with the United States being "the core of the core"⁸⁰. As all Western states embrace liberal principles, this geographically limited peace lead to the conclusion that "a separate peace exists among liberal states"^{81,82} Thereby, the "liberal family"⁸³ is regarded as fundamentally different, and distinct from the rest of the world. The introducing citation of Michael Doyle almost seems to suggest, that the morally progressing, economically prosperous liberals, who show no evidence of deeprooted conflicts of interest, are of a different quality than the rest of humankind. Clearly, this fundamentally different zone of peace needs to be expanded, in order for the rest of the world to have a shot at harvesting its fruits. Knowing, and living in peace, Richmond concludes, legitimates the transfer of the liberal peace to places that lack it. Facing zones of violent conflicts, the liberal peace becomes a mission.⁸⁴

2.1.3 "Clean and Clear"⁸⁵ – The Practice of Missions and Operations

Though the end of the Cold War did bring with it a triumphal procession of liberalism, history did not end. It witnessed a change in the nature of war. No longer fought between states, wars in most cases moved into society and became civil. Together, the victory of liberal ideas and the simultaneous increase of civil warfare gave rise to demands for the United Nations (UN) and other international organisations to intervene more directly and comprehensively in the affairs of states, whose societies were at war. Peace operations, Roland Paris and Timothy D. Sisk argue, were revolutionised. While traditional peace*keeping* – such as it took place in Angola or Cambodia – mainly consisted in providing "lightly armed military forces to monitor ceasefires or patrol neutral buffer zones between former combatants"⁸⁶, peace now encompassed transforming and restructuring an entire state, its society and economy. The liberal peace became

⁸⁰ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 7

⁸¹ Doyle, 1983, 232

⁸² Importantly, as Doyle points out, this does not mean that wars do not occur between liberal and illiberal states. (See: Doyle, 1983, p. 206)

⁸³ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 30

⁸⁴ See: Doyle, 1983, pp. 205-232; Rhodes, 2003, p. 140; Richmond, 2006, p. 298; Richmond, 2007, p. 219

⁸⁵ Oneal/Russet, 2001, Title

⁸⁶ Paris/Sisk, 2009, p. 4

peace*building*. During the 1990s, so-called peacebuilding missions not only expanded with regard to their scope, but they also became more extensive in temporal terms. In addition to post-conflict settings, peacebuilding started to engage into the phases of pre-conflict and conflict.⁸⁷ As a consequence, peace interventions came to be

complex forms of global coordination involving multileveled state-non-state agreements, and extensive division of labour between governments, UN agencies, NGOs, private companies, civil society groups and militaries⁸⁸.

Opposed to specific programs, such as "security sector reform, transitional justice or economic recovery"⁸⁹, peacebuilding unifies these programs together with

ceasefire monitoring, formalized peace negotiations, Disarmament Demobilization and Reintegration (DDR), [...] civil society capacity-building, post-peace accord elections, civil service reform, good-, marketization, and economic restructuring⁹⁰

into a highly standardised grand strategy.⁹¹

As it is usually the case with terms that aim at comprehensiveness, peacebuilding is not homogeneously defined. Accordingly, John Heathershaw, who agues that there are "multiple discourses of the liberal peace"⁹², proposes an analytical shift away from an unified conception of peacebuilding, and considers *peacebuildings* a more accurate term for the current state of affairs. However, there are certain aspects that can be generally ascribed to peacebuilding operations: first, its main actors are "leading states, international organizations and international financial institutions [IFIs]"⁹³, as well as a vast amount of Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs); second, it is said to be specifically designed to prevent the reoccurrence of violent conflict; and, third, it is approached with the idea of "peace-as-governance"⁹⁴. This latter notion of peace includes the building of state institutions – preferably liberal, democratic, and market-oriented – as well as the governance of civil society through the introduction of values that fortify the political system and that simultaneously regulate, control and protect the individuals living in it.

⁸⁷ This linear understanding of a conflict transgressing from 'pre-' via conflict to 'post-' is criticised by John Paul Lederach. Conflict, he argues, and the healing and reconciliation that are thought to follow it, cannot be thought of as subsequent phases. After a ceasefire, violence continues. The space of a conflict is "highly dynamic and unpredictable" (Lederach, 2010, p. 45). Thus, rather that moving in a linear pattern, violent conflict and processes of peace interweave circularly. (See: Lederach, 010, pp. 11-45)

⁸⁸ Duffield, 2007, p. 114

⁸⁹ Call/Cousens, 2008, p. 3

⁹⁰ Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 144

⁹¹ See: Call/Cousens, 2008, p. 3; Cortright, 2008, pp. 4-5; Duffield, 2007, pp. 115-116; Heathershaw, 2008, p. 597; Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 144; Paris/Sisk, 2009, pp. 1-7

⁹² Heathershaw, 2008, p. 603

⁹³ Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 144

⁹⁴ Richmond, 2007, p. 211

That is, as Richmond points out, no matter what specific focus peacebuilding has, its outcome mirrors the ideas of the "earliest political theorists in the Western tradition and the form of government required to create a durable peace"⁹⁵. In liberal terms, this means that a state either immersed in violent conflict, or threatened by its (re)occurrence is asked to make specific liberal transitions in the political, social and economic sphere.⁹⁶

Consequently, Richmond argues that the differences with regard to how peacebuilding is to be understood, are gradational and rather than being proof of multiple discourses, still operate within the framework and grand strategy of the liberal peace.⁹⁷ In fact, as I shall argue below, the voices outside the liberal discourse are not heard. Their bodies go hungry, and their subjectivity is denied.

2.2. Liberal Imperialism

The international system was therefore like a fixed price menu from which a diner could accept or reject different items. He or she could choose to skip the hors d'oeuvre, or the main course or the dessert – or go hungry altogether.⁹⁸

A liberal peace, resting on the Enlightenment's ideals of a governance based on human reason and ideas of constant progress, to be exported into the entire world, in order for the liberal peace

⁹⁵ Richmond, 2007, p. 211

⁹⁶ See: Heathershaw, 2008, p. 603; Mac Ginty, 2008, p. 144; Paris, 2002, pp. 637-638; Paris/Sisik, 2009, pp. 1-7; Richmond, 2007, p. 211

⁹⁷ With regard to the gradation of peacebuilding, Richmond differentiates between a hyper-conservative, a conservative, an orthodox, and an emancipatory model of peacebuilding. The first addresses military interventions, such as they have been conducted in Somalia, the Balkans, Afghanistan, and Iraq. The conservative model is less militarised, but still consists of top-down approaches, mainly led by the World Bank, the UN, and the US, whereby the building of peace is often approached via conditionality. While the orthodox model still also consists in top-down approaches, it is more aware of the importance of local ownership and hence equally advocates the bottom-up peacebuilding by NGOs. Last, the emancipatory model often criticises the coercive and conditional intervention of top-down approaches, and proposes an engagement that is more concerned with human needs and social justice. It is, according to Richmond, still liberal, as it claims the universality of liberal values, which are often dictated by donor countries (see: Richmond, 2007, p. 214-215). Similarly, Heathershaw distinguishes between state-building as being conservative, democratic peacebuilding as being orthodox, and supporting the development of a strong civil society as being emancipatory (see: Heathershaw, 2008, p. 604). On the other hand, Charles T. Call and Elisabeth M. Cousens propose the distinction among a maximalist, a minimalist and a moderate standard of peacebuilding (see: Call/Cousens, 2008, p. 7). Yet, Richmond argues that these different approaches are not distinct in interventionist practices. Often, they intertwine and one is thought to more or less linearly lead to the other - from the hyperconservative to the emancipatory – as a society progresses from conflict to peace. (See: Richmond, 2007, pp. 215-218)

⁹⁸ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 39

ever to expand: this is, in its essence, the above-described liberal heritage that the world is faced with today. It is a victorious heritage, as it has presently no serious opponent. However, as mentioned in the introduction to this chapter, the liberal peace has not remained uncriticised. Thereby two forms of criticism exist. One is operational, trying to improve peacebuilding techniques within the existing liberal framework.⁹⁹ The other is more fundamental. To it, Mandelbaum's casual reference to the 'fixed price menu' seems disquietingly pointing to something else than the unquestioned victory of the liberal model. It points to those who do in fact go hungry and the gap their absence leaves in the liberal conception of history. For, the liberal interpretation of world history, thus writes Rob B. J. Walker, comes with an embarrassing subtext regarding ethnocentrism, racism, colonialism, economic greed, etc.¹⁰⁰ It silences the measures imposed and wars fought by those in power – the core – in order to uphold the political and economic system as it is. By introducing the liberal system as naturally evolved – and therefore universal –, its imperial tendencies are generously overlooked; as is its increased interventionism and the way "cookie-cutter approaches"¹⁰¹ to peace silence the voices of the people concerned.¹⁰²

Another story is told on the margins of the liberal peace discourse, just as "[e]very order rests on a forgetting of the exclusion practices through which one set of meanings has been institutionalised and various other possibilities have been marginalised."¹⁰³ Following Shapiro's and Der Derian's advice, I shall, in this chapter, go to these margins of political thought, theory and practice, in order to make sense of the other side of the liberal track record.¹⁰⁴ I will do this by first looking at the above-mentioned subtext of the liberal peace history. Second, I shall focus on the imperial character of the liberal peace. Last, my attention is brought to a call from within the community of peace scholars to listen to and give voice to the 'local other'.

⁹⁹ See: Richmond, 2007, p. 211

¹⁰⁰ See: Walker, 1993, p. 28

¹⁰¹ Call/Cousens, 2008, p. 14

¹⁰² See: Barkawi/Laffey, 1999. pp. 407-420; Behnke, 2008, pp. 514 & 525-56; Bishai, 2004, pp. 48-65; Chandler, 2004, pp. 61-76; Crush, 2003, pp. 1-9; Duffield, 2007, pp. 112-131; Henkel/Stirrat, 2002, p. 182; Macpherson, 1965, pp. 38-45; Pugh, 2005, p. 15; Rhodes, 2002, pp. 132-139; Tilly, 1985, pp. 169-177

¹⁰³ Shapiro, 1989, p. 15

¹⁰⁴ See: Der Derian, 1989, pp. 4-7; Saphiro, 1989, pp. 13-15

2.2.1 The Other Side of History

A specific kind of pain, Harpham argues, comes along with the reason-seeking ideals of theEnlightenment. It is the pain of the private subject asked to submit itself to a truth not compatible with interest, pleasure or desire. The Enlightenment, he concludes, was hence not only about the protection of individual freedom. The ideas brought forth to secure individual freedom equally called to life a "statist, nationalist repression, administered society, [and] a disseminated subject"¹⁰⁵. Similarly, Andreas Behnke introduces Kant's *Perpetual Peace* as the death of the political, because the tranquillity it seeks is not of this world: It is transcendental. Life, Behnke continues, means conflict and antagonism. It means difference. In contrast to this, *Perpetual Peace* seeks a teleological progression to perfection unified in reason and peace. Yet, a peace based on this unifying vision necessarily has to become involved in a process of "ontological eradication of Difference and the operation of an ethno- and tempocentric epistemology"¹⁰⁶. A new¹⁰⁷ hierarchy of humankind is introduced, with the European subject being at the top.¹⁰⁸

Haphram and Behnke point toward two aspects of violence not mentioned in the liberal interpretation of history. The first looks at aspects of violence within the state-making process. The second lies in the way non-European cultures have been treated during the time of colonisation and beyond. As to the first, Charles Tilly offers an insightful introduction by pointing out the different levels and grades of violence used by those in power in the process of state formation. This process, Tilly argues, started long before ideas of a modern state were brought into being. Thus, "every European government before the French Revolution relied on indirect rule via local magnates"¹⁰⁹. Additionally, they allied with pirates, bandits and local power holders. An alliance, which blurred the distinction between legitimate and illegitimate violence, or rather, which regarded 'legitimate' as anything assisting those in power. Later then, power was monopolised by eliminating potential local rivals and creating police forces, following

¹⁰⁵ Harpham, 1994, p. 532

¹⁰⁶ Behnke, 2008. p. 513

¹⁰⁷ The hierarchy introduced by the Enlightenment is *new*, as every empire – Greek, Roman, Ottoman, Russian, and so on – has claimed to hold superior values or ways of living to the rest of humankind in order to justify its power. The main difference between liberal imperialism and the rule of ancient empires lies in the formers attempt at unification by the creation of one national subject, one nation, one religion, one way of living, etc. (See: Münkler, 2005)

¹⁰⁸ See: Behnke, 2008, pp. 514 & 525-56; Harpham, 1994, pp. 532-539

¹⁰⁹ Tilly, 1985, p. 174

the order of the government. The state-making process is hence not as noble as often portrayed, as the state's purpose was not necessarily to bring peace to its population. Rather, it was the result of a long process of pacification and co-optation, through which potential rivals to the sovereign were eliminated, and the latter's power, operating closely with the private economy and profiting from its trading business, was fortified.¹¹⁰

Accordingly, Tarak Barkawi and Mark Laffey argue that the liberal democracy is not, as often portrayed, a natural and timeless political formation. The liberal democracy is a product of industrialisation and the civic revolutions connected to the Enlightenment. With it, the newly evolved bourgeoisie and middle classes sought to institutionalise the protection of their economic advantage, concentrating around private property. The liberal democracy hence always entails a vertical differentiation along class lines, which delegitimises other forms of democratic organisation. Equally, Crawford Brough Machpherson calls the liberal democracy as a system of power, as it institutes rules upon the individual aimed at both transferring violence from the private to the public realm and upholding certain (power-)relations between individuals, groups and communities – such as classes. In sum, the violence of the sovereign was not merely instituted by the reason-lead will of the people; it also followed the logic of private interests held by those in power. As industrial power, and the need for resources grew, this logic, then, was imposed on the rest of the world, where early means for peacebuilding practices were tested in the form of counterinsurgency tactics.¹¹¹

Classical counterinsurgency took place within an imperial and state-centric setting. Applied in colonies, it was not confronted with questions of legitimacy or issues of sovereignty. Its aim was to lead the "colonial subject" towards "European levels of cultural enlightenment"¹¹². Where this project failed, the 'colonial subject' was to be left alone in his "gloriously isolated state of pre-modern savagery"¹¹³. Colonial warfare, Alex Marshall writes, was hence based on the positivist notion that all humanity is on a path of cultural evolution toward the Enlightenment. However, the tactics of counterinsurgency were often brutal, and not at all in line with the evolutionary process, they pursued. This gap between theory and practice eventually lead to the idea of "peaceful penetration"¹¹⁴. Insurgents were no longer to be pacified by violence, but

¹¹⁰ See: Tilly, 1985, pp. 169-177

¹¹¹ See: Barkawi/Laffey, 1999. pp. 407-409; Macpherson, 1965, pp. 38-45

¹¹² Marshall, 2010, p. 26

¹¹³ Ibid.

¹¹⁴ Marshall, 2010, p. 236

through the building of roads and schools as well as through the provision of medical, economic and governance assistance. Cultural progression was sought via economic wealth. It is this program of peaceful penetration that, according to Marshall, portrays an early form of the liberal peace practice. But even late-colonial practices were by no means peaceful. Still, the so-called savages were introduced as having an "unchanging, primitive, and almost childlike nature"¹¹⁵. Their status as politically, socially and culturally mature subjects was, thus, denied. Insurgencies, such as those in in British India were often knocked down violently, and exploitation as well as cultural dislocation and, most cruelly, slave tradeing marked the trail, colonial powers left behind.¹¹⁶

Accordingly, Roland Paris argues that peacebuilding is not merely a neutral technique. It is a normative "mission civilisatrice"¹¹⁷ that globalises and supports the mode of governance implemented in the West. Nevertheless, Paris relativizes the civilising mission of peacebuilding by arguing that, unlike colonial conquests, it does not aim at extracting resources from the countries intervened in. Nevertheless, however different from colonial practices, peacebuilding missions are still but the "latest chapter of the globalisation of the international society"¹¹⁸ that began with European overseas explorations in the 15th century.¹¹⁹ With this, Paris points to an important aspect of history that often gets lost in its telling. History is not, as usually interpreted by social or political scientists, the stringing together of sealed categories, where the period before and after a certain date – such as 1492, 1945, 1989 or 9/11 – cannot be considered as being of the same quality. Continuity is often the more permanent director of the world's play.¹²⁰ Seen this way, the condition and practices of the liberal peace are not only enqueued in historically grown practices of domination and subordination; questions have to be raised as to how they carry them on.

The hierarchy of humankind, for example, slips back into the liberal discourse, when Mandelbaum, compares international relations to a game of chess, in which "some pieces are more valuable than others, with the king having the highest value of all."¹²¹ In this game, cultural innovation can only take place in the core. With the rise of the West, the periphery is still made to

¹¹⁵ Marshall, 2010, p. 238

¹¹⁶ See: Marshall, 2010, pp. 235-242; Paris, 2002, p. 651

¹¹⁷ Paris, 2002, p. 637

¹¹⁸ Paris, 2002 p. 654

¹¹⁹ See: Paris, 2002, pp. 651-655

¹²⁰ See: Duyvesteyn, 2007, pp. 51-52; Gerschenkorn, 1962, p. 195; Richmond, 2007, p. 225

¹²¹ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 182

import civilisation, as it was during colonial times, when "India [...] supplied new words bungalow, maharajah, thug - and unfamiliar food - curries - to the metropolis", while England brought it "the English language, modern government and the railroad"¹²². Thankfully, too, this party of chess shields "peaceful, prosperous Europe" from the disorders of "impoverished, chaotic Africa [...] [with] a large body of water¹²³.¹²⁴

Another example of historical continuity is found by looking at Haiti. Ever since its independence from France in 1804, Noam Chomsky argues, it has been subject to breaches of its sovereignty led by the US. Being the first country to free itself from colonisation, Haiti was to pay a bitter price. Not only was it refused recognition by the US until it provided a convenient export destination for the increasing number of freed slaves in 1862; it was also faced with huge indemnity demands by France as punishment for its won independence. Despite its economic damages, international society still regards the imposition of this indemnity as a just measure. So just, in fact, that Jean-Bertrand Aristide was overthrown with the assistance of both France and the US after having asked France for compensation. This intervention was not the first and, according to Chomsky, not the most extreme. This latter title he reserves for the 1915 invasion lead by Wilson in order to pave the floor for US corporations to 'unselfishly' and 'fatherly' take over the country – as it was written in the New York Times. Interventions continued, such as the plan of USAID and the World Bank to save Haiti from its social and economic horrors through neoliberal reforms at the time Ronald Reagan was in office, or the 2004 peace mission.¹²⁵ Yet it is the invasion by Wilson, the political father of the liberal condition, which strikes a chord here. How does the killing of thousands of Haitians – according to a Haitian historian, 15,000 – and the reintroduction of virtual slavery add up to the actions of a peace visionary?

Aside from the bipolar conflict between East and West, the liberal core, thus Barkawi and Laffey conclude, has been fighting another in conflict along the other two cardinal directions. However, the conflict between North and South is not overt. Its language follows a different logic. It is articulated through arguments of justice, law, the necessity of order and moral obligation. It speaks of just wars and responsibilities to protect, but it is nonetheless imperial, and

¹²² Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 61

¹²³ Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 198

 ¹²⁴ See: Mandelbaum, 2002, pp. 61 & 198
 ¹²⁵ See: Chomsky, 2010, pp. 7-12

has since the end of colonisation never legitimised intervention as much as it does today.¹²⁶ It, too, already has a name. It is called liberal imperialism and to it I will now turn.

2.2.2 The Path to Empire

Most critiques on the imperial nature of liberalism concern the "unilateral, even domineering actions"¹²⁷ of the US. Especially interventionist practices after 9/11 mark a shift in international peacebuilding engagement. According to Richmond, a move can be recognised towards conservative peacebuilding models, which seek to implement liberal policies more aggressively than before.¹²⁸ According to Linda Bishai, this has to do with the US seeing the legitimacy of its power threatened. She writes that power, "which loses its legitimacy tends to give way to violence in order to maintain control"¹²⁹. Additionally, she sees the global military dominance of the US as a clear marker of imperialism. Less clear is the characterisation of the 'US empire'. Unlike European imperialism, the imperialism of the US is often not regarded as destructive and subsuming. The American aim of spreading liberalism across the globe reinvents. That is, cultures and states are drawn into it voluntarily and transformed accordingly. Far from being imperial, the official story goes, what spreads globally is a network that does not coerce affiliation but attracts new members due to its moral and rational superiority. Of course, as Edward Rhodes writes, "[p]eace is a praiseworthy goal. Freedom and human rights are good"¹³⁰. However, much of the legitimacy ascribed to the liberal model is rhetoric. The liberal network does not happen by itself. It is created, among other things, through the military power of the US, which is hegemonic, unilateral, globally applied, and aggressively used. Hence, what might seem to the US as passive enjoyment of the "fruits of a globally desirable model of political freedom and capitalist production"¹³¹ is actually something coercive and violent.¹³²

Still, the tendency toward imperialism does not only refer to the present actions of the USlead Western alliance. It lies, Bishai argues, within liberal theory itself. More specifically, it

¹²⁶ See: Barkawi/Laffey, 1994, p. 418; Richmond, 2007, p. 221. However, the North-South conflict still relies on the use of force. Yet, rather than making use of their own militaries, powerful states became engaged in "raising troops from foreign, client populations" (Barkawi/Laffey, 1994, p. 410). (See: Ibid.)

¹²⁷ Bishai, 2004, 48

¹²⁸ See: Richmond, 2007, p. 221

¹²⁹ Bishai, 2004, p. 62

¹³⁰ Rhodes, 2002, p. 138

¹³¹ Bishai, 2004, pp. 50-51

¹³² See: Bishai, 2004, pp. 48-62; Rhodes, 2002, pp. 132-139

springs from the wish that a moral certainty is found in individual freedom and equality, which is so fundamentally rational that it cannot but be universally desirable and globally applicable. It is this certainty, without any trace of scepticism that holds the danger of illiberalism and eventually leads to imperialism. This point is important, as it shows that the illiberal and ultimately imperial danger of liberalism does not lay in one single aspect of the liberal peace, it pervades all of it: concept, condition and practice. This fact is very well captured by Jedediah Purdy, who writes,

First, there is one set of principles binding all countries in the world, whether their governments acknowledge or ignore them. These are democracy, free markets, human rights, and peaceful behaviour toward other countries. Second, we embody these principles, and we have the last word as to what they mean and where they have been grievously violated. Third, we will enforce these principles with our unparalleled military strength and will not permit competitors to arise and challenge our supreme position. In us, and only in us, power and righteousness coincide.¹³³

Clearly then, then, the liberal project treads the "path to Empire"¹³⁴. The globe is not structured along the political, economic and social lines of liberalism due to a voluntary network, but as a result of power impalances. In its most benign form, this power manifests in the fact that states do not have any other option than to sign onto the liberal project in order to survive. The American empire might not rest upon territorial conquest and control, but it permeates deep into individuals' lives, and it does so consciously.¹³⁵

This is made clear by Robert Cooper, who describes the liberal condition as postmodern. To him, the postmodern era is characterised by, first, a diffusion between domestic and foreign issues; second, the refusal to use violent means for dispute resolution; third, an increasing irrelevance of borders; fourth the pursuit of security through transparency; and fifth, the awareness of mutual interdependency and vulnerability. Yet, threats face the free and postmodern world, both from classical modern states – such as China or India –, and from 'pre-modern' or 'failed' states. Old-fashioned in nature, these illiberal states need other, rougher measures to keep them in check. Especially the "pre-modern chaos"¹³⁶ would be best handled by the means of a new colonisation. But, as no state wants to take on such a *responsibility* – it is the regrettable end of colonisation, which in fact brought forth the present chaos in the first place – a new kind of imperialism is called for. The character of this new imperialism, Cooper notes, is twofold. First, it is voluntary and acts via the global economy and its main regulators: the IMF and the World

¹³³ Purdy, in: Bishai, 2004, p. 64

¹³⁴ Bishai, 2004, p. 54

¹³⁵ See: Bishai, 2004, pp. 51-65

¹³⁶ Cooper, 2002, p. 2

Bank, both of which assist states who wish to find their way back to the prosperous trail of the global market. Second, it is neighbourly, as military assistance, as well as "police, judges, prison officers, central bankers, and others"¹³⁷, are provided with friendly intentions to a state recovering from 'failure'. Neighbours organise and monitor elections, just as they train local polices forces. As cooper applies the concept of neighbourhood to the entire world, his vision of a cooperative empire will ultimately have to be global.¹³⁸

Cooper's article is multi-layered and diffuse. It points toward the superiority of the postmodern condition, while at the same time presenting it as threatened by those who have not yet reached its developmental stage. In other words, arguments of moral authority mix with the analysis of potential threats. Perhaps this diffuseness is due to the need of rhetoric to bridge the paradox liberalism has brought itself into by pursuing liberal moral ends through illiberal means. However diffuse, the 'fixed price menu' is nonetheless clear: "Not learning English means giving up certain kinds of ambition. Not adopting liberal trade rules means missing entire streams of the global economy."¹³⁹ Not making the right choices for a people means facing sanctions, if not intervention.

In the following section I will consider different levels, on which the liberal empire is maintained and expanded, without aiming at presenting a full and comprehensive picture. I shall, first, provide insights into global economic and political structures so as to, second, show how they are used to legitimise certain international behaviours, and, third, illustrate how they influence the way peace projects are planned and implemented.

2.2.2.1 The Fixed Price Menu

Many "choices made for war-torn societies" Michael Pugh argues, "serve to maintain wealth imbalances"¹⁴⁰, as they are. The institutional prioritisation of those, who have attained and safeguard economic power, both intra- and inter-nationally, illustrates another aspect of continuity within the advancement of liberal ideals throughout history. Whereas democracy as such is not an unworthy goal – as liberal democracies do somehow mediate the will of the population – it nonetheless expresses the institutionalised will that private property be protected.

¹³⁷ Cooper, 2002, p. 4

¹³⁸ See: Cooper, 2002, pp. 1-4

¹³⁹ Bishai, 2004, p. 51

¹⁴⁰ Pugh, 2005, p. 15

Democracies therefore perpetuate both the division of society along class lines, as well as the "capitalist socio-economic order"¹⁴¹ as such. Liberal spaces, Barkawi and Laffey argue, are created to fortify the international, capitalist power of certain states and groups through geo-strategic, political and economic means – which mostly relinquish the use of direct force. In this context, the Western states can be regarded as *one*

Western state – 'a massive, institutionally complex and messy agglomeration of state power centred on North America, Western Europe, Japan and Australasia. This [ultra-imperialist military economic order] [...] preceded and made possible the internationalization of capital, the interpretation of the major capitalist economies and processes of transnational class formation¹⁴².¹⁴³

Importantly, this interpretation does not separate economic from political concerns. Economic affairs are not, as often presented, a natural and value-free pursuit of *homo economicus*, thought to portray a rationally calculating and inherently capitalistic, entrepreneurial self. Economy is heavily entangled with politics, which channels economic action in a deeply imbalanced way. How then, does peacebuilding fit into this?

As part of the 'capitalist, socio-economic order', peacebuilding does not exclusively follow the humanitarian ambition of preventing violence from reoccurring. The liberal peace, Pugh argues, is a "fluid response to the logic of industrial and post-industrial capitalism"¹⁴⁴; perpetuated by the economic dimension of peacebuilding, i.e. market liberalisation. Measures undertaken as part of the economic dimension of peacebuilding are privatisation and a reduction of – or rather a change in – the state's role, both of which are to support the quest for private gain. Underlying these measures is the hope that privatisation leads to foreign investment, increased production and export relations.¹⁴⁵ The two most influential actors promoting liberal economic reforms in the context of peacebuilding operations are the World Bank and the IMF¹⁴⁶. Typically, Mandelbaum writes, reforms follow a conditional loan issued by the IMF. These conditions are often disadvantageous to the population of the loan-receiving country, initiating a phase of

¹⁴¹ Barkawi/Laffey, p. 408

¹⁴² Barkawi/Laffey, p. 420

¹⁴³ See: Barkawi/Laffey, pp. 408 & 419-420; Pugh, 2005, p. 15

¹⁴⁴ Pugh, 2005, p. 24

¹⁴⁵ See: Pugh, 2005, p. 14

¹⁴⁶ Mandelbaum actually calls the IMF the "Vatican of free-market economies, but more powerful than the Bishop of Rome" (Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 36).

intense and prolonged economic austerity. As a consequence of market liberalisation, public and collective spaces as well as the success rates of local economic initiatives often diminish.¹⁴⁷

Even the introduction of the United Nation's Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) made no change with regards to this matter. In Kosovo, for example, economic reconstruction initiatives have often stated the necessity of social justice, poverty reduction and the enhancement of public services, in order for the national economy to succeed. In 2002-2003, however, the IMF simultaneously advised "curbs on spending, [...] control on wages, social welfare, public sector reforms and compensation for workers thrown out of work by privatisation"¹⁴⁸. Hence, several problematic issues remain unaddressed by MDGs. First, structural violence,¹⁴⁹ which springs from the so-called 'zone of peace' - the West - and is perpetuated through policies that discriminate against local communities, denying them any options in economic innovation, is continuously ignored. Core capitalist economies do not liberalise their markets; they protect them. Equally, they favour donor goods and foreign expertise over local production and employment. At the same time, they put pressure on foreign economies so as to reduce state welfare. Second, MDGs-inspired programs still think of the poor and those in situations of violent conflict as failing in their entrepreneurial nature. To this failure, then, one therapeutic solution is presented, to boost the economy of post-conflict or developing societies, no matter if the society in question resides in East Timor or in Haiti. Last, Pugh argues, that the reduction of public goods still remains "the order of the day"¹⁵⁰ and even programs with emancipatory aims follow the logic of a discourse that favours capitalist interests for the pursuit of a 'good life'. Therefore, Pugh concludes, "economic wisdom resides with the powerful. Political inequality leaves many with no control over the major decisions that affect their lives"¹⁵¹. This is not to change soon, as IFIs take an increasingly active role in peace processes.¹⁵²

In sum, it can be argued that the liberal peace, and especially liberal peacebuilding assists in upholding the present 'capitalist socio-economic order', which is founded on inequality. At this point, I would like to stress that this is often done unintentionally. Many professionals active

¹⁴⁷ See: Mandelbaum, 2002, p. 36; Pugh, 2005, p. 15

¹⁴⁸ Pugh, 2005, p. 16

¹⁴⁹ The phrase 'structural violence' refers to "patterns of relations between the segments of society" (Graf/Kramer/Nicolescou, 2007, p. 132) that uphold an asymmetry of power and violate the fulfilment of basic human needs. Therefore it is very much connected to discrimination and exploitation. (See: Ibid.)

¹⁵⁰ Pugh, 2005, p. 22

¹⁵¹ Pugh, 2005, p. 25

¹⁵² See: Pugh, 2005, pp. 15-25

in peacebuilding hold commendable goals, and their wish to assist the development or peace process of a society is genuine. Yet, being embedded in the international system as it is today, peacebuilding is subject to a discourse and its politics, both of which serve to legitimise and preserve the existing power and wealth distribution. The necessity of economic liberalisation in the pursuit of economic growth is only one aspect of this discourse, although a quite significant one. However, to put this liberalisation into practice, peace operations need some kind of moral justification. Therefor, one source for legitimisation is found in the concepts of human security and the responsibility to protect (R2P).

2.2.2.2 A Responsibility to Protect?

By placing the safety of the individual at the centre of international security calculations, the concept of human security combines threat analyses with ideas concerning the nature of human beings – as entrepreneurial selves, striving for self-management and self-reliance. This is why, threats are not only thought to be present in violent conflict. Equally, underdevelopment is thought to engender alienation, breakdown, and insurgency. The concept of human security is often presented as stemming from an increased humanism in international relations, and portraying an enlightened way of integrating individual life into international security affairs. The concept of human security is thus "liberal [and] people-centred"¹⁵³. It brings with it a shift in moral considerations concerning interstate relations.¹⁵⁴

This shift is perhaps most significantly portrayed in the United Nations R2P Report, which was produced by the International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty (ICISS). It was introduced as a response to the horrors of the mass atrocities committed in Cambodia, Rwanda, Bosnia, Somalia, etc., to which the international community failed to respond. Criticising this failure to act, it argues for a cosmopolitan responsibility to protect every citizen from mass atrocities, genocide, ethnic cleansing and crimes against humanity. Thus, R2P does not merely focus on military intervention. It equally stresses the responsibility to *prevent* violent conflict, and *rebuild* states, economies and societies in the conflict's aftermath.¹⁵⁵

¹⁵³ Duffield, 2007, p 115

¹⁵⁴ See: Duffield, 2007, pp.112-131

¹⁵⁵ It therefore corresponds to the expansion of peacebuilding, which now addresses pre-conflict, conflict, and post-conflict situations.

Intervention-measures therefore range from "diplomacy, political sanctions and incentives [to] economic sanctions"¹⁵⁶, etc. Military force is only to be used as a last resort.¹⁵⁷

According to Mark Duffield and David Chandler, there are several problems with this report. First and foremost, the security at stake in the concepts of human security and R2P is not that of the societies intervened in, but that of the West. America, the U.S. National Security Strategy wrote in 2002, is no longer threatened by conquest, but by states 'failing' into chaos and vicious cycles of religious violence. Second, the R2P report aims at a discursive shift in the international debate on intervention. The term humanitarian intervention is dropped in favour of the words *responsibility* and *protection*, which positively connote the use of force with its focus on the safety of the individual. Sovereignty is reframed as the responsibility a state has to protect its citizens. Last, R2P is presented as compatible with the UN, because an intervention based on an ethically sound analysis is not deprived of this morality only because an intervening power acts unilaterally.¹⁵⁸

The discursive shift is problematic, since it presents the interventionist use of force as morally good, and places the burden of justification regarding human rights' abuses on the state suspected of neglecting its responsibility to protect its citizens. Consequently, the moral inhibition for Western powers to intervene is at its lowest point since the end of colonisation. This suggests that morality and power do not exclude each other, as powerful actors of the international arena, such as the UN, the US or NATO actively steer the construction of what is considered morally right.¹⁵⁹ Further, in the context of the R2P debate, morality works to the

¹⁵⁶ Civic, 2010, p, 159

¹⁵⁷ See: Civic, 2010, pp. 155-159

¹⁵⁸ See: Chandler, 2004, pp. 61-76; Richmond, 2007, p. 306

¹⁵⁹ This becomes more evident when considering other attempts at discursive shifts. One of the latter concerns the role of NATO, which after the end of the Cold War actively engaged in reshaping its image and therefore displaying a constructivist approach to politics. Merje Kuus' article *Love, Peace and NATO: Imperial Subject-Making in Central Europe*, for example, follows NATO's change of self-representation from a military alliance to a peace movement advocating democracy, freedom and the values of Europe. NATO does this by banalising and glorifying its role, and by culturally increasing its presence so as to remake itself everyday. A connection between increasing possibilities for intervention and the expansion of militarisation via NATO, however, has yet to be researched. (See: Kuus, 2007, pp. 269-270; Rasmussen, 2001, pp. 307)

Another issue coming up, when discussing the relationship between morality and power is that of 'just war'. As Michael Walzer points out, the theory of just war was originally to serve those in power. In the Middle Ages, it provided a secular middle-ground between Christian arguments of absolute pacifism and the pushing for crusades. Only in the 20^{th} century, after the war in Vietnam, was the concept of just war as being just – such as was the case in Kosovo or Afghanistan, and would have been necessary in Rwanda in Walzer's view – does follow the morality-power interplay. This is for two reasons: First, the way a war is presented, depends on the creation of a narrative. This narrative is selective, often stressing the points in line with a just-war argument, leaving out those that are not.

advantage of those with power, as the intervening states are often immune to the accountability they demand from countries (in danger of) failing. Yet, power does not end here. Once an intervention is requested, it reaches all the way to planning and implementing projects meant to protect, prevent, or rebuild.¹⁶⁰

2.2.2.3 A Word on Planning¹⁶¹

Most literature on planning is found within the development discourse. The origins of planning theory, however, lie in the post-World War II euphoria of Western countries. There, the planning of cities, regions and nations was to be based on a scientific, value-free and rational basis, with the ambition to support the modernisation of both economy and politics. Cultural particularities were considered irrelevant. With the beginning of de-colonisation, this style of planning was taken over by both the British and French ex-colonies, with the same ambition to modernise. However, after having been met with increased criticism, the golden years of planning ended in 1968. Planners, it was argued by their critics, were too "technocratic, elitist, centralised, bureaucratic, pseudoscientific, hegemonic"¹⁶² etc. With its top-down and state-centred approach, planning was too "inflexible, unresponsive to the needs of the people and alien to local culture"¹⁶³. It thus hindered social change. Therefore, a new approach was called for that favoured bottom-up and people-centred projects. The goal was to enhance the participation of the local population, to respect the local culture and the needs of disadvantaged or marginalised groups, and to become less technocratic and modern-technology oriented.¹⁶⁴

In the war in the former Yugoslavia, for example, many Bosnian women put under the protection of UN soldiers were raped by their protectors, up to 40 times a day. Also, US bombing of the Kosovo intentionally targeted civilian infrastructure – including schools and hospitals – causing for example lasting impairment of health-care. Second, arguments favouring a 'just' military intervention – as Walzer would have in the case of Rwanda – might focus too intently on the acute crisis, while neglecting structural factures that abetted its outbreak such as a brutal history of colonisation, the external favouring of a certain group, etc. In other words, by advocating military intervention, the imperialistic tendencies of Western countries and their own influence on the outbreak of a certain crisis are ignored. (See: Ashford/Gottstein, 2000, p. 267; Walzer, 2002, p. 925-937)

¹⁶⁰ See: Chandler, 2004, pp. 61-76; Richmond, 2007, p. 306

¹⁶¹ Both the presentation of planning theories as well as the examples provided in this subchapter draw on earlier exam papers by the author of this thesis that were submitted in 2012 at the Center for Peace Studies, and at the Institutt for Sosiologi, Statsvitenskap og Samfunnsplanlegging, University of Tromsø. (See: Bänninger, 2012a and Bänninger 2012b)

¹⁶² Bishwapriya, 2005, p. 7

¹⁶³ Bishwapriya, 2005, p. 7

¹⁶⁴ See: Bishwapriya, 2005, pp. 4-7; Henkel/Stirrat, 2002, pp. 168-171

However, as Heiko Henkel and Roderick L. Stirrat argue, increased participation of the local population into the process of planning does not often lead to empowerment. Present structures of domination and power are still reproduced, even in bottom-up planning strategies. There are two reasons for this reproduction of power. First, by placing the marginalised, neglected, poor, etc. in the centre, structures of domination are neutralised, while binary opposites such as rich/poor, powerful/powerless, male/female and so forth are perpetuated. Second, empowerment is still framed in terms of the liberal project. What the participatory subject is to be empowered for, is the ability to partake in the

great project of the modern as citizens of the institutions of the modern state; as consumers in the increasingly global market; as responsible patients in the health system; as rational farmers increasing GNP; as participants in the labour market and so on¹⁶⁵.

Henkel and Stirrat conclude that the currency "in which [...] power is given, is that of the project of modernity"^{166,167}.

Not only that, Jonathan Crush argues that the language of development also incorporates the style used by colonising powers. Just like the project of making Africa civilised by forcefully rewriting it into a "civilised, ordered, white, male English landscape"¹⁶⁸, development holds the power to change old worlds and invent new ones. Its jargon thus depends very much on a specific style – for example that of expertise, crisis, disintegration, etc. –, used to promote, licence or justify some interventionist practices while discrediting others. The jargon of development, Crush concludes, speaks in the language of power. Power decides, which knowledge is to matter in development planning. Just as all Western words are situated in an imperial world, in which the West still "shows the rest of the world the image of its won future"¹⁶⁹.¹⁷⁰

To take Sri Lanka as an example: On 26 December 2004, the day the tsunami hit, the town of Batticola were involved in an active network of women who were facing the on-going civil war by engaging in both rehabilitation and reconciliation. After the tsunami, this network was restructured in order to address the immediate needs of tsunami-affected families and communities. It organised food-distribution, or assisted widowers who had children, but little

¹⁶⁵ Henkel/Stirrat, 2002, p. 182

¹⁶⁶ Henkel/Stirrat, 2002, p. 182

¹⁶⁷ See: Henkel/Stirrat, 2002, pp. 170-182; Waston, 2003, p. 398

¹⁶⁸ Crush, 2003, p. 2

¹⁶⁹ Crush, 2003, p.9

¹⁷⁰ See: Crush, 2003, pp. 1-9

knowledge as to how to care for them. This changed the day international relief workers arrived. Local initiatives were disregarded and pushed aside. As a local NGO worker expressed it, the international aid workers were "ex-military and things, and they came with a very rigid agenda, based on administrative elements, toolkits and logistics and their ability to get on the ground quickly and go"¹⁷¹. Western expertise, Kristin S. Scharffscher argues, was glorified, while community representatives lost access to humanitarian information. Without much ado, the local network distanced itself from the international intervention, and two worlds emerged. Though the local network of women still existed in 2008, it was weakened and not strengthened by the international relief operation.¹⁷²

A similar example is found in the first DDR programme in Afghanistan, which took place in the period 2003-2005. As said, the UN-led DDR programs have gained widespread acceptance as a component of post-conflict peacebuilding. Its main goal lies in the reintroduction of former combatants into civilian life, through which armed groups are to be dismantled and war is to be prevented from reoccurring. This process, Robert Muggah argues, usually does not happen by itself, but is part of an attempt to secure the "legitimate control of force from above"¹⁷³. In Afghanistan, the DDR program was part of an integrated peace mission. Perhaps this initial position aggravated the implementation of the program. Due to the unwelcome Taliban rule, Afghanistan was declared a failed state. The Taliban were not recognised as legitimate conflict party, and their collapse was declared as year zero, starting from which the society, politics and economy of the country could be built anew.¹⁷⁴ In this context, the first DDR program in Afghanistan was intended to promote the "surrender of weapons, sever links between AMF¹⁷⁵ commanders and combatants, and reintegrate ex-fighters into meaningful employment or a newly reconstituted security sector"¹⁷⁶. The program was limited to the Taliban-opposed Northern Alliance and held special offers for local commanders who could legalise their de facto power by being integrated into the military or by attaining government positions. In all three aspects of the program – that is, disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration – problems were

 ¹⁷¹ In: Scharffscher, 2011, p. 71
 ¹⁷² See: Scharffscher, 2011, pp. 63 & 69-77

 ¹⁷³ Muggah, 2008, p. 2
 ¹⁷⁴ See: Duffield, 2007, pp. 113-157

¹⁷⁵ AMF stands for Afghan Military Forces, the name given to the Afghan army established after the fall of the Taliban regime. The forces were formed mainly through the integration, and hence legalisation, of former Mujahedeen units, and thus reference to the AMF is often used to describe the former Northern Alliance formed against the Taliban. (See: Bhatia/Muggah, 2008, p. 129)

¹⁷⁶ Bhatia/Muggah, 2008, p. 130

found. Yet, according to Antonio Giustozzi, the main failure of the program lies in the insufficient evaluation of both the former combatants themselves and their social and economic background. Working with a standardised profile, combatants were thought of as young, uprooted, unemployed and frustrated males, ignoring the fact that many of them had never left their home, and sometimes even worked part-time despite their fighting activities. The problem of lacking a sound assessment also concerned the mafia-dominated realities of the Afghan market, and the need for social – and not merely economic – security. As a result, many of the former combatants could never really cut their ties from the military units controlled by warlords and local commanders.¹⁷⁷

2.2.3 A First Conclusion: Giving Voice to the Local-Local

The liberal peace, Richmond thus concludes, "has become an intervention in local discussions about peace, often replacing them entirely"¹⁷⁸. It privileges the Western way of thinking about and making of peace, which is, then, presented as objective and universal. However, as the case of Afghanistan illustrates, this highly standardised approach to peacebuilding often does not match the realities on the ground. It is, as said, like a 'peace from IKEA', in which the desired state of affairs can be *assembled the same way* no matter which context it is to be brought to. Problematically, too, the structural design for peace comes from a position of power. Only certain – third – parties are in the position to know, define and export peace to the ignorant who still live in a state of war. "Both acts of defining and constructing peace", Richmond concludes, "are therefore hegemonic acts"¹⁷⁹. Concealed behind the rhetoric of economic prosperity, morality, and right, they create "subtle forms of colonisation, interventionism and local depoliticisation"¹⁸⁰. It acts in the service of those in power, and simultaneously recreates orientalist notions such as 'us and them' or the other as past enemy and future ideal.¹⁸¹

Importantly, as has been shown above, the hegemonic, imperial or even colonial trend, of the liberal peace is not a result of a deformation of the otherwise pure and morally good liberal condition. It springs right from the liberal core, as the latter strives for the perpetuation of its

¹⁷⁷ See: Bhatia/Muggah, 2008, pp. 127, 130-132 & 140-146; Giustozzi, 2008, pp.172-175

¹⁷⁸ Richmond, 2009, p. 567

¹⁷⁹ Richmond, 2006, p. 307; See: Richmond, 2006, pp. 295-310

¹⁸⁰ Richmond, 2009, p. 565

¹⁸¹ See: Heathershaw, 2008, p. 603

economic wealth and political power. According to Richmond, the international community is not only complicit in the problem of starvation, but also perpetuates the current state of peace, and especially war. Again, I want to stress that "few peacebuilders are cynics and few would see themselves as representatives [...] of an imperial power"¹⁸².¹⁸³ However, being agents within the current international system, the peace peacebuilders strive for, cannot take hold on the ground. It remains, Richmond argues, superficial; a phantasm that is planted into a "soil without water, dependent on foreign resources and subject to uncertainty about the longevity of external commitment"¹⁸⁴. The peace built, remains virtual, and by declaring itself as virtuous, by attempting to spread the light of peace, it equally feeds the shades of war. Liberal peace, Richmond argues, always carries a trace of violence, just as violence always holds a seed of peace. Hence, "as peace spreads, it collapses. Peace becomes war and war becomes peace"¹⁸⁵.¹⁸⁶

There is, Richmond writes, only one way out of this problem. It leads to the deeper-thanlocal, to the "local-local"¹⁸⁷. There, peacebuilders can learn to give voice to the other. They can learn to care for and relate to the recipients of peacebuilding on an everyday level, where human beings meet each other as human beings. Empathy, respect, and recognition mark this new approach, and space is to be given to local ownership, self-government, and self-determination. Yet, Richmond does not fully break with the liberal tradition. He proposes a "liberal-local hybrid"¹⁸⁸ between the liberal peacebuilders and the recipient individuals, communities or social movements. This hybrid is to lead toward a post-liberal peace characterised by reconciliation, which takes into account the importance of the everyday.¹⁸⁹

However, this "knowledge of the local"¹⁹⁰ is not a recently discovered focus. As was shown in the chapter on planning, local emancipation and empowerment in the form of bottomup planning has been discussed ever since the 1970s. Nevertheless, peacebuilding practices have

¹⁸² Heathershaw, 2008, p. 603

¹⁸³ However, as Richmond points out, there are also those who are mainly concerned about their next posting and what this posting means to their career. In Dili, East Timor, and Bukavu, Democratic Republic of Congo, the peacebuilding personnel lives in high standard-housing behind fences and within fortresses, while the local population lives not only separate from them, but also in great poverty. Additionally, Richmond states that even though "much has been achieved in conflict zones by the agents of the peacebuilding consensus" (Richmond, 2007, p. 228) this achievement is not really significant as it has been measured by the peacebuilders' own frameworks and standards. (See: Richmond, 2007, pp. 204-205 & 228)

¹⁸⁴ Richmond, 2007, p. 205

¹⁸⁵ Richmond, 2007, p. 227

¹⁸⁶ See: Richmond, 2007, pp. 226-227

¹⁸⁷ Richmond, 2009, p. 566

¹⁸⁸ Richmond, 2009, p. 577

¹⁸⁹ See: Richmond, 2009, pp. 565-577

¹⁹⁰ Call/Cousens, 2008, p. 14

not been able to escape their own problematic history. In fact, it could be asked whether this new focus on the local-local – the 'real' local, so to speak – is not partaking in the construction of a new category, under which the people affected by violent conflict are, once again, placed by someone else. As Hirblinger and Simons note, the "local is nothing *out there* but is partly constituted as an object of knowledge"¹⁹¹, which homogenizes and essentialises highly complex and dynamic social environments. Further, the category of the true local is by no means value-free. Rather, it functions as selective aid in distinguishing the 'good local' – because true – from the 'bad local' already infiltrated by liberal practices. In other words, the notion of the 'local-local' produces yet another binary distinction between the pure and authentic, *indigenous* local, and the dominating, *Western* liberal. The latest critique on the liberal peace fails in its chance to reintroduce a long lost common ground: our humanity.¹⁹² Therefore, it is questionable weather a post-liberal, liberal-local hybrid will succeed in evading the present structure of power, domination, imperialism and at times neo-colonialism. As Richmond asked two years before he introduced his ideas on a post-liberal peace, "[h]ow does one emancipate without dominating, without ignoring difference, without knowing the mind of the other?"¹⁹³

How, indeed? There is a voice that might have an answer. A voice largely ignored in the current discourse on peace. A voice that invites us to go beyond, or before, the original contract, through which reason gives power to institutions, before peace is handed over to politics, law, and the economy. This voice argues that the history of peace, involving institutions called forth merely by truth and reason,

does not recognise itself in the millennia of fratricidal, political and bloody struggles of imperialism, of human hatred and exploitation, up to our century of world wars, genocide, the Holocaust, and terrorism; of unemployment, the continuing poverty of the Third world, of the pitiless doctrines and cruelties of fascism and National Socialism, up to the supreme paradox where the defence of the human and its rights is inverted into Stalinism.¹⁹⁴

The liberal peace is blind to its own violent ways and detours, as it has forgotten something essential: before the world can be possessed, before it can be understood and judged, it is given. Before becoming an issue of politics, law or the economy, peace is found in touch, in proximity, in the neighbour, and the responsibility I have for him. It is peace that makes the world arise, and meaning unfold. According to this voice, the voice of Lévinas, peace will thus not be found by

¹⁹¹ Hirblinger/Simons, 2014, p. 3

¹⁹² See: Hirblinger/Simons, 2014, pp. 1-8

¹⁹³ Richmond, 2007, p. 203

¹⁹⁴ Lévinas, 1996, p.163

critically reflecting on the failure of our powers of knowledge, hoping to ever improve political and institutional approaches to a peaceful society. On the contrary, Lévinas invites or rather forces us to a form of criticism invoked by guilt with regards to the very basic assumptions we hold, about what it means to live in this world as a human being or, more exactly, as a subject. Only within this latter critique can one gain a sense of what peace really is – just to then lose it again as soon as it enters the realm of our understanding. Lévinas calls for a critical movement leading us beyond our very condition, to where the possibility of knowledge arises.¹⁹⁵ It is to Lévinas, and the answer he received from Derrida, I shall now turn.

¹⁹⁵ Lévinas, TI, p. 113-117

3 Lévinas and Derrida – Irreducible Relations and Open Roads

"God is therefore implicated in war."¹⁹⁶ This sentence is perhaps the 'peaking nexus' at which the philosophical approaches of Lévinas and Derrida meet. Ultimately, their dialogue oscillates between a desire for purity, and a pragmatic acknowledgement that such purity might never be reached. What does this mean, then, when it comes to peace? In the present chapter, this question shall lead me, first, through the thought of Lévinas, and, second, through that of Derrida, so as to finally end in a critical approximation of the two.

3.1 Lévinas – A Peace Beyond the I

But over the hands that have touched things, places, trampled by beings, the things, the context in which those fragments enter, the inflexions of the voice and the words that are articulated in them, the ever sensible signs of language, the letters traced, the vestiges, the relics – over all things, beginning with the human face and skin, tenderness spreads.¹⁹⁷

Body before reason, sense and experience before thought, touch before sight, language as speech before language as thought, ethics before truth, and the Other before the Same¹⁹⁸: this is Lévinas' legacy to Western thought. A legacy that, "[1]ike a battering-ram"¹⁹⁹, attempts to break through Western tradition's very core by initiating a fundamental re-evaluation of concepts such as truth, thought, reason, knowledge,²⁰⁰ language, the subject and its freedom, etc. Yet, Lévinas' concern does not merely reside in epistemological matters. In connection with epistemology, he equally

¹⁹⁶ Derrida, 1978, p. 107

¹⁹⁷ Lévinas, 1987, p. 119

¹⁹⁸ In Lévinas approach the 'same' is used to illustrate a specific approach to identity and egoity. It describes an ego that is unaware of otherness and thus assimilates everything it meets to itself – that is, every other being is made part of the ego's identity and becomes the 'same'. As Lévinas writes, it "is because I am from the first the same – *me ipse*, an ipseity – that I can identify every object, every character trait, and every being" (Lévinas, 1986, p. 345). Whether the equation of identity and ipseity is justifiable, is not to be discussed here. (For an interesting comment on this, however, see: Derrida, 1978, pp. 109-110) When using the word 'same' in this sense, I shall write it with a capital S in order to avoid confusion with regard to the structure of the sentence in which the word is used. I am aware that in other literature, this is not usually done so.

¹⁹⁹ Lévinas, 1987, p. 122

²⁰⁰ In this thesis I will not elaborate in detail the differences and connections between concepts such as truth, knowledge, rationality, understanding, reason, etc. For the purposes of this thesis it suffices to understand that these concepts are very closely linked and relate to a wish, Western philosophy often holds that objective, and true knowledge can be found via the use of reason. Understanding, then, would have to be a process closely following rational principles.

asks for a new understanding of the social, and the institutions necessary to organise society in a peaceful manner. According to Lévinas, peace is not about my having a comfortable life. As long as there is an Other who is potentially exposed to suffering, there is no home for me in this world. Without return, I am for the Other. Forgetting this means being blind to the origin of the world, as we see it. It is, Lévinas argues, equivalent to giving in to violence, egoism, and imperialism. In the following three subchapters I will trace Lévinas' argument by introducing, first, his criticism of Western philosophy; second, the ensuing inversion – or "displacement"²⁰¹ – of its classical binary concepts; and third, my being ordered to infinite responsibility by the Other as a consequence of this inversion.

3.1.1 The Violence of Universality

Ever since Aristotle, Lévinas argues, occidental philosophy has founded itself within Being. Ontology was regarded as the first philosophy.²⁰² With its focus on Being and beings, it favours an approach to knowledge and theory that mediates understanding via a third, general, and hence neutral term – be it a concept, a sensation, or Being itself. This term identifies particular beings and unifies diversity. The problem here is that the term used is taken from within the Same. By being understood, a particular singular being is hence submitted to the Same. It loses its otherness, and thus its singularity. This is not to be thought of as some deliberate, vicious act of domination. It is merely the basic form of judgement in which something particular is placed under a more general term, in order to capture its essential character.²⁰³

Said otherwise, when I relate to the world, things appear to me. Yet this is already a working of my mind, which judges that which appears to me as being something, a thing. My mind unifies a certain whooshing sound, the colours green and brown, a roughness on my hand, etc. under a concept: tree. It also understands a tightening sensation in my chest, heat, a pounding heart, breathlessness, etc. as belonging to a given feeling: fear. The things that appear – my experiences – are taken to make sense within a net of meaning thrown onto the world by none other than myself. I do not perceive the world, I do not experience it; I understand it. "Being is

²⁰¹ Derrida, 1978, p. 88

²⁰² The title 'first philosophy' goes to the philosophical discipline, on which any other philosophical consideration is thought to have to base itself.

²⁰³ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 42-46; Lévinas, 1987, p. 110

manifested with a theme."²⁰⁴ In its arising it is already always understood as something. In fact, it arises because it is understood. By being thematised, Lévinas argues, Being – the world, as we see it – is created. "Ontology as first philosophy"²⁰⁵, is an *egology*. The things that arise have to adapt to *me*.²⁰⁶

This scenario grants reason the privilege of being primary to all else. In its light things appear as if without origin, as if their origin lay in reason itself. Consequently, objectivity – the subsumption of diversity under a general concept provided by the Same – seems necessary in order for the subject to be able to relate to another being. Relation comes second to judgement. With regards to things, this has, as mentioned, the effect of assimilating something other to the Same. In the context of a relation with another human being, however, the priority of reason degrades communication to a mere effect of thought, to a "subsidiary function"²⁰⁷ of the judging mind. Understood this way, language does not gain its meaning from speech, from the fact that something is said to someone. Rather, language "belongs to the very work of truth"²⁰⁸. It is "kerygmatic"²⁰⁹. The world is first proclaimed by me; and by being so it is taken.²¹⁰

As a consequence, freedom is being understood as the subject's being in a world without obstacles. In the realm of Being, the understanding subject is free. There is no otherness to stand in its way, nothing that cannot be grasped, and no place on Earth that withstands assimilation. Such and interpretation of freedom, Lévinas argues, serves to secure a "permanence in the [S]ame"²¹¹. He writes,

That reason in the last analysis would be the manifestation of a freedom, neutralizing the other and encompassing him, can come as no surprise once it was laid down that sovereign reason knows only itself, that nothing other limits it. The neutralization of the other who becomes a theme or an object – appearing, that is, taking its place in the light – is precisely his reduction to the [S]ame. To know ontologically is to surprise in an existent [i.e. a particular being] [...] that by which it is not this existent, this stranger, that by which it is somehow betrayed, surrenders, is given in the horizon in which it loses itself and appears, lays itself open to grasp, becomes a concept^{212,213}

²⁰⁴ Lévinas, 1987, p. 109

²⁰⁵ Lévinas, 1969, p. 46

²⁰⁶ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 42-44; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 109-114

²⁰⁷ Lévinas, 1987, p. 109

²⁰⁸ Lévinas, 1987, p. 115

²⁰⁹ Lévinas, 1987, p. 112

²¹⁰ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 43-44 & 90; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 109-115; Lévinas, 1998, p. 29

²¹¹ Lévinas, 1969, p, 42

²¹² Lévinas, 1969, p. 43-44

²¹³ See: Lévinas, 1969, p. 42-45; Lévinas, 1998, p. 28

In sum, declaring ontology as first philosophy takes the most fundamental mode of being in the world to be the one that secures the primacy of the Same. Its heirs are the Greek, and, like in the tale of Odysseus, it always allows the Same to return home. As can be seen in the quote above, this 'permanence in the same' is upheld by an alliance between the Same and some sort of totality, which gathers singularities under a more general term.²¹⁴

This alliance has a purpose. By taking Edmund Husserl's phenomenology as an example, Lévinas describes true knowledge as concerned with the original presence of beings. A presence that is thought to be found either in their "identity as beings"²¹⁵, or in their Being. In this difference with regards to the original presence of beings, however, lies a deep unease that follows philosophy almost from its very beginning. It signifies that, by becoming phenomena – by appearing in the frame of a theme – beings might arise separately from their Being, and reason might thus not reach that which actually exists outside itself. There is a danger that Being as such is never reached. Misapprehension – the failure to grasp another being – is thus a constant threat of rationality.²¹⁶

To find ease in spite of this threat, and to legitimise rationality, despite its failures and its relativity, occidental philosophy had to come up with something greater than the subjective mind: a reason not bound to a particular person. Hegel called it 'impersonal reason'. Impersonal insofar as personhood was only gained by an individual who let her reason become universal. Within such an approach, individual thought does not matter. Everything converges to become part of one single totality. This manifests itself materially in one objective historical stream, in which the individual is known only externally, by the dates of its birth and death. Individual freedom is then only a "reflection of an universal order which maintains itself and justifies itself all by itself"²¹⁷. Reference to impersonal reason, Lévinas argues, is always given when the Same does not hold its ground vis-à-vis another being. When confronted with its own failure, reason flees to the totality of a higher generality, which substitutes "ideas for persons [...] [and] [e]xistents are reduced to the neuter state of the idea, Being, the concept"²¹⁸. Lévinas thus suggests that, even if the universality of impersonal reason subsumes individuality, it is still working to the advantage of

²¹⁴ See: Lèvinas, 1986, p. 348

²¹⁵ Lévinas, 1998, p. 15

²¹⁶ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 85-93; Lévinas, 1998, p. 15

²¹⁷ Lévinas, 1969, p. 87

²¹⁸ Ibid.

the Same, as it follows the latter's movement of finding legitimation via a generalising totality.²¹⁹

It is the alliance with the universal that introduces the problem of violence into the realm of the Same. Violence, Lévinas writes, is

any action in which one acts as if one were alone to act; as if the rest of the universe were there only to *receive* the action; violence is consequently also any action which we endure without at every point collaborating in it²²⁰.

The first part of Lévinas' definition refers to the violent working of a subjective mind not yet aware of its own limitations. This mind is acting 'as if it were alone', by using its light to grasp, assimilate and possess things. The first part of the definition addresses my violence toward other beings. It thus seems only logical and fair to equally condemn as violent any harm done to me. Yet, to Lévinas, the primary problem of my violation does not lie in the limitation of my latitude through another singular being. By adding the second part of the definition, Lévinas does not intend to leave or somehow modify the dominion of the Same. He wants to stress the danger of any order in which the individual is counted less than the totality by which it is held – even though this order was instituted so as to secure 'permanence in the Same'. This is the case, when personhood is gained only in reference to universal reason; when an individual life is only considered of importance due to the fact that it takes part in the objective stream of history; and when individuality is subjected to a social, economic and political order through which individual action is steered and controlled.²²¹

To conclude, violence accompanies both stages of the Same: that of subjective, yet uncritical, and that of impersonal reason. It permeates the entire realm of Being, as it is inherently part of an approach to the world in which singular beings gain relevance only as part of a higher generality. This can be a term; but it can also be the idea of impersonal reason, or the state. Hence, it could be said that, to Lévinas, the form of judgement and the order of the state are of the same violent structure, which strips individuals of their uniqueness by placing them under a greater *totality*. It is for this reason that he considers the degeneration of political power into forms of violence such as National Socialism, Stalinism, or even the starvation of the poor not as a radical break with truth and reason, but as their continuation. By approaching the world via the structure of totality, the realm of the Same becomes expansionist. It will not stop, as Behnke wrote, until all otherness has been made part of the Same; until every thing's final arrival in one

²¹⁹ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 21-22, 47, 55-60, 72 & 87-88; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 113-115

²²⁰ Lévinas, 1990, p. 6

²²¹ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 21-25, 44-47, 55-60, 72 & 87-88

single and universal totality is reached. The realm of the Same is imperialistic. The primacy of reason introduces the danger of totalitarianism. "Ontology as first philosophy is a philosophy of power."²²² However, as shall be seen, according to Lévinas, it is also blind.

3.1.2 At Home with the Same

Unlike occidental philosophy proclaims, reason is not the primary characteristic of the 'I'. According to Lévinas, I am first of all a body. Being so, I am separate, yet not independent. I have needs and live from things that lie outside myself. In this constellation I find pleasure and happiness. The fact that I have needs does not refrain me from being my own master and, in fact, master over the things from which I live – as, by being consumed, they become part of me. Despite my having needs, I am happy. Life is lovable. The misery of poverty and hunger are not inherently part of this constellation. They are only so because of a badly organised society.²²³

The ability to experience pleasure, Lévinas writes, refers to something that cannot be captured by universal history, which only deals with the date of my birth and death as well as my output in the time between those two events. This something is the dimension of interiority or psychism found in a being that sustains its own existence, and is thus no longer a participant in the totality of Being. It is atheist, in the sense that it is not part of God – i.e. of something that is infinitely and absolutely one. Separate, it places itself into the world "as the [S]ame and as I"²²⁴. It is at home. It does not need any justification for its doing. It is spontaneously free. In sum, I do not primarily participate in universality. I am not originally reason. As body, I initially break with totality and become unique, singular. Yet, by being so, I am lonely and my future is insecure. How can I know, whether my needs are going to be fulfilled tomorrow? Pleasure – the fulfilment of needs – is not simply given; it has to be worked for. This, Lévinas argues, is done by labour, which allows me to transform the world into property and, ultimately, postpone my own death. The property gained – that is, the world grasped – I store at my house, which functions as the extension of interiority. Thus, the "first movement of economy [in its etymological sense] is [...] egoist"²²⁵.²²⁶

²²² Lévinas, 1969, p. 46

²²³ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 110-117 & 163-168

²²⁴ Lévinas, 1969, p. 58

²²⁵ Lévinas, 1969, p. 157

²²⁶ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 90, 115-117, 142-151, 156-159 & 163

Nonetheless, this movement as such is not judged negatively by Lévinas, as any will could not be constituted without a separate individual concerned about her own survival. Were it otherwise, were the will springing forth from an impersonal, universal thinking – that is, from a totality comprising Being, and hence unconcerned about its own survival – how would this thinking learn to want? Why would it act? Were there no initial corporal separation, which led to economy and hence egoism, there would be no possibility of change, becoming, or time. As the latter do take place, human reason cannot exist outside a physical body. Without a separate, incarnated subject there would be neither the need, nor a search for truth. There would only be Being. Truth needs the 'I'. At the same time my body needs intentionality, in order to plan my own sustenance. Therefore, neither the separation of rationality and corporeity nor the hierarchical primacy of reason can be justified. Reason, Lévinas concludes, is always incarnated and subjective.²²⁷

Moreover, the fact that I am first of all a body implies that I perceive or experience beings before understanding them. As described above, understanding something as 'a tree' involves seeing colours, hearing certain sounds, smelling, touching etc. My senses are directly affected by the beings outside myself. It is only when the felt is separated from the feeling via a third general term that consciousness arises. Experience thus does not presuppose thought. It is the reverse.²²⁸ By being a body, I am first touched by things. I am close to beings in a way that does not strip them of their otherness.²²⁹ As Lévinas writes,

before turning into a cognition of the outsides of things, and during this very cognition, touch is pure approach and a proximity that is not reducible to the experience of proximity. [...] The visible caresses the eye. One sees and one hears like one touches. The proximity of things is poetry; in themselves the things are revealed before being approached.²³⁰

The befalling of touch is thus the only possibility for me to be close to other beings, precisely because I am separate from them. Touch allows for a relationship in which both I and the other

²²⁷ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 165-174

²²⁸ One could say that this is also argued by Kant, as he writes that time-wise the senses come before the understanding. (See: Kant, 1965, p. B1) Yet, Lévinas does not wish to make a temporary distinction, with regards to the primacy of the senses or the understanding. The question of primacy does not concern the time, in which either senses or the understanding are used in the process of cognition. Rather, he wishes to question the primary importance of the understanding, when opposed to the senses, saying that the senses might offer a proximity to things, the mind can never achieve. The senses are therefore misjudged when regarded as necessary, but lesser ability in the process of gaining true knowledge.

²²⁹ See: Lévinas, 1987, pp. 115-121

²³⁰ Lévinas, 1987, p. 118

being are left alone. In our relating to one another, we are not placed under a totality that comprises and judges the relation we hold. We remain absolute.²³¹

Yet, there is an anachronism between beings and their being understood, because the thought of something is never that particular something. To the latter, the former is always already past. Thus, as the fact of being cognised is not actually present in cognition itself, insecurity is, again, an inevitable consequence of understanding. By following the structure of judgement, the cognition of something as something "does not understand the object, but its meaning"²³² The origin of phenomena is thus part of another principle than that of the mind. The phenomenal world cannot reach its past. Accordingly, I myself can never know whether alleging things about the phenomenal world – the world that appears to me – is true or false.²³³

Despite being a necessary condition in the search for truth, separation thence also calls into life the constant possibility of misapprehension. Descartes' fear of a "malicious demon"²³⁴ that meddles with the appearing phenomena,²³⁵ cannot be escaped, despite the evidence of the cogito. To a limited mind – as is the incarnated human mind– scepticism is not a method; it is an ever-present, luring threat. The "universality of theoretical reason, which arose early in the 'Know thyself' in order to seek the entire universe in self-consciousness"²³⁶ has to be broken with. If done so, it might become even clearer that every thought about the world is, in fact, an appointing, a proclaiming, and hence a saying it. Cognition at its core is kerygmatic. However, thought as kerygma suggests there is someone receiving the kerygmatic proclamation. The saying is a *present*ation of the world, as I see it, to someone else. It is a *present*, an offering, leaving it up to somebody else to decide, or judge, whether my proclamation is a correct representation of the world. Anything said about the world thus has to be thought of as question I pose, and which only someone other can affirm. The sting of scepticism cannot be taken away but by the Other's act of saying yes to the world presented. Truth does not commence in thought. It begins in the spoken word.²³⁷

²³¹ See: Lévinas, 1969, p. 64

²³² Lévinas, 1987, p. 110

²³³ See: Lévinas, 1969, p. 64-65; Lévinas, 1987, p. 119-120

²³⁴ Descartes, 1986, p. 15

²³⁵ See: Descartes, 1986, p. 15

²³⁶ Lévinas, 1996, p. 163

²³⁷ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 47-48, 61-69, 85-86 & 90-100; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 112-116

Prior to all "understanding or misunderstanding"²³⁸ there is speech, language as communication, in which two absolute beings – in the sense that they are not participating "in a transparent universality"²³⁹ – share their view on the world without knowing each other's thoughts. Truth does not lie dormant, only to be awaken by a subjective mind's elevation to universality. It is a bargain between the Other and me. The relation from which it springs is not participative but plural. It is a face-to-face encounter in which both interlocutors retain their freedom to answer in an unexpected way. Rather than being impersonal, thinking is essentially interpersonal. It is a social incident, and evolves where two singularities are *in touch*.²⁴⁰ "[T]he locus of truth", Lévinas thus concludes, "is society"²⁴¹.²⁴² Universality, in this case does not support my "joyous possession of the world"²⁴³. Rather, objectivity – as interpersonally bargained truth – is gained by giving, which is to say by the abolishment of private property.

3.1.3 My Life for the Other

The Other is of course also placed in a particular social or cultural context. He does have a role that can be conceived. Perhaps the Other is the postman delivering my mail, a nanny, a teacher, a bank robber, a warlord, etc. Yet, within and in spite of this context, the Other is close to me because we *say* things to each other, regardless of what is being *said*. In proximity, the Other is immediately present, without the need for me to give meaning to him.²⁴⁴ Consequently, he does not take a place within Being. By speaking, he represents (by) himself. He shows his face and thus offers a glimpse of what he is behind his role and outside the realm of the Same. On a far deeper level than confirming the correctness of a specific signifier, the face of the Other hence affirms significance as such, and with it he breaks the disquiet of solipsism.²⁴⁵

²³⁸ Lévinas, 1987, p. 121

²³⁹ Lévinas, 1987, p. 115

²⁴⁰ Derrida calls this the "unthinkable truth of living experience" (Derrida, 1978, p. 90), a "wounding of language" (ibid.), a "rupture of logos [...], which opens speech and then makes possible every logos or every rationalism" (Derrida, 1978, p. 98). (See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 90-98)

²⁴¹ Lévinas, 1967, p. 101

²⁴² See: Lévinas, 1987, pp. 40 -6 72-79, 98-101 & 203-209

²⁴³ Lévinas, 1969, p. 76

²⁴⁴ The Other, in Lévinas' approach, is rather male-dominated (see: chapter 4.1). I shall thus refer to the Other as him, when writing about 'him' from Lévinas' perspective. I am aware however that this might seem a patriarchal style of writing, and that it would be preferable to refer to the Other as 'her' so as to include both sexes.

²⁴⁵ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 194-197; Lévinas, 1981, pp. 5-8; Lévinas, 1986, pp. 351-352; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 115-126

However, because the Other has a meaning of his own, I can never actually grasp who he is. To my mind, he is always already gone. This is why Lévinas writes that the time of the Other is that of an absolutely irrevocable past. If he appears, he does so to disappear, to only leave a trace. There is a mystery connected to him that I will never understand. He seems to come from beyond this world of Being, from a realm over which I have no control. Suddenly, I find my powers of accession put into question. This is quite a radical and Earth-shaking experience for me. I am overwhelmed. At the same time, longing spreads within me. I desire to know, who this being is. This desire is unlike any needs I have ever known. Needs, I have always been able to fulfil. Yet, the desire for the Other is something I am unable to control, and which grows each time I am touched by the Other's presence. Thus, just as there is a temporal anachronism between the Other and me, there is also a spatial asymmetry. The Other, evading, if not questioning, my powers of comprehension, seems to come from above. He is His Holiness, the most high.²⁴⁶

It is important to understand, that for me, as a subject, this meeting with the Other takes place outside any "noetico-noematic structure"²⁴⁷. I cannot make sense of it, as I can never leave my place and look at our relation from outside of it. Yet, of course there is also a theoretical explanation to this intrusion of the Other that I cannot withstand. Even though the face of the Other evokes within me an idea of who he might be, this idea can never do him justice. He always exceeds "*the idea of the other in me*"²⁴⁸. To Lévinas, this is exactly what Descartes describes as the 'idea of infinity'.²⁴⁹ This idea can never hold infinity as such. Having the idea of infinity is thus like walking toward the infinite, without ever arriving at the desired destination. Thinking the infinite is *infinition* – the evolving of infinity. The desire directed toward the Other takes on the same structure. What is more, according to Lévinas, I desire the Other because he is the only possibility for me to be in touch with what lies beyond Being: the infinite.²⁵⁰

²⁴⁶ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 33, 48-52 & 194-199; Lévinas, 1986, pp. 347-359; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 119. Derrida makes an interesting comment on the metaphor of the *most high* and the latters relation to space. He writes, "[t]his expression [...] tears apart, by the superlative excess, the spatial literality of the metaphor. No matter how high it is, height is always accessible; the most high, however, is higher than height. No addition of more height will ever measure it. It does not belong to space, is not of this world." (Derrida, 1978 p. 93)

 $^{^{247}}$ Lévinas, 1987, p. 119. Lévinas hereby distances himself from Husserl's phenomenology, which, in Lévinas view, can only approach the Other as an object, as it is not able to move outside the structure of consciousness of Within such a structure, however, the otherness of the Other is not respected. (See: Derrida 1978, p. 119)

²⁴⁸ Lévinas, 1969, p. 50

²⁴⁹ See: Descartes, 1986, pp. 28-36. In Descartes' case, the idea of infinity is called the idea of God. Lévinas however takes over Descartes' argument that God exceeds the idea of Him in me, as he is *infinite*.

²⁵⁰ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 48-52 & 194-201; Lévinas, 1986, pp. 350-359; Lévinas, 1987, pp. 119; With this structure, Lévinas places himself between a philosophy of transcendence and one of immanence, both of which focus on the disappearance of the separate and the singular, either within God, or within the totality of history or Being.

In short, when the Other shows himself in the phenomenal world, I am touched by his face in a particular way. On the one hand, the face of the Other ends the loneliness of inner thought and relieves me from solipsism. On the other hand, the face of the Other forces me to see my own limitations with regards to proclaiming – that is, naming, and thus identifying and possessing – the world. Faced with the Other, I find myself in a situation in which the only way I can retain my untroubled freedom would be to kill him. Accordingly, my attempts at grasping the world are not only unmasked as being false: they are accused of being violent, and my freedom of being deadly. By presenting himself, the Other questions both accuracy and legitimacy – both consciousness and conscience – of the hegemonic 'permanence in the Same'. Meeting the Other, my subjectivity is transformed. I am no longer subjecting, *naming* or *nominative*, but subjected, *accused* or *accusative* – even in grammatical terms: the face of the Other concerns *me*.²⁵¹

Simultaneously, the face of the Other reminds me of the utmost vulnerability of human existence and the hazards he faces. His face speaks of peril and direst need. Thus, while the Other questions my untroubled freedom, he also begs for my goodness. The face of the Other is both height and nudity, divinity and utmost helplessness. Due to this constellation, the Other demands my *response*, without my response ever being able to take the form of murder. As the Other's plea reaches me from beyond Being, and hence lies before understanding or intention, goodness is evoked within me long before it is my turn to choose.²⁵² At the same time, I am not left without any possibility for action – as the placement of my subjectivity under the accusative case might negatively suggest. When I see the perils of the Other, I am ordered to a *responsibility* that no one else can share. That is, instead of taking my freedom away, the Other redirects it. Likewise, my subjectivity is transformed into the wish to never cease to try to ease the suffering of the Other. A life in service of the Other, without hoping to be ever compensated for any commitment or dedication, not even in some kind of afterlife: this is the positive form, subjectivity takes in the face of the Other. The Other is thus the source, from which meaning is not only given to himself, or the world, but also to me and my life as "to-be-for-after-my-death"²⁵³. This, Lévinas argues, is

²⁵² See: Lévinas, 1998, p. 11

Within Being, within a life of economy (in the etymological sense), the face of the Other represents the evolving of a constant transcendence, never reaching that which it desires.

²⁵¹ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 82-84 & 197-199; Lévinas, 1981, pp. 11-15; Lévinas, 1986, p. 353-354

²⁵³ Lévinas, 1986, p. 349

not the story of Odysseus and his long journey home, but of Abraham, who left his home to never return. It is not something taught by the Greek, but by the Jewish.²⁵⁴

This has great significance, as it implies that proximity beyond thought, and not reason, carries within it the seed for goodness. In fact, it is this constellation of my responsibility for the Other that plants the seed for thought and reason by saving the "first word"²⁵⁵. As Lévinas writes,

Before the hunger of men responsibility is measured only 'objectively'; it is irrecusable. The face opens the primordial discourse whose first word is obligation, which no 'interiority' permits avoiding.²⁵⁶

Declaring ontology as first philosophy disregards the fact that without this ethical relation between the Other and me, research of Being would not be possible. Prior to ontology, Lévinas concludes, there is ethics. The original state of man is peace, not war.²⁵⁷

3.1.4 "Peace, Love and Understanding"²⁵⁸

Lévinas' critique of occidental philosophy is thus quite radical. Not only does it suggest an inversion of all the central binary concepts of occidental philosophy, such as reason vs. body, sense vs. cognition, language vs. thought, ethics vs. truth, etc.; it equally argues that the philosophical tradition of the West has *chosen* violence to be the original state of humankind, by setting ontology as first philosophy. War of all against all is only the logical consequence of a state in which a multiplicity of beings are concerned about their own existence – or 'permanence in the [S]ame' – and therefore rival each other over a way to control the present, in order to survive. These beings, then, have to be bestowed with reason. They have to be given the capability to transform this rivalry by establishing something greater and more general than themselves – such as the order of the state. In consequence, the peace introduced by the original contract aims at tranquillity and order and assigns every individual its present place. War is no longer needed. Yet, this peace has its origin in truth, not ethics. It follows the logic of the Same. Unsurprisingly, justice is created to ensure *my* freedom and to protect *my* property. The state

²⁵⁴ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp.72-77, 84-90, 178 & 197-201; Lévinas, 1986, p. 348

²⁵⁵ Lévinas, 1969, p. 42

²⁵⁶ Lévinas, 1969, p. 201

²⁵⁷ Lévinas, 1969, pp. 179-201

²⁵⁸ The Gaylads, 1996, http://www.discogs.com/Gaylads-Fire-And-Rain/release/1678561 (last accessed: 20th Feb. 2014)

called forth by the social contract still entails "calculation, mediation and politics"²⁵⁹. The peaceful benefits of trade and exchange advertised are merely a continuation of the original state of war. Even in a state of peaceful trade, human "beings remain always assembled, present"²⁶⁰, patiently awaiting future benefit and victory. Because self-interests prevail, this peace is unstable. Likewise, the peace created by the unifying power of impersonal reason is alienated, as it places each individual under a totality that inhibits both becoming and difference. The state "awakens the person to a freedom it immediately violates"²⁶¹. In sum, the rational peace of the bourgeois exhibits both egoist and totalising violence. It is a peace of empires, fighting for the Same "on the basis of the Truth"²⁶².²⁶³

This shakes Western thinking about peace in its foundations. Lévinas does not merely argue that reason is unable to secure peace in a sustainable manner; he equally accuses rational peace of playing its part in horrors usually dismissed as irrational, and hence alien to the progressing track of truth and peace. Accordingly, violent developments such as fascism or genocide might not actually be the expression of a reason turned insane, but the result of an attempt to do everything needed in order for the 'permanence in the [S]ame' to be secured. Violence – especially on a political or social level – occurs in a world that worships the 'I' and has forgotten the Other. It occurs in a world turned blind to its origin.

Lévinas contrasts this scenario of a rational peace sliding back into violence, with a peace placed at the heart of a relationship that makes murder impossible, and from which truth has yet to be born. To him, peace has to "respond to a call more urgent than that of truth and initially distinct from the call of truth"²⁶⁴. Peace is the foreword to truth. It is the "*surplus* of sociality"²⁶⁵ that leaves otherness absolute, and the Other close to me in a neighbourly way. Still, the relation between me and the Other does not call for a political peace, but for an ethical one. With the face of the Other presenting itself in its utmost vulnerability and need – that is, basically in its mortality – I am forced to wake up from my egoistic and lonely slumber in order to keep watch over and ease the precarious situation of this other being. Peace, as seen by Lévinas, is *performed* by me, when I infinitely take my place as substitute for the Other's suffering. It is "the whole

²⁵⁹ Lévinas, 1981, p. 4

²⁶⁰ Lévinas, 1981, p. 5

²⁶¹ Lévinas, 1969, p. 176

²⁶² Lévinas, 1996, p. 162

²⁶³ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 22, 45-47 &76; Lévinas, 1981, pp. 4-5

²⁶⁴ Lévinas, 1996, p. 165

²⁶⁵ Lévinas, 1996, p. 165

gravity²⁶⁶ of goodness, and my undeniable and unavoidable responsibility not to leave the "other alone faced with the mystery of death^{267,268} Peace, Lévinas writes, can therefore

not be identified with the end of combats that cease for want of combatants, by the defeat of some and the victory of the others, that is ,with cemeteries or future universal empires. Peace must be my peace, in a relation that starts from an I and goes to the other, in desire and goodness, where the I both maintains itself and exists without egoism.²⁶⁹

Reason, judgement and truth only become necessary in the face of a third party. The third party interrupts and confuses my relation to and responsibility for the Other. Suddenly, I find myself infinitely responsible for two people. As this is an impossible task – there is no such thing as two infinite responsibilities – I become torn. Which of the two is in more need? What if one poses a threat to the other? I start to ask questions, and thus to weigh and make equal two fates which in reality are incomparable. Importantly, Lévinas thus argues that judgement is needed solely because of my failure to take on an infinite responsibility for more than one person at the same time. "[T]he first question in the interhuman," Lévinas concludes, "is the question of justice"²⁷⁰. Only then do consciousness, reason, and knowledge arise. Likewise, the call for political and legal institutions is merely raised due to the multiplicity of human beings in danger, and not in order to secure my protection or to safeguard my possessions.²⁷¹

This is often forgotten. Being and rationality have a way of cutting the ties to their origin, making believe that they are the sole initiators of meaning, and consequently the only hope for justice and peace. As seen above, this is not so. The bourgeois peace has to be thought of in relation to a peace much older than reason. As Lévinas writes, if

reason lives in language, if the first rationality gleams forth in the opposition of the face to face, if the first intelligible, the first signification, is the infinity of the intelligence that presents itself (that is, speaks to me) in the face, if reason is defined by signification rather than signification being defined by the impersonal structures of reason, if society precedes the apparition of these impersonal structures, if universality reigns as the presence of humanity in the eyes that look at me, if, finally, we recall that this look appeals to my responsibility and consecrates my freedom as responsibility and gift of self – then the pluralism of society could not disappear in the elevation to reason, but would be its condition. It is not the impersonal in me that Reason would establish, but an I myself capable of

²⁶⁶ Lévinas, 1996, p. 167

²⁶⁷ Lévinas, 1996, p. 167

²⁶⁸ See: Lévinas, 1996. pp. 162-167

²⁶⁹ Lévinas, 1969, p. 306

²⁷⁰ Lévinas, 1996, p. 168

²⁷¹ See: Lévinas, 1969, pp. 75-76

society, an I that has arisen in enjoyment as separated, but whose separation would itself be necessary for infinity to be - for its infinitude is accomplished as the 'facing.'²⁷²

Pluralism – that is, separate individuals actively participating in the structuring of their social constellation –, not unity, would have to be the objective of politics. Only this way, can the Other be protected and the violence springing from the unifying power of judgement be minimised. Equally, there needs to be a constant reminder as to where truth, politics and the law were instituted from. Within this world of Being a wakefulness is needed, in order to never forget that it is the "ethical order of human proximity that gives rise to the order of objectivity, truth and knowledge"²⁷³, and that political and legal institutions are hence primarily there to protect the lives of others, and not my own.²⁷⁴ Otherwise, the hegemonic path of the Same, with all its consequences, cannot be evaded. To remind of and remain awake for the Other within the work of truth, to be the wisdom of goodness and performed responsibility, and to keep watch over a social state of giving and pluralism: this, Lévinas concludes, is the task of philosophy.²⁷⁵ Yet, can philosophy fulfil this task?

3.2 Derrida – The Madness of Peace

For me, it is always a question of differential force, of difference as difference of force, of force as différance (différance is a force différée-différante), of the relation between force and form, force and signification, performative force, illocutionariy or prelocutionary force, of persuasive and rhetorical force, of affirmation by signature, but also and especially of all the paradoxical situations in which the greatest force and the greatest weakness strangely enough exchange places. And that is the whole history.²⁷⁶

Philosophical discourse, Derrida agrees with Lévinas, does primarily move within a thought that is shaped by the Greek. It "would not be possible to philosophize, or to speak philosophically, outside this [the Greek] medium"²⁷⁷. Husserl and Martin Heidegger knew of this. Yet, any

²⁷² Lévinas, 1969, p. 208-209

²⁷³ Lévinas, 1996, p. 169

²⁷⁴ Similarly, Lévinas regards human rights as rights of the Other.

²⁷⁵ See: Lévinas, 1996, pp. 168-169

²⁷⁶ Derrida, 1990, p. 929

²⁷⁷ Derrida, 1978, p. 81

attempt at approaching their dialogue still has to take place within Greek language and tradition. As Derrida writes,

At the moment when the fundamental conceptual system produced by the Greco-European adventure is in the process of taking over all of humanity, [...] [n]o philosophy could possibly dislodge [...] [it] without first succumbing to [...] [it], or without finally destroying itself as a philosophical language.²⁷⁸

This Greek foundation is the stronghold of philosophical thought, the knowledge of which keeps the adventure of philosophy safe – even its plunging into the distress of scepticism, for example. This "knowledge and safety [...] are [...] not in the world: rather, they are the possibility of our language and the nexus of our world"²⁷⁹. Lévinas' thought attempts to shake the heart of this safe-house. From the beginning of his text *Violence and Metaphysics* Derrida thus grants Lévinas the ability to "make us tremble"²⁸⁰ at the very foundation of the Greek *logos* and to "summon us to depart from the Greek site [...] to move [...] toward an *exhalation*, toward a prophetic speech"²⁸¹. At the same time, and also from the very beginning Derrida points toward the danger of a project that needs to make use of the language it seeks to destroy in the process of destroying it. How can the metaphor of light – and, with it, the primacy and violence of the Same – be broken with in philosophical discourse if "all languages combat within it, *modifying only* the same metaphor and choosing the *best* light"²⁸²?²⁸³

The main problem, to Derrida, lies in the fact that Lévinas still remains tied to one central positive discrimination of the Greek/Western Tradition: logocentrism, and its favouring phonetics over scripture. Lévinas merely differentiates between language as thought and language as speech. He does not ask what could be learned from its written form. Derrida, like Lévinas, is sceptical about the importance reason and rationality have gained within Western philosophy. Like Lévinas, he advances his criticism by dismantling long-held assumptions about certain primacies, all of which he regards as being part of a "metaphysics of the presence"²⁸⁴. Nevertheless, Derrida and Lévinas do not altogether walk the same path. In fact, by attacking yet

²⁷⁸ Derrida, 1978, p. 82

²⁷⁹ Ibid.

²⁸⁰ Ibid.

²⁸¹ Ibid.

²⁸² Derrida, 1978, p. 92

²⁸³ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 80-83 & 92. Derrida writes: "But will a non-Greek ever succeed in doing what a Greek in this case could not do, except by disguising himself as a Greek, by *speaking* Greek, by feigning to speak Greek in order to get near the king? And since it is a question of killing a speech, will we ever know who is the last victim of this stratagem?" (Derrida, 1978, p. 89)

²⁸⁴ Derrida, 1978, p. 134

another unquestioned primacy – that of phonetics, and everything linked to it – Derrida seems to go further than Lévinas. As we shall see, this difference of view has fundamental implications for the dialogue between them. This becomes perhaps most poignant in Derrida's text Violence and *Metaphysics*, which can be considered an answer to Lévinas' early thought peaking in the his work Totality and Infinity.

In this chapter I will consider Derrida's critique of Lévinas, as well as the consequent rehabilitation of Husserl's phenomenology and Heidegger's Ontology. However, in order to understand better the depth and border, in and at which Lévinas and Derrida meet in their dialogue, I shall first introduce one of Derrida's most important offerings to philosophy: différance. Last, I will try to frame Derrida's thinking on peace as a movement between pragmatism and madness, at the very border of sense and impossibility.

3.2.1 This Différence with an A^{285}

To approach Derrida, I shall begin with a letter: a. With this letter, which Derrida infixes into the word *différence* - so that it becomes *différance* - he already announces several of his major concerns, above all of which stands the re-establishment of writing over phonetics. The difference between *différence* and *différence* cannot be heard. It can only be read and written. Therefore, any treatise on *différance* necessarily needs to take a "passage through a written text"²⁸⁶. Writing is therefore not a pure translation of phonetics. Rather, for phonetics to be comprehensible, it has to make use of the written system of 'signs', including a whole array of non-phonetic 'signs', such as space, comma, dot, question or exclamation mark, colon, semicolon, etc. Thus, Derrida puts quotation marks around the word 'sign', as he actually thinks it unfit. A sign is usually thought of as present in itself, and signifying by itself. However, both phonetic and non-phonetic 'signs' merely make sense if brought forth in difference to one another. This difference is not visible, nor is it comprehensible. Visibility and intelligibility - or more abstractly, the *presence* of a sign – are mere products of this difference. By insinuating the letter a into the word *différence* Derrida thus wants to address an order beyond "one of the founding oppositions of philosophy"²⁸⁷, differentiating between the sensible and the intelligible.

²⁸⁵ See: *Derrida*, 2004, Zeitgeist Films. For the script see: http://kirbydick.com/derrida/DerridaTRANSCRIPT.doc

 ²⁸⁶ Derrida, 1982, p. 4
 ²⁸⁷ Derrida, 1982, p. 4

In writing, this opposition dissolves. By starting with the letter *a*, Derrida at once moves to the heart of the matter,

The order which resists this opposition [visible vs. intelligible], and resists it because it transports it, is announced in a movement of *différance* [...] between two differences or two letters, a *différance* which belongs neither to the voice nor to writing in the usual sense, and which is located [...] between speech and writing, and beyond the tranquil familiarity which links us to one and the other, occasionally reassuring us in our illusion that they are two.²⁸⁸

Différance is thus a movement or, as Derrida writes elsewhere, a sheaf. Yet this movement cannot be made visible. Visible or intelligible is only that, which presents itself, such as the sign. The movement necessary for this presentation, this becoming present, remains ever hidden. Therefore, *différance* is not a thing. Things appear and become present. Equally, it is neither word, nor concept. It has neither "existence nor essence"²⁸⁹. Rather, it is that which opens up the entire world, time and space, existence and essence. The movement of *différance* allows for things to surface, become visible, become present, and, ultimately, be replaced.²⁹⁰

I shall try to specify this with an etymological excursion: *différence* is linked to the French verb *différer*, which again stems from the Latin *differre*. *Différer* has two meanings. First, it refers to the "action of putting off until later"²⁹¹. That is, it has a temporising aspect. Second, it also entails the notion of being different from something else. This latter notion, to Derrida, is spatial, as the non-identity of things divides space, and is thus the becoming of space. *Différance* refers to both meanings of the verb *différer*. This is, once more, best explained with the 'sign'. Usually, the sign is used to describe the thing in itself. Said otherwise, with its becoming present, it puts off the presence of the thing in itself – or any other sign – only for the latter to become present again in the future: this is temporisation. At the same time, to gain meaning – i.e., to be present – the sign has to differentiate itself from every other present thing. It must divide the present into space: this is spacing. Anything appearing in presence is thus an effect of a differentiating movement, responsible for the becoming of time and space. Yet, as Derrida goes on,

²⁸⁸ Derrida, 1982, p. 5

²⁸⁹ Derrida, 1982, p. 6

²⁹⁰ See: Derrida, 1982, pp. 1-7

²⁹¹ Derrida, 1982, p. 8

This does not mean that the *différance* that produces differences is somehow before them, in a simple and unmodified – in-different – present. *Différance* is the non-full, non-simple, structured and differentiating origin of differences. Thus the name 'origin' no longer suits it.²⁹²

There is no author of *différance*, no subject controlling it.²⁹³ Rather, *différance* is best thought of as play – that is, a nonstrategic but still structured movement – between differences, between effects without a cause. In consequence, the subject, too, is to be thought of merely as an effect of *différance*. Indeed, to Derrida, the (self-)conscious subject is "a 'function' of language"²⁹⁴. Not only must it conform to a system of language already at play before the subject's coming into being and claiming speech. The conscious subject also merely becomes comprehensible if opposed to or differentiated from what it is not (unconscious, an object, other, etc.).²⁹⁵

We, as beings who approach the world in language thus remain captured by this play. We cannot go beyond it. This entails one major difference between Derrida and Lévinas. While Lévinas regards the face-to-face as (non)place, from which the world can begin by being presented, Derrida concludes that the origin of this world – this 'irrevocable past' – cannot be found. In fact, the beginning – the very first placing of something as present – was already an iteration, a repetition, a setting in and of difference. Therefore, to Derrida, the idea of a full presence, of something existing in purity – even with regards to the origin of this world – has to be dropped. Presence is "a determination or an effect within a system which is no longer that of presence but of *différance*"²⁹⁶, and in which every present thing carries the trace of what it is not.²⁹⁷

In sum, that which Lévinas criticised as 'permanence in the [S]ame', is equally shaken by Derrida's critique of the 'metaphysics of the presence'. To both, there is no purely conscious and isolated subject taking part in universal reason, in accordance to which the intelligible is favoured over the sensible, concept over intuition, culture over nature, etc. At the same time and unlike Lévinas, Derrida sees no way to escape the realm of the Same, immanence, and the unfolding of Being. What hence, of transcendence, ethics and a pure peace?

²⁹² Derrida, 1982, p. 11

²⁹³ Hence the ending -ance, which suggests an undecidability between activity and passivity.

²⁹⁴ Derrida, 1982, p. 15

²⁹⁵ See: Derrida, 1982, pp. 5-22

²⁹⁶ Derrida, 1982, p. 16

²⁹⁷ See: Derrida, 1982, pp. 6-7 & 21-24

3.2.2 A God Involved in War

Human beings, to Derrida, do not live outside the conceptual, outside language. Language is the medium through which we approach the world. In Derrida's view, there is no language without concepts, or, as he says, "without phrase"²⁹⁸. Consequently, there is neither a language nor a subject that escapes the realm of the Same. Otherness in all its aspects needs to be pointed toward from within the language of the Same – the only language there is. Exteriority, for example – that which is not immanence – still has to be named within the "Inside-Outside structure"²⁹⁹ of space; just as *in-finity* cannot be stated but negatively, by addressing that which is not: finite. Last, if the Other is approached as positive otherness, he becomes "unthinkable, impossible, unutterable"³⁰⁰. In other words, if the Other is to mean anything within language – if the discourse of Lévinas is to make any sense – he cannot be 'placed' beyond the origin of the world, he cannot be positively infinite. He has to be finite and mortal, "body, glance, speech, and thought"³⁰¹ in one. If not, the separation between soul and body would have to be reintroduced, which is most certainly not Lévinas' ambition. As Martin Hägglund notes, Derrida thus turns Levinas' argument against itself.³⁰² Still, the questioning of Lévinas' elaboration itself is not Derrida's main concern. Rather, by pointing out the inconsistencies and silent implications in Lévinas' discourse, he wishes to express a more fundamental worry about the *possibility* that language as such can designate that which lies beyond itself. There is a betrayal of thought by language in languages' *inability* to name the "positive plenitude of classical infinity"³⁰³.³⁰⁴

What Derrida aims at is the inability of a philosophical discourse to go beyond language in order to find and state its own origin. According to him, this origin is *inscribed* in a movement of difference – of *différance* – which oscillates between, for example, the meaning of inside and outside, day and night, the philosophical and the non-philosophical, or the Same and the Other. There is no purity of origin. Everything found and named is always already included in the world and the light that follows; just as anything beyond it is 'unthinkable, impossible, unutterable'. Accordingly, speech cannot be detached from the violence of a language rooted in light and

²⁹⁸ Derrida, 1978, p. 147

²⁹⁹ Derrida, 1978, p. 112

³⁰⁰ Derrida, 1978, p. 114

³⁰¹ Derrida, 1978, p. 115

³⁰² See: Hägglund, 2004, p. 50

³⁰³ Ibid.

³⁰⁴ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 106-117

space. I cannot go beyond that, which marks the horizon of our world, to meet the Other with the pure nonviolence of a speech freed from world, Being, history, etc. – all concepts that, to Lévinas, mark an alliance with the Same and hence carry within them both violence and war. Language, Derrida concludes, "in its entirety already has awakened as a fall into light"³⁰⁵.³⁰⁶

Equally has God – as symbol of positive infinity. Because God is infinite, and thus encompassing everything, he cannot purely be life. The classical conception of God as both all life and infinity at the same time, does not make sense. God necessarily needs to be

at once All and Nothing, Life and Death. Which means that God is or appears, is *named* within the difference between All and Nothing, Life and Death. Within difference, and at bottom as Difference itself. This difference is what is called *History*. God is inscribed in it.³⁰⁷

In the same way, he is 'implicated in war'³⁰⁸. This is so because war would only cease to exist in a world in which the face of the Other is fully respected – "as that which is not of this world"³⁰⁹ – or in a world in which it is absolutely not. That is, the end of war only occurs at the end of speech. Again, Derrida turns Lévinas against himself. To Lévinas, peace lies in speech. This, Derrida argues, means that the Other needs to be acknowledged without foregoing language, as absolute respect (as pure nonviolence) and disrespect (as pure violence) of the Other amount to the same thing: silence. Speech has its roots in war, which is

the only system whose basis permits us to speak [...]. With or without God, there would be no war. War supposes and excludes God. We can have a relation to God only within such a system. Therefore war – *for war there is* – is the difference between the face and the finite world without a face. But is not this difference that which has always been called the world, in which the absence-presence of God plays?³¹⁰³¹¹

According to Derrida, there is thus an original inevitability to the violence of discourse. He thus shares Lévinas' understanding of violence as all that which disrespects a singular being. Language and consequently also speech are bound to light. Therefore language institutes war. However, this war is not violence of the worst kind. Pure violence reigns only when discourse ceases to be, when the Other is no longer approached in dialogue. The worst violence is that of a silence absolutely disrespecting the Other. We – as philosophers and human beings – therefore

³⁰⁵ Derrida, 1978, p. 113

³⁰⁶ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 106-117

³⁰⁷ Derrida, 1978, p. 116

³⁰⁸ Derrida, 1978, p. 107

³⁰⁹ Derrida, 1978, p. 107

³¹⁰ Ibid.

³¹¹ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 107-117 & 103-133

have to speak. We have to engage in war if we want to avoid a total victory of the Same, and, with, it the final defeat of the Other. Only thus do we take on the full responsibility for a peace within history; the only peace, which, according to Derrida, is in fact possible. For a philosophy aware of this, aware of its own being placed within history – as violent play between the face and its nullification – "[n]onviolence would be the telos, and not the essence of discourse."³¹² Any philosophical discourse concerned about peace thus needs to take the route of war. This is what Derrida calls the "*[e]conomy* of violence"³¹³, in which violence is used to fight the worst crime, the worst violence, in which dialogue would cease to exist.³¹⁴

History, then, takes on a new meaning. No longer is it thought of in terms of totality. In fact, history, to Derrida, is exactly that which departs from totality, as "the very movement of transcendence, of the excess over the totality without which no totality would appear as such"³¹⁵. Transcendence and immanence – the infinite and finite – merge, and in their difference, in this play, becoming and history evolve. However, this does not also imply a departure from the violence of history. History remains violent: "becoming is war. This polemic is language itself. Its inscription."³¹⁶ Language inscribes (lat. scibere, 'to write') itself, it moves between differences, and hence engages in war. Still, Derrida tentatively asks whether writing might lend itself more easily to peace than speech. Writing, he argues, "can assist itself, for it has time and freedom, escaping better than speech from empirical urgencies."³¹⁷. There is less pressure in the written page than in the face-to-face. By writing, it might be easier for the Other to escape presence, to be absent, by the time I receive his word. I might also choose a less violent style when using writing instead of speech, as I am not present when the Other reads my words, and can therefore not harvest their effects. Yet, Derrida is far from stating any peaceful purity of writing – as he would denounce any purity as such. Even while writing, I can still hope to defer my finitude by handing down the signs I produce. Therefore, to Derrida, the "limit between violence and nonviolence is perhaps not between speech and writing but within each of them"³¹⁸.³¹⁹

³¹² Derrida, 1978, p. 117
³¹³ Derrida, 1978, p. 117
³¹⁴ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 103 &146-153

³¹⁵ Derrida, 1978, p. 117

³¹⁶ Ibid.

³¹⁷ Derrida, 1978, p. 102

³¹⁸ Ibid.

³¹⁹ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 122-133 & 144-150

Speak and write, both we must do; the first in order to avoid the worst violence; the second because it offers a hunch of what this play of *différance* might be, the play in which we remain captured, but in which we still need to state the 'unthinkable, impossible, unutterable'. Only this way can the non-strategic structure of this play ever be allowed to change toward a better, historical peace. This peace, according to Derrida, needs both the Other as phenomenon and alter ego, and the thought of Being. In fact, it is Derrida's view that even Lévinas' argument cannot do without them.³²⁰ Deliberating on this, I shall thus now take an excursion into Derrida's interpretation of Husserl's phenomenology and Heidegger's ontology, and the their link to ethics and peace.

3.2.3 Rehabilitating Phenomenology and Ontology

If the Other is to be truly respected, Derrida argues, he needs to *appear* and make sense as other. In fact, he is only other *to* and hence because of me. Respect for the Other therefore requires him to become a phenomenon. Yet, the Other would be a phenomenon of a special kind, one that eludes my grasp.³²¹ I would see him as alter ego, as other interiority, and hence other origin of this world, but I could not thematically represent him in my thought. To deny the fact that the Other, too, is an ego – an ego to which, however, I have no access – would, in Derrida's view, be to deny the Other altogether. Because, it is his egoity that marks the difference between him and any other object I have in mind. The heterogeneity of the Same and the Other are hence not as absolute as Lévinas wishes. As Derrida writes, the Other "cannot be absolutely exterior to the [S]ame without ceasing to be other; and [...] consequently, the [S]ame is not a totality closed in upon itself"³²². This leads, once more, to the origin of language and thought as inscription, as written origin.³²³ In the words of Derrida,

the other is absolutely other only if he is an ego, that is, in a certain way, if he is the same as I. Inversely, the other as *res* is simultaneously less other [...] and less 'the same' than I. Simultaneously more and less other, [...] this contradiction [...], this impossibility of translating my relation to the other into the rational coherence of language [...] are not the signs of 'irrationality': they are the sign, rather, that one may no longer draw inspiration from within the coherence of the *Logos*, but that thought is stifled in the region of the origin of language as dialogue and difference. This origin, as the

³²⁰ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 118-151

³²¹ Derrida calls it the "nonphenomenal phenomenon, [...] [the] nonthematic theme" (Derrida, 1978, p. 128).

³²² Derrida, 1978, p. 126

³²³ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 118-133

concrete condition of rationality, is nothing less than 'irrational' but it could not be 'included' in language. This origin is an inscribed inscription.³²⁴

This origin, as said, institutes violence. However, allowing the Other to appear to the Same - as Husserl did, but Lévinas did not – this violence of me having an image of the Other is the sole possibility for peace there is in this world. Only by understanding that the Other is both other and ego, just as I am both other and ego to him, by accepting this symmetry, can the possibility of my approaching the Other with speech – Lévinas' ethical asymmetry – be envisaged. The result would not be a pure peace, but an economic one, which accepts our being trapped in an originally violent history evolving as oscillation between the silence of pure violence and pure nonviolence.³²⁵

We cannot go beyond the world of Being to face the Other. In Being we reside and Being, just as phenomenality, is thus needed in order to respectfully approach the Other. This is so because the thought of Being, as introduced by Heidegger, allows me to let be that which appears. According to Derrida, it assists me in recognising the essence of a particular being. Derrida here, plays with the double meaning of both the verb to recognise (as both understanding and respecting) and the concept of essence (as both Being and the true nature of a particular thing). Unlike Lévinas' interpretation, Heiddeger's concept of Being as understood by Derrida is not engaged in the struggle for power. Power, like the question of primacy, can only be settled between two beings. Conversely, Being in itself is not a determined something. As such, it cannot be known. It is "but the *Being-of* this existent, and does not exist outside it as a foreign power, or as a hostile or neutral impersonal element"³²⁶. Accordingly, Being cannot be a concept nor a predication playing its unifying part in the form of judgement. It cannot take the form of a neutral, general term under which singular beings are subsumed. Without ever showing itself by itself, it brings beings forth, and is thus the condition for the possibility of any judgement. In consequence, Heidegger's thought of Being cannot take part in the determination of a first philosophy, and has thus to be separated from ontology as a 'philosophy of power'.³²⁷

Interpreted this way, the thought of Being fits most practically into Derrida's project. Sceptical of any search for or stating of a pure origin – the arché of our world – Derrida can use

³²⁴ Derrida, 1978, pp. 127-128

 ³²⁵ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 127 126
 ³²⁶ Derrida, 1978, pp. 127-128
 ³²⁷ See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 127-128

the thought of Being to elude the fight over a first principle. Since Being is needed for all recognition and respect, it precedes both thought and ethics, without ever reigning over them. There is thus no need of appointing one or the other – thought or ethics – as primary. That which actually is first – Being – is veiled, and history – the becoming and deferring of beings – takes its place. Being "occurs in all respects as history and as world"³²⁸. It is hence no less violent than phenomenology. Yet, like phenomenology, it is most needed in the face and for the recognition of the Other. Derrida concludes:

A Being without violence would be a Being which would occur outside the existent [outside a living being]; nothing; nonhistory; nonoccurrence; nonphenomenality. A speech produced without the least violence would determine nothing, would say nothing, would offer nothing to the other; it would not be *history*, and it would *show* nothing; in every sense of the word, and first of all the Greek sense, it would be speech without *phrase*.³²⁹

There is a contradiction in Lévinas' thought. Speech outside the realm of Being – true peace – would "not only propose an ethics without law [...], but a language without phrase"³³⁰. This, to Derrida, cannot be. Because the face, besides being glance is also speech, word, and thus phrase, implicating history and violence: "[o]ne never escapes *the economy of war*"³³¹.³³²

On the one hand, it could be said that Derrida gives in to a certain pragmatism. The determination and institution of peace necessarily have to take place within history, within the play of war. Only thus can the worst violence – that of a silence fully negating the Other – be evaded. Declaring peace therefore amounts to choosing the least violence possible. The purity of Lévinas' face-to-face would amount to an unthinkable illusion. On the other hand, some of Derrida's more recent texts on issues such as justice and forgiveness suggest that he and Lévinas are not so far apart after all. According to Derrida, justice, forgiveness, and ultimately peace, in their purity do remain 'unthinkable, impossible, unutterable' – a madness. But they are nevertheless indispensable for a justice-oriented politics within history. In the end, when considering peace, Derrida's approach might point toward a movement between pragmatism and madness. And it is to this movement I shall now turn.

³²⁸ Derrida, 1978, p. 144

³²⁹ Derrida, 1978, p.147

³³⁰ Ibid.

³³¹ Derrida, 1978, p. 148

³³² See: Derrida, 1978, pp. 134-151

3.2.4 Justice, Forgiveness, and the Necessity of Deconstruction

There is, Derrida argues, a difference between justice as such and justice as instituted and executed law. This is important, as it implies that a certain law, as well as the act of respecting or defending it, are not necessarily just. Laws are enforced. That is, their institution and perpetuation do not merely gain legitimacy with reference to their apparent representation of justice. Laws are respected because they linked to a power able to penalise lawbreakers. The law necessitates the use of force. It is the "mystical foundation of [its] authority"³³³. However, not every ability to enforce compliant behaviour is legitimate. There is for example, the often-named case of the tyrant who makes use of violence in an illegitimate way. Justice as law therefore represents the middle ground between unjust violence and justice as such. Or rather, it represents the worldly form of justice, by channelling and monopolising the necessity of historical violence by the means of legalisation. Within this world, there is either illegitimate violence, or legitimate force. Yet, in Derrida's view, this latter distinction is not as clear. According to him, the institutionalisation of justice as law is always linked to an act of violence regardless of the power, instituting it. He notes,

The operation that consists of founding, inaugurating, justifying law (*droit*), making law would consist of a coup de force, of a performative and therefore interpretative violence that in itself is neither just nor unjust and that no justice and no previous law with its founding anterior moment could guarantee or contradict or invalidate.334

This is most visible in the founding of the state, which in its determination necessarily holds a violent act, even if horrors such as genocide, deportation, and expulsion do not take place although, according to Derrida, they most often do. State formation takes place in a limbo between an old (no longer applied) and a new (not yet applicable) corpus of law, which is needed to distinguish violence from force. For that reason, the violence of initiating the existence of a state can only retrospectively be turned into a legitimate and necessary use of force.³³⁵

The foundation of law – the legitimisation of force – thus bears within itself an originally violent structure, which disappears as soon as law is first stated, legitimised, and henceforth executed. By the act of law's inauguration, violence and force are linked. Justice as law is a

³³³ Derrida, 1990, p. 937

 ³³⁴ Derrida, 1990, pp. 941-943
 ³³⁵ See: Derrida, 1990, pp. 925-961 & 987-993

violence made legal.³³⁶ Herein lies a danger. Not only does the act of founding law elude judgement, as it takes place within a lawless sphere. Any inequality or use of violence prior to the institutionalisation of law is hidden precisely with and by this institutionalisation. The problem here is that the inauguration of law – for example in a revolutionary act – always takes place within a historical moment with prevalent inequalities. As, in this context, it is often "not possible to make the just strong, the strong [...] [are] made just".³³⁷.³³⁸

Justice as such is betrayed as soon as it is introduced to this world. It cannot be instituted in its purity. Justice is that which is "infinite, incalculable, rebellious to rule and foreign to symmetry, heterogeneous and heterotropic"³³⁹, that, which deals with the singularity of the Other without falling prey to its own ambitions of universality. The language of Lévinas lends itself even to Derrida who is hesitant to use it and sceptical of its implications. Justice as such – equity, perhaps – might be something like "absolute dissymmetry"³⁴⁰ foreign to the calculated equality of law. It is

irreducible in its affirmative character, in its demand of gift without exchange, without circulation,

without recognition or gratitude, without economic circularity, without calculation, and without rules,

without rationality. And so we can recognize in it, indeed accuse, identify a madness.³⁴¹

Justice as such is mad. In its infinite demand, it escapes rational consideration. The calculable character of justice as law is foreign to it. However, despite their heterogeneous nature, justice as such and justice as law cannot be separated in their consideration, as the latter holds the ambition to speak in the name of the former. According to Derrida, three aporias can be gained from this.³⁴²

Firstly, executed justice as law, in order to appear just, always needs to be fresh. Simultaneous to its referral to a general rule, a just judgement must seem to examine the distinctiveness of every given situation. In a just judgement the rule thus appears as if stated for the first time, as if the general rule is both disregarded and recreated. The judgement itself hence appears as both with and without regulation. That is, any *present* – any moment of – decision or judgement, re-connects with the original violent act of a law's inauguration and can never be just

³³⁶ According to Derrida, this is best displayed in the German word *Gewalt*, which signifies at the same time violence and "legitimate power, authority and public force" (Derrida, 1990, p. 927). (See: Ibid.)

³³⁷ Derrida, 1990, p. 937

³³⁸ See: Derrida, 1990, Derrida, 1990, pp. 925-961

³³⁹ Derrida, 1990, p. 959

³⁴⁰ Derrida, 1990, p. 959

³⁴¹ Derrida, 1990, p. 965

³⁴² See: Derrida, 1990, pp. 925-961

as such. Likewise and secondly, it escapes full distinctiveness. The moment a judgement is made, the exact moment of decision, always inhibits an in-decidability, a spontaneity, irreducible to the rational, legal examination it was preceded by. A legal judgement can thus never be fully owned, never be entirely controlled. In its decision, something escapes being grasped. There is, again, an indecisiveness to a judgement as just in and out of itself. Consequently and thirdly, a decision is always rash. It eludes all juridical, ethical or political pre-consideration. The instant a decision is made is therefore the closest we can come to this madness, which is alien to the rational discourse of truth and propriety. In its in-decidability and hastiness, the decision-making instant speaks of the possibility of a justice free from violence.³⁴³

What does Derrida conclude from this? On the one hand, the notion that justice is somehow infinitely granted, without ever expecting anything in return, which in its structure is very similar to Lévinas' prelingual and prejural ethics, does indeed suggest it to be mad – that is, to be of the realm Derrida calls 'unthinkable, impossible, unutterable'. On the other hand, justice is still craved and its impossibility within the realm of rationality must not necessarily lead to its abandonment. Within history, a specific kind of attitude can be chosen, in order to do justice justice. That attitude is the attitude of the question, of *deconstruction*. The latter, Derrida writes, "takes place in the interval that separates the undeconstructibility of justice from the deconstructibility of *droit* [justice as law]³⁴⁴. It arises in the face of the ambiguous, of the aporetic, and introduces a movement of destabilisation with regards to long-held values – such as those of property or the proper, the subject, and intentionality. Yet, no new statement does arise from it. Deconstruction merely questions; any construction following it is an indirect effect. This way, deconstruction - as much as possible within this world - evades the violence of determination. Thence, Derrida concludes that "[d]econstruction is justice"³⁴⁵. We – especially as philosophers – have thus an incalculable responsibility and obligation to deconstruct, to be the open question of

history, the origin and subsequent direction, thus the limits, of concepts of justice, the law and law (*droit*), of values, norms, prescriptions that have been imposed and sedimented there, from then on remaining more or less readable or presupposed.³⁴⁶

³⁴³ See: Derrida 1990, pp. 961-972

³⁴⁴ Derrida, 1990, p. 945

³⁴⁵ Ibid.

³⁴⁶ Derrida, 1990, p. 953

Deconstruction is especially needed where good conscience chooses to lazily rest with a pregiven determination of justice.³⁴⁷ To remain awake in the face of the impossible: Does this not sound very similar to Lévinas? In Derrida's treatise on forgiveness, ethics indeed announces itself as madness from beyond.

In fact, "[i]n principle, there is no limit to forgiveness, no *measure*, no moderation, no 'to what point?"³⁴⁸. Only the unforgivable can be forgiven. That is, forgiveness does not aim at the restoration of normality, of a balance between victim and perpetrator. It does not lend itself to calculation. In order for it to be pure, forgiveness "*should* remain exceptional and extraordinary [...]: as if it interrupted the ordinary course of historical temporality"³⁴⁹. Unconditional and uneconomic, pure forgiveness is not part of an exchange in which the perpetrator asks for and the victim grants forgiveness. It is given to both "the fault and the guilty"³⁵⁰, despite and because of the fact that there is no hope of the latter to ever repent. Forgiveness, therefore, resembles an infinite movement. It seems unthinkable, impossible: a madness. Forgiveness, Derrida concludes, is irreducible to politics or the law. In effect, it remains heterogeneous, unknown to consciousness altogether. It "cannot, if it *must* not *present itself* as such, and thus exhibit itself in consciousness without at the same time denying itself, betraying of reaffirming a sovereignty"³⁵¹.³⁵²

However, Derrida continues, forgiveness is often confused with other, more easily measured and calculated concepts such as reconciliation, and with it "excuse, regret, amnesty, prescription"³⁵³. Linked to these, forgiveness has taken on a key aspect in post-intrastate conflict scenarios – the most famous of which is perhaps the holding of truth commissions. This "globalisation of the scene of repentance"³⁵⁴, to Derrida, has its origin in the Nuremberg Trial, where "legal concepts such as 'crime against humanity"³⁵⁵ were first born. There is, Derrida writes, something ironic to this public and spectacular self-accusation by and of the human race. In addition, the concept of 'crime against humanity' seems to suggest a sacredness linked to the human being. A sacredness, which, in fact, has its root in the Abrahamic – that is, Jewish, but

³⁴⁷ See: Derrida, 1990, pp. 921-945 & 1035-1045

³⁴⁸ Derrida, 2001, p. 27

³⁴⁹ Derrida, 2001, p. 32

³⁵⁰ Derrida, 2001, p. 39

³⁵¹ Derrida, 2001, p. 48

³⁵² See: Derrida, 2001, pp. 27, 32-39 & 47-51

³⁵³ Ibid.

³⁵⁴ Derrida, 2002, p. 381

³⁵⁵ Derrida, 2002, p. 382

especially Christian – tradition, where concepts such as 'neighbour' and 'fellow creature' take on a central role. Derrida therefore suggests the globalisation of reconciliation processes to be the silent continuation of a "Christian convulsion-conversion-confession"³⁵⁶ outside the Christian church.³⁵⁷

All this does not mean that processes of reconciliation should not take place. There is, Derrida admits, a need for memory, mourning, and, even amnesty, in order for the state to function again. However, it should not be forgotten that offerings of reconciliation and amnesty often contain a strategic element. They are a pragmatic approach. It should therefore be stressed that this "reconstitution of a health or a 'normality' as necessary and desirable as it would appear [...], is not forgiveness; it is only a political strategy or a psycho-therapeutic economy"³⁵⁸. Forgiveness and the political process of reconciliation represent the two poles of the unconditional and the conditional. As such, they remain irreconcilable, "absolutely heterogeneous"³⁵⁹. At the same time, they cannot be separated.³⁶⁰ As Derrida writes,

If one wants, and it is necessary, forgiveness to become effective, concrete, historic; if one wants it to *arrive*, to happen by changing things, it is necessary that this purity engage itself in a series of conditions of all kinds.³⁶¹

In the end, Derrida remains torn between what he calls the "'hyperbolic' ethical vision of forgiveness and the reality of a society at work in pragmatic processes of reconciliation"³⁶². He remains undecided between a desire for purity and unconditional ethics, where the worst crimes can be forgiven without repentance, and the pragmatism in which we, as historical beings, need to engage in order to navigate and negotiate our way toward a peace within history. Ultimately, knowing that only a historical peace is possible, or in fact thinkable, Derrida contents himself with the necessity of a reference toward that which overflows mind and time. ³⁶³ The 'unthinkable, impossible, unutterable' has to remain the reference point of law and politics, not as its essence, but as unreachable *telos*. Pure, infinite justice and forgiveness – perhaps not so far away from Lévinas' vision of goodness and peace in the face-to-face – will never *arrive*. They remain what is always yet to come. Because, as Behnke writes, life implies difference,

³⁵⁶ Derrida, 2001, p. 31

³⁵⁷ See: Derrida, 2001, pp. 27-32

³⁵⁸ Derrida, 2001, p. 50

³⁵⁹ Derrida, 2001, p. 44

³⁶⁰ See: Derrida, 2001, pp. 40-47

³⁶¹ Derrida, 2001, pp. 44-45

³⁶² Derrida, 2001, p. 51

³⁶³ See: Derrida, 2001, pp. 51-59

antagonism and conflict. It implies history and change. Infinite, 'perpetual peace' on the other hand, is a peace of the dead. What conclusions, then, can be gained from the dialogue between Lévinas and Derrida with regards to peace?

3.3 Another Conclusion – Attacking Good Conscience

First of all, it is to be noted that Lévinas did respond to the criticism Derrida raised in *Violence and Metaphysics*. While in *Totality and Infinity* Lévinas merely differentiates between language as thought and language as speech, a new distinction is introduced in his later work *Otherwise than Being*. Here, speech is presented as holding both the act of *saying* and the conveying of what is being *said*.³⁶⁴ This underscores in more detail that the relation I have with the Other is not prior to language as thought, prior to politics, and the roles we take in society. There is not first speech, and then thought in a sense which makes the primacy of speech another present that has slid into the past. In speech, the saying is 'past perfect', diachronous to the common understanding of time. It has neither been present, nor is it reachable by the means of my consciousness. There is thus an aspect of speech – the saying – which interrupts the order of time from beyond. Without it, speech in the traditional sense – in which a phrase with a message is transmitted – could not take place.³⁶⁵ As William P. Simmons notes,

Prior to the speech act, the speaker must address the Other, and before the address is the approach of the Other or proximity. Before any speech, before any intention to speak, there is an 'exposure of the ego to the other, the non-indifference to another', which is not a simple 'intention to address a message'. The saying includes not only the content of the speech, but the process itself which includes the Thou who is addressed and the speaker as attendant to the spoken word.³⁶⁶

As said, it is the saying that allows me to be close to the Other, and thereby initiates me as an 'I' infinitely responsible for the Others well-being. But speech is not only saying. It always consists of both the saying and the said – that is thematisation, meaning conveyed. Ethics, to Lévinas, is not something outside the realm of Being in a spatial or temporal sense; it disturbs Being, immanence, and also the order of politics, because it escapes our means of cognition. "[N]on-thematizable, non-utterable, impossible"³⁶⁷ ethics is that which interrupts "Derrida's world of the

³⁶⁴ See: Lévinas, 1981, pp. 5-7

³⁶⁵ See: Simmons, 1999, pp. 87-89

³⁶⁶ Simmons, 1999, p. 88

³⁶⁷ Ibid.

violent language^{"368}, the world of truth, of politics, and estimations of justice. According to Simmons, Lévinas is well aware of the violence the order of justice and politics entails. It is, after all, making use of truth, judgement, and cognition. Yet, in this violence there is a movement that oscillates between the saying and the said, a movement that is often neglected. Therefore, "[s]teps must be taken to maintain the potency of the ethical saying^{"369}. Ethics as the foundation of truth must not be forgotten. Philosophy's primary task should subsequently be to constantly remind of, and keep watch over the "oscillation between the saying and the said"³⁷⁰.³⁷¹ This is so because, in the words of Annabel Herzog,

something can be 'said' about the interaction of ethics and politics, because of politics. If human relations were only ethics – that is if there were only two persons facing each other – philosophy would be impossible. Philosophy [...] emerges in society as a social activity, namely, as a process of knowledge, foundation, representation comprehension, 'totalisation'. Lévinas aims at showing that there is an 'alternative (non-Greek) approach to meaning and truth', that is, at revealing *in philosophy* the irreducible otherness which resists the philosophical logos, the 'ability of philosophy ... to unsay itself'. Still, philosophy is essentially Greek: when he describes the dual relation, Lévinas proposes a *thought* about holiness, not holiness itself.³⁷²

As this citation shows, Lévinas and Derrida are much closer than it first appears. Both are led by a deep concern with regards to the possibility of respecting alterity – the Other for what he or she singularly is. This concern springs from an uneasiness, caused by both the Western tradition of thought, and the politics that emanate from it. The West is taken by both to be slumbering in good conscience, denying the violence of its universalising and neutralising claims to truth, and its political, economic, but also cultural imperialism. Both Lévinas and Derrida trace the problems of this violence to a particular thought of originality, of *arché*, which sets the rational subject as centre and initiator of the world as we see it. In other words, both criticise the predominant Western understanding of autonomous and self-present subjectivity. In opposition, they introduce the world as without having a traceable origin. In fact, within the realm of Being, human beings have a conceptual, and hence lingual relation to the world. That which gives rise to the possibility of cognition thus necessarily lies beyond comprehension. It is *an-archic*. Equally, both regard the *an-archic* origin of the world to lie in a movement of irreducible relatedness. In

³⁶⁸ Ibid.

³⁶⁹ Simmons, 1999, p. 89

³⁷⁰ Simmons, 1999, p. 84

³⁷¹ See: Simmons, 1999, pp. 84-89

³⁷² Herzog, 2002, p. 206

the thought of Lévinas, the world arises due to my infinite desire and responsibility for the Other - introducing a movement towards that which I am not, without this movement ever reaching an end. Différance, on the other hand, points towards meaning unfolding due to an oscillation between what is and what is not, between that which is set and that which is deferred, neglected, denied. etc. Forgetting this an-archic original movement of relation to both means making way for rationally legitimised subjugation and domination.³⁷³

In short, purely residing in a world of Being controlled by an autonomous subject not only denies that which makes subjectivity possible in the first place; it also gives rise to violence. Both Lévinas and Derrida hereby operate with a very wide understanding of violence as that which negates the singularity of another being. Violence is not regarded as an affective outburst of force. It cannot be restricted to the irrationality of physical harm, opposed to the rationality of a transactional peace. Rather, physical violence is merely the expression of an approach to the world, in which the ego is thought to be self-present, in control, and above all valuable, and to be protected in its autonomy. Violence is the expression of ontology as egology, of logocentrism, and thus inherently dormant in the Western tradition, not opposed to it. Violence is that which works according to the rules of logic and rationality. Peace, on the other hand, is mad, unutterable, and incomprehensible. According to both Lévinas and Derrida, it is the task and responsibility of philosophy to constantly be vigilant with regards to and remind us of this. They differ, however, with regards to what form this responsibility, and its political implications are to take.374

Lévinas, like Derrida, locates the possibility of peace as pure goodness performed for the Other in the pre-linguistic realm. Peace is ethical. However, unlike Derrida, he does not fatalistically conclude the impossibility of nonviolence. Instead, he calls everybody to his or her responsibility of letting the ethical moment back into our social relations. If peace cannot be conceptualised, controlled or planned, it has to be *performed*. In other words, Lévinas demands ethical practice, the very act of leaving the familiar paths of a life merely concerned about its own survival and benefit in order to openly receive and abide by the Other's call for help. So much is clear, and not enough; because, the Other is not the only one I will meet on the street. In his eyes, I equally see the third party. I see all those out of my reach, whose lives will eventually be

³⁷³ See: Bernasconi, 1997, p. 90; Bernstein, 1987, pp. 96-105 & 112; Critchley, 2004, p. 182; Delhom/Hirsch, 2007, p. 47; Flatscher, 2014, p. 5; Herzog, 2002, pp. 208-212; Reynolds, 2001, pp. 35-44 & 52
³⁷⁴ See: Bernard-Donals, 2005, p. 62; Bernstein, 1987, p. 94; Flatscher, 2014, pp. 4-5

betrayed by my inability to attend to the needs of all. Ethics – my relation to the Other – cannot be absolute. It is torn open by the third party – the multiplicity and plurality of all humanity – which calls for justice, and, with it, politics. So, just as there is no saying in itself, ethics does not suffice in an attempt at peace. The first, second, and third party do not appear in a chronological order. They inexchangebly and irreducibly exist at the same time. Accordingly, there simultaneously have to be both ethics – my responsibility for the Other – and politics – justice for all others: ethics in order to remind equalising politics of my indebtedness to the Other; politics in order to assist me in fulfilling the impossible task of being infinitely responsible for all humanity. As Victoria Tahmasebi writes, "[f]or Lévinas, not only do politics and the state originate in goodness, but goodness must be present in every working of politics"³⁷⁵. Justice in the form of laws and institutions is called for, to facilitate the state's duty to secure the fulfilment of ethical responsibility.³⁷⁶

Conversely, Derrida does not believe in the possibility of an ethics in which I can fully respect the Other for what he is. As Martin Hägglund notes, there exists a "necessity of discrimination"³⁷⁷ in the thought of Derrida. This is so, because the violent play of *différance* is needed for any ethical consideration or practice. The Other is only other in relation to me. Likewise, I have to acknowledge, and consequently thematise him as such. There cannot be any respect for the Other, if he does not somehow appear in the phenomenal world. This is not to say that the Other is fully accessible to my mind. In the phenomenal play of *différance*, within Being, he is still irreducible, and hence a mystery to me. The consequences of attributing phenomenality to the Other are fundamental. Not only does Derrida insist that a pure – i.e., non-violent – peace is impossible; he equally introduces violence as something productive. Without violence, nothing would be determined. There would be no 'thing'. Violence is thus not to be regarded as inherently bad. However, if it is forgotten that every determination produces exclusion, domination and destructive violence will inevitably haunt us. In consequence, there is a moral claim in Derrida's approach that asks us to aim at the least violence possible within the play of différance. One way to ensure this "lesser violence"³⁷⁸ lies in the art of deconstruction. Jack Reynolds interprets deconstruction as consisting of two steps, "the first being the reversal or

³⁷⁵ Tahmasebi, 2010, p. 535

³⁷⁶ See: Bernard-Donals, 2005, p. 75; Herzog, 2002, pp. 204-206 & 211 & 221; Tahmasebi, 2010, pp. 535-536; Flatscher, 2014, p. 3 & 11-23

³⁷⁷ Hägglund, 2004, p. 40

³⁷⁸ Hägglund, 2004, p. 47

inversion of the prioritised term of a metaphysical opposition, and the second being the displacement or disruption of that opposition by corrupting it from within³⁷⁹. Said otherwise, deconstruction is needed where hierarchical oppositions – such as culture vs. nature, or the subject vs. the other, or the object – are normalised by good conscience. What it does is to show the logical and normative inappropriateness of the opposition, without stating or determining anything new – that is, without instituting another, potentially violating opposition. This is not to say, that no action should be taken to create a society as peaceful as possible. There is a need to both try and attend to the singularity of every human being, and at the same time shape and institutionalise a political, legal and economic order. Authority cannot be abolished; it needs to be constantly questioned, because "there is no 'centred structure', no 'fundamental ground'³³⁸⁰, by reference to which a convergence with prescribed ethics can be guaranteed. As Reynolds writes,

For Derrida, responsibility to the other is such that we cannot know whether we have or haven't made a mistake by them. In deciding, we endure the trial of undecidability that ensures that there is no right answer, since the decision is that which must leap into the unknown.³⁸¹

Deconstructive criticism does not measure given injustices or violations by comparing them to another desired state. Such criticism must remain a process, without knowing where it might lead. Peace is a madness, and in its purity – without a name, but a deep concern for the well being of every Other in his or her singularity – it always remains to come.³⁸²

Rather than providing a conclusion, Lévinas and Derrida hence ask us to take the attitude of an open question. As much as possible, we first need to be open to the arrival of the singular Other, even though he might never fully arrive and become present to our consciousness. Second, we have to remain vigilant when it comes to the translation of the ethical realm – that which is pure, and hence unutterable, unthinkable, non-thematisable – into the rational calculation of politics and the law. Third, we must embrace an attitude of suspicion wherever good conscience rests all-to-comfortably on absolutisms, or totalisations presented as universal, neutral, fixed, and present in themselves. No absoluteness or totality can exist without exclusion. We – as beings that make use of determination to orient themselves – therefore have a responsibility to look out for that and look after those left out. Exclusion and disrespect for the singular are inherent aspects of our lingual system. They will never cease to be. Yet, in being attentive, in embodying this

³⁷⁹ Reynolds, 2001, p. 36

³⁸⁰ Bernstein, 1987, p. 96

³⁸¹ Reynolds, 2001, p. 39

³⁸² See: Bernstein, 1987, pp. 97-108 & 112; Buonamo, 1998, pp. 171-176; Hägglund, 2004, pp. 40-56; Patton, 2007, pp. 772-775; Reynolds, 2001, pp. 36-40

threefold attitude of an open question, the 'greater violence' that could spring from determination in the form of domination, imperialism, colonisation, war, etc. might be reduced. Rather than a state of being, attained by merely engineering the right conditions for it to perpetually prosper, worldly peace, according to Lévinas and Derrida, is a process of approximation to a purity never to be reached. It needs to be performed, constantly changed and kept in check, knowing that some form of violence will always be a part of our lives. Violence we can know and recognise, not peace. To approach peace, we cannot plan, or mechanically engineer standardised forms of social, political legal, and economic organisation: we need to take a walk into the open.³⁸³

³⁸³ For an interesting article on peace as open process, see: Schmitt, 2006

4 Discussion – The Liberal Peace Revisited

In the preceeding chapters, I have introduced the liberal peace as a coin with two sides. I have described the theoretical *discourse* on the liberal peace as drawing mainly on ideas and ideals of the Enlightenment period and encompassing three sets of ideas. First, the liberal peace includes concepts of political philosophy to appease the natural state of men and to safeguard the life, freedom and property of every individual via the means of an original social contract. Second, it comprises liberal theories of international relations, and their focus on international regulation, laws and institutions. Third, it consists of economic approaches regarding the necessity of trade and the free market as inherent to human nature. These three aspects of the liberal discourse – democratic states, international regulation and free trade – represent the cornerstones of the liberal (Western) *condition*, of which Wilson is said to be the founding father, and which is described by Doyle as fundamentally different from the rest of the world, because it is lacking internal conflict. To the liberal family it might hence seem like a logical consequence to globally spread its supposedly peaceful liberal condition via the highly standardised and comprehensive means of liberal peacebuilding.

Yet, as I have argued, the liberal story of continuing progress and growing peace has a downside, which can also be traced back to ideas and ideals of the Enlightenment. A look at the historical context of the Enlightenment period, as well as the developments that followed it, show that liberal politics are not as pure and violence-free as described by their supporters. Racism, colonialism, the slave trade, and the – often violent – engineering of cooperative governments leave a brutal trail in liberal history-writing. If looked at from its downside, liberalism thus seems to be part of a grand strategy of domination and exploitation. In other words, liberalism and imperialism appear to be closely linked. Liberal imperialism is maintained at all levels of society. As a global 'capitalist socio-economic order', it *perpetuates* liberal principles that do not benefit those asked to institute them, but those asking. Despite fostering and upholding inequality and structures of exploitation, liberal principles as well as the interventions that attempt to institute them are *legitimised* by a thorough moral discourse, of which R2P is but one example. Last, these liberal principles are *implemented* on a local level, whereby the population affected is often met with generalised stereotypes, as a consequence of which it is disregarded or pushed aside.

The liberal peace, I conclude, as Richmond does, is in need of being changed. However, it is questionable if Richmond's turning toward the local-local will actually be able to leave the liberal trap of imposing identities on those, thought to be in need of our help. The local-local is but another category thought to tell the good from the bad. It does not assist in meeting the human beings affected by violent intrastate conflict for what they are. I have suggested that this might be the case, because problems of racism and stereotypes lie much deeper than in picking the right approach to local peacebuilding. They might lie in our very basic understanding of what it means to be human and how we relate to and engage in the world. Consequently, an inquiry regarding the philosophical foundations of the liberal peace is urgently called for.

In what follows I shall therefore juxtapose the liberal peace with the philosophical approaches of Lévinas and Derrida. I think it is important to note that both Lévinas and Derrida have been claimed to be of liberal heritage. I will consider these claims separately for each philosopher in order to subsequently ask what critique and alternatives Lévinas and Derrida might offer to the hegemonic liberal peace discourse.

4.1 Lévinas on Private Property and Embodied Peace

According to Simmons, Lévinas sees the ideal of a self-critical order of justice and politics fulfilled in the liberal state.³⁸⁴ Simmons draws this conclusion form a statement made by Lévinas in *The Paradox of Morality*, where Lévinas writes,

There is no politics for accomplishing the moral, but there are certainly some politics which are further from it or closer to it. For example, I've mentioned Stalinism to you. I've told you that justice is always a justice which desires a better justice. This is the way that I will characterize the liberal state. The liberal state is a state which holds justice as the absolutely desirable end and hence as a perfection. Concretely the liberal state has always admitted – alongside the written law – human rights as a parallel institution. [...] And consequently, I believe that it is absolutely obvious that the liberal state is more moral than the fascist state, and closer to the morally ideal state.³⁸⁵

A liberal reading of this statement is indeed problematic for the argument I want to make in the thesis at hand. Equally problematic is Simon Critchley's accusation of Lévinas' focus on fraternity, monotheism, filiality, etc. as being androcentric, and of his attitude toward Israel as being that of a Zionist.³⁸⁶ Outside the Greek and the Jewish tradition, Critchley cites Lévinas as

³⁸⁴ See: Simmons, 1999, pp. 90-100

³⁸⁵ Lévinas, in: Simmons, 1999, p. 99

³⁸⁶ At this point, I want to avoid any misunderstanding or accusations with regards to anti-Semitism. I myself do have a Jewish background. However, I think it utterly important to openly discuss the controversies and violent patterns of domination that Israel is engaged in. An uncritical Zionist stance, therefore, can pose a problem when it

saying that there is either the yellow peril – Russia and China – or merely exotic dance, both of which do not fully embrace human nature. Nonetheless, Critchley is optimistic about finding a "nonfraternalistic, nonmonotheistic, nonandrocentric, nonfilial, nonfamilial, and non-Zionist conception of the relation of ethics and politics"³⁸⁷ within Lévinas' approach,³⁸⁸ and so am I. In fact, like Tahmasebi I will argue that, if thoroughly analysed, it becomes clear that "there *is* a radical distance between Lévinas' thought and the Western liberal tradition"³⁸⁹.

4.1.1 Progress for Whom?

According to Tahmasebi, liberalism builds on three pillars: a particular conception of the individual, a rational interpretation of peace, and a specific kind of economic regulation. All three she sees rejected by Lévinas, who fundamentally criticises Western philosophy's view of a rational subject able to cognitively access and materially acquire anything it finds in the world. The liberal peace remains trapped in the realm of the Same and its 'egology', because of its view on subjectivity as purely rational and simultaneously still *self-interested*. The rights and freedoms to be ensured by the social contract concern me and my life alone. The justice of a liberal society is merely instituted to maintain a more or less peaceful possibility of free trade. But trade is not always free, let alone just. Wars to protect self-interest continue to be waged, even by the 'liberal family'. The liberal peace remains an "armed peace"³⁹⁰. In seeking the tranquillity and order necessary to appease conflicting self-interest, it does not leave the danger of totalitarianism behind. Because self-interest persist, the liberal peace needs to strive for domination and control, and thereby make (global) securitisation a top priority. Alterity needs to be colonised and made to disappear. This leads Tahmasebi to conclude that, from Lévinas' point of view, the liberal society is a hypocritical society.³⁹¹

To get to the point: the liberal peace does not lead all of humanity to a prosperous and emancipatory condition. Its downside is not something that can eventually be overcome: it is inherently part of the liberal agenda. From a Lévinasian perspective, this is so, because of a

comes to critical reflection. (See for example the movie *Roadmap to Apartheid*: http://roadmaptoapartheid.org/ (last accessed: 5th May, 2014)

³⁸⁷ Critchley, 2004, p. 177

³⁸⁸ See: Critchley, 2004, pp. 73-176

³⁸⁹ Tahmasebi, 2010, p. 523

³⁹⁰ Tahmasebi. 2010, p. 530

³⁹¹ See: Tahmasebi, 2010, pp. 524-532

specific epistemology that considers the subject able to rationally understand, grasp, and access everything it meets. Colonisation and imperialism follow, on every level of society, because such an approach to the world does not tolerate otherness. On a global scale, the liberal peace supports a 'capitalist socio-economic order' by forming political and legal institutions that serve to secure the freedom to pursue economic self-interest. Cases of non-cooperation, violent conflict, or governments with too much of a social agenda, etc. are presented as threats to the inherent right of every individual to be protected in its autonomy and rationality. Restrictions of free, individual entrepreneurship are used to morally justify interventions that follow highly standardised pre-set agendas. These agends are mainly at service of the intervening countries. It is therefore not surprising that liberal peacebuilding is unable to respectfully meet the needs and aspirations of the society it intervenes in. Even a post-liberal peace remains trapped in the modus of the Same by imposing yet another category to which a pluralistic society has to submit itself. In short, the liberal peace is inherently contradictory. It fights so hard for individual freedom, and at the same time disrespects the singularity of every person, because the political order it seeks is meant to unify, and totalise. It fights in and for the realm of the Same. Liberal imperialism is the result of it

However, the most important critique of the liberal peace Lévinas has to offer remains yet to be named. It is an attack on the institutionalisation of private property, through the protection of which the liberal peace supports and perpetuates inequality and exploitation; and to what degree indeed. For example, if it is true that the 'War on Terrorism' and the interventions in Afghanistan and Iraq were and are partly conducted because the West's provision of oil is threatened – a threat that has been made sure to be included in a more comprehensive definition of security – it becomes shockingly clear, just how far the 'liberal family' is willing to go in order to perpetuate its own advantages. This is not to speak of the torture tactics applied at Abu Ghraib and Guantànamo, and the rational, transactional, and clinical discourse used to legitimise them.³⁹² By equalizing the institutionalisation of private property and inequality with freedom and peace, the liberal peace undeniably is hypocritical, as Tahmasebi stated. However, hypocrisy is a mild charge when compared to the accusations of neo-colonialism, imperialism, and the brutal measures applied to upkeep the hegemony of the West. What alternative, then, can be found in Lévinas' approach?

³⁹² See: Ganser, 2014; Pugliese, 2013, pp. 1-13

4.1.2 Embodied Peace

In Lévinas' view, not grasping but giving lies at the heart of objectivity and truth. Openness to and infinite responsibility for the Other mark the 'locus' of peace. Drawing form this, Lévinas visualises a state that is directly shaped by its society; a state that respects the singularity of every citizen by committing to a participatory plurality, instead of being concerned with belting a false - because unequal - unity. Lévinas' approach to peace thus encompasses two levels. On a faceto-face level, peace is embodied³⁹³ and performed. It is a peace which embraces subjectivity in its corporeity and intentionality, and asks me to receive the Other for what he or she is. Facing the Other, peace is responsibility, it is *ethical*. For the building of peace, this might call for an attitude of radical humility and hesitation. It is the Other who is in need; but it is also the Other who demands my goodness and asks for my help. In consequence, self-appointed peacebuilding will ever fail to respect otherness, if it continues to mechanically replicate prearranged *conditions* apparently needed for the development of sustainable peace. If requested by the people affected by violent conflict, peacebuilding might at the most be a continuous process into the unknown, shaped by an openness to, respect for, and hence support of the needs, values, and ideas of the Other.

However, with the entry of the third party, peace equally needs to become a *just* peace. That is, it needs to embrace institutionalisation, politics, and the law. Now, just what exactly the entry of the third party calls for is widely and controversially discussed. For the purposes of this thesis, however, the interpretations of Tahmasebi and Critchley might provide a useful complementary proposition. According to Tahmasebi, the need for political and legal institutions is indeed created by the entry of the third party; yet, they are founded for the sake of the Other. It is the protection of the Other that defines my freedom and introduces questions of rights. Like Marx, Tahmasebi argues, Lévinas takes into account the corporeity and materiality of suffering, exploitation, and injustice, and thus calls us to go beyond the present capitalist economic order. But Lévinas does not take a Marxist road, even though he regards the "liberation from economic exploitation as the 'first freedom'"³⁹⁴. Beyond the formation of class-bondage, Lévinas invites us

 ³⁹³ For this term, see: Barnett/Clark/Dikeç, 2009, p. 6
 ³⁹⁴ Tahmasebi, 2010, p. 532

fight for the rights of an Other and to foster non-reciprocal relations, based on the divinity and mortality of the Other's face. In other words, ethics is to weave itself into politics.³⁹⁵

Accordingly, Critchley stresses that even in politics, there "is a universal ethical criterion for action"³⁹⁶, to which I am passive and mentally oblivious, but which guides my actions all the same. He argues that

if we are not going to bow beneath the fate of contemporary neoimperial power intoxicated by military moralism [...]; if we are going to be able to face and face down the political horror of the present, [...] then I think politics has to be empowered by a metapolitical moment of disturbance, an anarchic ethical injunction and the experience of an infinite ethical demand.³⁹⁷

This leads him to introduce an understanding of politics that is very different from the present governmental order, which is blind to the *an-archy* of ethics. Governmental politics reduces politics to policing, and is very much concerned with its own origin and foundation. As said, it fears both multiplicity and singularity, and therefore engages in a process of pacification and tranquillisation by ascribing roles and defining social relations. As a consequence, Critchley regards any political action led by ethics as a "manifestation of dissensus"³⁹⁸. It has the potential to disturb. Following Lévinas, Critchley argues that politics needs to be understood as manifold, anarchic processes of emancipation and democratisation shaped by the multiplicity of the *demos* – the people. Politics, Critchley concludes, "is now, and it is many"³⁹⁹.⁴⁰⁰ Like peacebuilding, it needs to embrace the open road. Would this be Derrida's vision, too?

4.2 Derrida on Hierarchy and a Peace to Come

Drawing on yet another one of Derrida's irreducible connections between purity and pragmatism – the one between conditional and unconditional hospitality⁴⁰¹ – Gideon Baker notes that, unlike Kant, Derrida does not provide any "universalising, programmable ethics",⁴⁰² with regards to intervention or peacebuilding. There is an element of undecidability, when it comes to the morality of peace operations. Based on this undecidability, Baker sees the ethics of hospitality

³⁹⁵ See: Tahmasebi, 2010, pp. 532-540

³⁹⁶ Critchley, 2004, p. 180

³⁹⁷ Ibid.

³⁹⁸ Critchley, 2004, p. 183

³⁹⁹ Ibid.

⁴⁰⁰ See: Critchkey, 2004, pp. 182-183

⁴⁰¹ For a short overview, see: Derrida, 2006

⁴⁰² Baker, 2010, p. 90

threatened, on the one hand, by a radical ban on intervention, and on the other, by a "domesticating will to intervene"⁴⁰³. Hospitality can only be given to those, who make it to my home. Correspondingly, all others are in danger of being neglected. Therefore, Baker concludes that sometimes hospitality needs to be forsaken in order for intervention to take place. Intervention and hospitality, then, are both part of an ethics that is concerned with otherness, but that is at the same time aware of the necessity to sometimes get involved in a dirty and violent business, such as military interventions for peace. Baker draws on Derrida's notion that violence is necessarily part of this world. Pure nonviolence is not an option. From this he concludes that sometimes, the least violence might be that of a humanitarian intervention.⁴⁰⁴

This example shows very well how Derrida's approach can be used to legitimise a very violent peacebuilding practice. However, it is doubtful whether it is justly done so. Baker, in my view, does not go far enough in his analysis as to what the historical roots of humanitarian interventions are, in what context the term was invented, and for what reasons its practice is pursued. Derrida's approach, to me, does not seem so simple. Rather, he forces us never to rest comfortably on any given assumption – even one that tries to argue in favour of a responsibility to protect. We need to be an open question, and embody a deconstructive attitude.

4.2.1 Light and Darkness

As 'peace spreads, it collapses. Peace becomes war and war becomes peace'. Or, as Necati Polat bluntly titles his article, "Peace is War."⁴⁰⁵ These citations shed light one central aspect of a possible Derridean critique of the liberal peace. The liberal peace presents itself as pure, unarguably morally good, and thus inherently preferable over any other social arrangement. It regards itself, Polat writes, as present condition, as "a state of being ontologically fixed and secure in itself, while war is an aberration"^{406,407} However, pure presence does not exist. Purity can only be created in opposition to what it is not, or what it does not want to be. The light of progressing liberalism can only be upheld when opposed to the affective, primordial, brutal, and uncivilised ways of the rest of the world. With this, the liberal peace necessarily invites darkness,

⁴⁰³ Ibid.

⁴⁰⁴ See: Baker, 2010, pp. 87-99

⁴⁰⁵ Polat, 2010, p. 317 ⁴⁰⁶ Polat, 2010, p. 318

⁴⁰⁷ See: Polat, 2010, p. 318

brutality, and violence into its own ranks. Light always carries a trace of darkness, just as darkness always holds a flickering light. The seed for peace might therefore not lie where peace has taken on a hegemonic status, but where violence is taking place.

Furthermore, even thought there is a *play* of *différance*, this play is not accidental. It is strategic. Perhaps, like a brain, it is wired, with certain connections being stronger than others. The perpetuation of structural inequality might just be such a strong connection. But as the play of *différance* remains invisible, this connection is equally made to disappear, by the way certain concepts – the visible effects of *différance* – are determined. A critical analysis of the liberal peace in line with Derrida therefore needs to first inquire about the categories with which the liberal peace operates, and how these categories might favour a certain interpretation of the world, while excluding many others. Second, it needs to analyse how these categories are used in favour of a very specific approach to political practice while again dismissing others.

The opposition between the light of peace and the darkness of violence is a hierarchical opposition. Otherness is negatively constructed. This strongly affects our interpretation of what is actually going on in contexts of violent conflict. Afghanistan is an illustrative example for various reasons. First, it was declared a failed state, not because there was no monopoly of power, but because those in power – the Taliban – were not respected as political actors by the US. Second, in its DDR program, the 'fighters' to be demobilised were falsely thought to be unemployed and frustrated young men. The power to interpret a certain situation is hence closely linked to social, political and economic power. This is very well exemplified in Laura Appeltshauser's discourse analysis on the use of the concept 'violence' within peace research.

Peace research, Appeltshauser argues, generally operates with a very narrow understanding of violence. Violence

is tacitly assumed to be physical, intentional, personal and direct [...]. Violence emerges as the manifest product of (individual) acts, spatially and temporarily contained, not as a latent process, mitigated by structural factors. It is normatively charged with being negative, destructive and deviant from the normality of politics and the attainable harmony of communication and dialogue [...]. [I]t is largely conceived as quantifiable step in conflict dynamics, or a measurable phenomenon, amenable to scientific positivist research – hardly worthy of any meta-theoretical or philosophical reflection.⁴⁰⁸

In consequence, peace research locates most occurrence of violence in the global South. The often violent origins of modern states, on the other hand, are rewritten in terms of progress and

⁴⁰⁸ Appeltshauser, 2014, p. 9

civilisation; our military activities presented as peace missions toward societies or regimes that have fallen beyond the possibility of dialogue and rational argumentation; and our perpetuation of economic exploitation is sold as developmental aid. In short and more fundamentally, by linking peace to a rational and reasonable departure from a violent state of nature, any society immersed in civil war can be presented as primordial, irrational, affective, and hence in need of our civilising advice. The definition of violence, Appeltshauser concludes, is a highly political act. Research is not neutral. This is not merely the case, because concepts, definitions and interpretations disrespect the singularity of any given situation; but because concepts perpetuate, and are intentionally used to uphold given power relations.⁴⁰⁹ To go back to Crush: All Western words need to be considered as part of an imperial world.

The liberal peace can thus serve as a discursive legitimation of the present 'capitalist socio-economic order', the perpetuation of which needs to be regarded as rationally and morally favourable on all levels of society. The maintenance of this image can be taken as far as to conceal the pursuit of political and economic self-interest via the means of war and torture, by presenting it as moral duty or responsibility to protect. The historian Daniele Ganser calls this 'soft power' or the 'power of interpretation'. Because this power shapes our view of the world, it can make itself disappear.⁴¹⁰ According to him, it is time to become sensitive to the mechanisms of 'soft power' and ask how politics actually work in terms of finding reasons for wars like the one that took place in Libya in 2011, or, as mentioned above, the one in Afghanistan. Are we always presented with lies?⁴¹¹ And what alternatives remain for us?

4.2.2 Deconstructing for a Peace to Come

Appeltshauser does not end her article on a pessimistic note. According to her, to regard violence as pervasively negative is to forget a very important part of differential thought. Violence is not purely negative; it is also productive.⁴¹² Without it – without the determination of things, and thus without the risk to disrespect, or even harm – the world would not be comprehensible to us. All Being would be unthinkable, and we human beings incapable of both intentionality and action.

⁴⁰⁹ See: Appeltshauser, 2014, pp. 4-9

⁴¹⁰ Unlike Polat, I would argue that the liberal peace is not oblivious to structural inequality. The discourse in which it engages more or less deliberately works in favour of naturalising current power-relations, in order to uphold them. (See: Polat, 2010, pp. 335-337) ⁴¹¹ See for example: Ganser, 2014

⁴¹² See: Appeltshauser, 2014, pp. 16-18

As Derrida argues, we need to speak. Only then can we have a chance at respecting the Other for what he or she is. Derrida thus takes a more pragmatic stance than Lévinas. For him, pure nonviolence – ethical peace – is not possible within the historicity of this world. But it can remain an aim, a *telos*, a guiding light. Always to come hospitality, forgiveness, justice, and ultimately peace in their purity remain 'unthinkable, unutterable, impossible'. Nonetheless, it is our responsibility to work for them.

One way, we can do this, is by taking on the responsibility of relentless deconstruction. We need to look at texts, at writing, question words and established patches of meaning, so as to expose the hierarchies of conceptual oppositions, without trying to institute yet another fixed and hardened point of view in regards to "how we should think or act"⁴¹³. This is not to say that no approach will ever regain a hegemonic status. Interpretations of ourselves, the world, and ideals concerning the right way to act or construct our social life will continue to manifest. It is the task of deconstruction to remain attentive to their emergence and have the tools to bring the hidden mechanisms of domination to light.⁴¹⁴ Deconstruction, Derrida writes, is justice. But it is a justice never reached. Thus, just like Lévinas, Derrida asks us to embark on a journey into the unknown, without fixed meanings. We, as philosophers, need to be an open question: relentless, but at the same time embracing an attitude of hesitation and humility, led by a deep concern for the safety of the singular Other, even though this singularity can never become consciously named without doing it harm.⁴¹⁵

Practically, this might mean, first of all, acknowledging that "the political refers to a 'space of power, conflict and antagonism' at the core of social interaction"⁴¹⁶. Derrida does not engage in a discussion on whether the natural state of men is a state of peace or war. In any case, we can never know, because there is always already society. And in it, life simply *is* antagonism and conflict. There are dilemmas, there is discrimination, inclusion and exclusion, etc. An everlasting peaceful condition, as it is envisioned by Kant and ultimately also by the liberal peace, is a peace of the dead. It would harbour neither space nor time, and thus could not tolerate becoming. On the other hand, Polat argues that accepting the conflictual nature of social relations equally harbours the potential for politics to become a "radical and genuinely pluralistic

⁴¹⁵ See: Reynolds, 2001, pp. 36-51

⁴¹³ Patton, 2007, p. 770

⁴¹⁴ This perhaps is a similar undertaking to the one Michel Foucault introduced as *discourse analysis* which has then been further developed as the *critical discourse analysis method*. (See: Fairclough, 1995, pp. 23-25 & 42-48 & 76-78; Foucault, 1981, pp. 52-53 & 69-76)

⁴¹⁶ Polat, 2010, p. 337

democracy³⁴¹⁷. Because peace always lies in the future – is always to come – it begs for a process of continuous political transformation toward justice as such. Thus, Derrida, like Lévinas, asks ethics to weave itself into politics. Deconstruction intervenes. Demanding it, Derrida makes room for "ethical struggles in the juridical and political spheres [...] through a critique of violence, of the violence of law and its role in justice"⁴¹⁸. Derrida knows that we cannot overcome this violence. Still, he hopes that embarking on a process of radical democratisation might steer us toward a "promised land of a *post-metaphysical* ethics and politics without adumbrating its geography"^{419,420} Again, Lévinas and Derrida do not seem to be so far apart. In fact, as I shall elaborate further in the conclusion, their approaches might provide guite a complementary picture on violence and peace.

⁴¹⁷ Ibid.

⁴¹⁸ Buonamano, 1998, p. 173 ⁴¹⁹ Bernstein, 1987, p. 112

⁴²⁰ See: Buonamo, 1998, pp. 171-176; Patton, 2007, p. 771; Polat, 2010, p. 337

5 Conclusion – To Start with 'Secondly'

In this thesis I set out to analyse the violent and imperial character of the liberal peace from a philosophical perspective. I have argued that the accusations of violence and imperialism, liberal peacebuilding is faced with today cannot be solved by merely choosing a different approach to policy-making. The imperial traits of liberalism are, among other things, the result of deeperlying assumptions concerning human nature, subjectivity, epistemology and ontology. As guiding research question, I thus asked, how the imperial character of the liberal peace could best be explained with the philosophical approaches of Lévinas and Derrida, and if their approaches might provide us with alternatives for peace. First, I presented the liberal peace both in its self-ascribed glory and in its violent, at times brutal, and in any case imperial and often neo-colonial downside. Second, I introduced the philosophical approaches of Lévinas and Derrida in order to juxtapose them to the discourse of liberal peace.

When considering the approaches of Lévinas and Derrida, it first of all becomes very clear that our understanding of subjectivity, cognition, ontology, etc. has a great influence on the way, we imagine, plan, and implement peace. I my analysis, both Lévinas and Derrida were found to regard the rational subject as a consequence of some kind of relatedness. In Lévinas' view, the subject emerges from an irreducible relation to the Other. Derrida, on the other hand, stresses that subjectivity is merely an effect of differentiation. It does not own truth. Nor is it absolutely free. The necessity of relation, for subjectivity to evolve, has relevance for peace studies, because peace can no longer be about protecting the illusion of absolute and autonomous freedom. By falsifying the liberal notion of subjectivity, the entire discourse of the liberal peace crumbles.

That is to say, the liberal peace has to declare our state of nature a state of war, because it is based on philosophical approaches that centre around a rational, self-present, but also self-interested subject. In consequence, the liberal peace needs to create a unified society in which the danger of a war of all against all is contained. The social contract is institutionalised in order to appease, to tranquillise, and at the same time control a given population. From a Lévinasian perspective, the liberal peace remains armed because it still operates within *egology*, the realm of the Same. Most problematically, it is a peace concerned with me, my freedom, and my possessions. This concern ultimately institutionalises inequality by legally protecting private property. Imperialism, therefore, is not something accidentally part of the liberal condition. It lies at its heart. Living in the 'liberal family', we do not want to see this. Liberalism is presented to us

as the only possible way to shape society in order to reach ever-greater progress. Within the liberal discourse, as I have argued with Derrida, structures of inequality, exploitation and imperialism are reinterpreted in terms of (moral) necessities and thereby made to disappear. The same applies to acts of violence and brutality conducted by liberal states – such as torture or the use of drones.

In sum, Lévinas confirms that imperialism is an inherent aspect of liberal thought and practice. Derrida, on the other hand, is equally aware of the link between liberalism and mechanisms of domination, but he does not regard imperialism as an exclusively liberal trait. To him, it can evolve wherever a particular discourse gains the hegemony of interpretation. Either way, both Lévinas and Derrida demand we scrutinise the liberal discourse in its entirety in order to disclose what lies behind our feelings of victory and superiority. Their approaches attack the liberal peace in its good conscience. They show us that the liberal peace tells our entire story by beginning with 'secondly'. It declares our state of nature a state of war and thus operates with a very limited view on what it means to be a human being – namely, rational, autonomous, and free. How then, can we, who are no longer fooled by the thought of pure, and self-present rationality, imagine peace?

Lévinas' and Derrida's answer would be: We cannot. Peace cannot be thought of. It is not a condition that can be determined and then mechanically engineered from the outside. To find peace, we need to embark on a journey into the unknown, on every level of society. The only thing that can lead us on this road, are an openness to, a deep concern and a responsibility for the Other. This might manifest in an attitude of goodness, humility, hesitation, and simultaneously of informed and constant criticism. Nevertheless, this attitude does not protect us from the fact that, to some extent, we might always fail to protect the singularity of the Other, because there always already is society, the third party, and the violence of history.

Together, the approaches of Lévinas and Derrida concretise this process into the open by addressing three spheres of sociality. In the *sphere of the face-to-face*, which is most discussed by Lévinas, we need to embrace the fact that, even though we see the Other's suffering, we are not the ones to know best, what he or she needs. It is the Other for whom we are responsible; but it is also the Other who will first demand our help. For peacebuilding, this implies a radical change of approach. Perhaps we need to leave all preconceived notions behind, in order to be able to meet the Other openly and listen to what he or she has to say. In the *discursive sphere*, which is the focus of Derrida, we are asked to deconstruct endlessly every text, every system of meaning,

every written and spoken word in order to detect hierarchies that are hidden by the means of e.g. neutralisation, universalization, objectivation, etc. Peace scholars, too, must remain ever-vigilant to the power of definition, engage in radical self-criticism, and deconstruct the concepts with which they operate – such as the concept of violence. In the *sphere of politics*, we have to leave behind self-interest and, with it, the wish to control and totalise. Instead we should engage in a process of radical democratisation that respects the singularity of every human being, and thus constantly strives for plurality instead of unity.

So far, I have argued that philosophy indeed matters for the study and building of peace. In order to better understand the inherent violent and imperial tendencies of the liberal peace, peace scholars and peacebuilders do well to engage in a critical reconsideration of human nature, the possibility of knowledge, and the character of subjectivity and freedom. To end, however, I would like to turn the tables and ask what philosophy could learn from all this. If peace studies and peacebuilding are a concretisation of philosophical thought, how should philosophy relate to the violence its own basic assumptions create? Perhaps, we, as philosophers, need to ask what our primary intention should be. What is to lead our search for truth and wisdom? Could we conceptualise human nature in a manner that does not corrupt our understanding of the way we comprehend and engage in the world, but still allows us to respect otherness and singularity? Could we not overcome our fear of the 'malicious demon' reflected in our failure to fully grasp multiplicity and plurality? Lévinas and Derrida try to do so. Further debates need to follow because, as the initial citation of this thesis states, our indifference to the suffering of the singular Other has the potential to kill. If it is indeed as Derrida says, and we cannot escape history, then let us hope that philosophy will take its part in shaping a future "found in the past's fugitive moments of compassion rather than in its solid centuries of warfare"⁴²¹.

⁴²¹ Zinn, 2007, p. 12

Bibliography

Adams, John/Kahn, Hafiz T. A./Raeside, Robert/White, David (2007): *Research Methods for Graduate Business and Social Science Students*. Los Angeles, London, New Delhi & Singapore: Response: Business Books from Sage

Alfs, Michael (1995): *Wissenschaft für den Frieden? Das schwierige Theorie-Praxis-Verhältnis der Friedens- und Konfliktforschung.* (Transl.: Science for Peace? The Difficult Relation of Theory and Practice in Peace and Conflict Studies.) Münster: Agenda Verlag

Appeltshauser, Laura (2014): "Epistemic Violence as an Analytical Concept in Peace and Conflict Studies." Unpublished paper, presented at the conference *What the FuK?! Kritische Perspektiven in der/auf die Friedens- und Konfliktforschung*. (Transl.: What the FuK⁴²²?! Critical Perspectives on and in Peace and Conflict Studies.)

Ashford, Mary-Wynne/Gottstein, Ulrich (2000): "The Impact on Civilians of the Bombing of Kosovo and Serbia." In: *Medicine, Conflict and Survival*, Vol. 16, pp. 267-280

Atterton, Paul (1992): "Lévinas and the Language of Peace: A Response to Derrida." In: *Philosophy Today*, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 59-70

Bagby, Laurie M. (2002): *Political Thought: A Guide to the Classics*. Toronto: Wadsworth Thomson Learning

Bahner, Werner (1984): "Einleitung." In: Jean-Jacques Rousseau: Der Gesellschaftsvertrag. Leipzig: Verlag Philip Reclam jun., pp. 5-36

Baker, Gideon (2010): "The 'Double Law' of Hospitality: Rethinking Cosmopolitan Ethics in Humanitarian Intervention." In: *International Relations*, Vol. 24, No. 1, pp. 87-103

⁴²² FuK is a play with the phonetic meaning of the written word *fuck* – as in "What the fuck?!" –, and the abbreviation of the German name for peace and conflict studies – *Friedens- und Konfliktforschung*.

Bänninger, Mirja B. (2011): Course SVF-3021, Take Home Exam, Question One: Unpublished Exam Paper. Centre for Peace Studies: University of Tromsø

Bänninger Mirja B. (2012a): Course SPL-301, Take Home Exam, Question Two: Unpublished Exam Paper. Institutt for Sosiologi, Statsvitenskap og Samfunnsplanlegging: University of Tromsø

Bänninger, Mirja B. (2012b): Course SVF-3024, Take Home Exam, Question Three: Unpublished Exam Paper. Centre for Peace Studies: University of Tromsø

Barkawi, Tarak/Mark Laffey (1999): "The Imperial Peace: Democracy, Force and Globalisation." In: *European Journal of International Relations*, Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 403-434

Bhatia, Michael Vinay/Muggah Robert (2008): "The politics of demobilization in Afghanistan." In: Robert Muggah (ed.): *Security and Post-Conflict Reconstruction: Dealing with fighters in the aftermath of war*. London: Routledge, pp. 126-163

Behnke, Andreas (2008): "'Eternal Peace' as the Graveyard of the Political: A Critique of Kant's Zum Ewigen Frieden." In: *Millennium – Journal of International Studies*, Vol. 36, pp. 513-531

Bernard-Donals, Michael F. (2005): "Difficult Freedom': Levinas, Language, and Politics." In: *Diacritics*, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 62-77

Bernasconi, Robert (1997): "The violence of the face: Peace and language in the thought of Levinas." In: *Philosophy and Social Criticism*, Vol. 23, No. 6, pp. 81-93

Bernstein, Richard (1987): "Serious Play: The Ethical-Political Horizon of Jacques Derrida." In: *The Journal of Speculative Philosophy, New Series*, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 93-117

Buonamo, Roberto (1998): "The Economy of Violence: Derrida on Law and Justice." In: *Ration Juris*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 168-179

Bishai, Linda S. (2004): "Liberal empire." In: Journal of International Relations and Development, Vo. 7, pp. 48-72

Bull, Hedley (1966): "Society and Anarchy in International Relations." In: Herbert Butterfield, Martin Wight (ed.): *Diplomatic Investigations: Essays in the Theory of International Politics*. London: George Allen & Unwin LTD, pp. 35-50

Call, Charles T./Cousens, Elisabeth M. (2008): "Ending Wars and Building Peace: International Responses to War-Torn Societies." In: *International Studies Perspectives*, Vol. 9, pp. 1-21

Chomsky, Noam (2010): Hopes and Prospects. London: Hamish Hamilton

Chandler, David (2004): "*The Responsibility to Protect?* Imposing the 'Liberal Peace". In: *International peacekeeping*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 59-81

Civic, Melanne (2010): "The Responsibility to Protect: Ending Mass Atrocity Crimes Once and for All: By Gareth Evans: Reviewed by Melanne Civic." In: *Prism*, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 155-159

Cooper, Neil (2007): "Review article: On the crisis of the liberal peace." In: *Conflict, Security & Development*, VOI. 7, No. 4, pp. 605-616

Cooper, Robert (2002): "The new liberal imperialism." Accessed: 24th September 2013 on: http://attacberlin.de/fileadmin/Sommerakademie/Cooper_New_liberal_Imperialism.pdf

Cortright, David (2008): *Peace: A History of Movements and Ideas*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Critchley, Simon (2004): "Five Problems in Lévinas's View of Politics and the Sketch of a Solution to Them." In: *Political Theory*, Vol. 32, No. 2, pp. 172-185

Crush, Jonathan (2003): "Introduction: Imagining Development." In: Jonathan Crush (ed.): *Power of Development.* New York: Routledge, pp. 1-26

Delholm, Pascal/Hirsch, Alfred (2007): "Vorwort." (Transl.: Foreword.) In: Emmanuel Lévinas: *Verletzlichkeit und Frieden: Schriften über die Politik und das Politische*. (Transl.: Vulnerability and Peace: Writings on Politics and the Political.) Berlin & Zürich: diaphanes, pp. 7-70

Der Derian, James (1989): "The Boundaries of Knowledge and Power in International Relations." In: James Der Derian and Michael Shapiro (eds.): *International/Intertextual Relations*. Toronto: Lexington Books, pp. 3-10

Derrida, Jacques (1978): "Violence and Metaphysics: An Essay on the Thought of Emmanuel Levinas." In: Jacques Derrida: *Writing and Difference*. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul Ltd, pp. 79-153

Derrida, Jacques (1982): "Différance." In: Jacques Derrida: *Margins of Philosophy*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, pp. 1-27

Derrida, Jacques (1990): "Force of Law: The 'Mystical Foundation of Authority'." In: *Cardozo Law Review*, Vol. 11, No. 919, pp. 920-1045

Derrida, Jacques (2001): "On Forgiveness." In: Jacques Derrida: On Cosmopolitanism and Forgiveness. London & New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group, pp. 27-60

Derrida, Jacques (2002): "Globalisation, Peace, and Cosmopolitanism." In: Jacques Derrida: *Negotiations: Interventions and Interviens: 1971-2001.* Stanford: Stanford University Press, pp. 371-386

Derrida, Jacques (2006): "The Principle of Hospitality." In: Parallax, vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 6-9

Descartes, René (1986): Meditations On First Philosophy: With Selections from the Objections and Replies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Dikeç, Mustafa/Clark, Nigel/Barnett, Clive (2009): "Extending Hospitality: Giving Space, Taking Time." In: Mustafa Dikeç/Nigel Clark/Clive Barnett (eds.): *Extending Hospitality: Giving*

92

Space, Taking Time. Paragraph Special Issues, Vol. 32, No. 1. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University press, pp. 1-14

Doyle, Michael, W. (1983): "Kant, Liberal Legacies, and Foreign Affairs." In: *Philosophy & Public Affairs*, Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 205-235

Duffield, Mark (2007): *Development, security and unending war governing the world of peoples.* Cambridge: Polity Press

Duyvesteyn, Isabelle (2007): "The role of history and continuity in terrorism research." In: Magnus Ranstorp (ed.): *Mapping Terrorism Research. State of the Art, Gaps and Future Direction.* New York: Routledge, pp. 51-75

Ganser, Daniele (2014): *KenFM im Gespräch mit Daniele Ganser*. (Transl.: Interview with Daniele Ganser on KenFM. http://www.danieleganser.ch/KenFM_im_Gespraech_mit_Dr._Daniele_Ganser_Teil_1_1395264 849.html (last accessed: 30th May 2014)

Fairclough, Norman (1995): *Critical discourse analysis: the critical study of language*. Harlow: Longman Group Limited

Foucault, Michel (1981): "The Order of Discourse." In: Robert Young (ed.): *Untying the Text: A Post-Structuralist Reader*. Boston, Henley & London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, pp. 48-78

Flatscher, Matthias (2014): "Das Verhältnis zwischen dem Ethischen und Politischen: Überlegungeng zu Lévinas' Figur des Dritten." (Transl.: On the relation between the ethical and the political. Thoughts on Lévinas' figure of the third.)

Fukuyama, Francis (2002): *The End of History and the Last Man.* New York: Free Press: A Division of Simon & Schuster, Inc.

Gaylads, The (1996): "Peace, Love and Understanding." In: The Gaylads: *Fire and Rain* (Album). Jet Set Records: JET SET 44 404-2 <u>http://www.discogs.com/Gaylads-Fire-And-Rain/release/1678561</u> (last accessed: 20th Feb. 2014)

Gerschenkorn, Alexander (1962): "On the Concept of Continuity in History." In: *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, Vol. 106, No. 3, pp. 195-209

Graf, Wilfried/Kramer, Gudrun/Nicolescou, Augustin (2007): "Counselling and training for conflict transformation and peace-building: The TRANSCEND approach." In: Johan Galtung/Charles Webel (eds.): *Handbook of Peace and Conflict Studies*. London & New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group, pp. 123-142

Gustozzi, Antonio (2008): "Bureaucratic façade and political realities of disarmament and demobilisation in Afghanistan". In: *Conflict, Security & Development*. Vol. 8, No. 3, pp. 169-192

Hägglund, Martin (2004): "The Necessity of Discrimination: Disjoining Derrida and Levinas." In: *Diacritics*, Vol. 34, No. 1, pp. 40-71

Harpham, Geoffrey G. (1994): "So... What Is Enlightenment? An Inquisition into Modernity." In: *Critical Inquiry*, Vol. 20, No. 3, pp. 524-556

Heathershaw, John (2008): "Unpacking the Liberal Peace: The Dividing and Merging of Peacebuilding Discourses." In: *Millenium – Journal of International Studies*, Vol. 36, pp. 597-621

Henkel, Heiko/Stirrat, Roderick L. (2002): "Participation as Spiritual Duty, Empowerment as Secular Subjection." In: B. Cooke & U. Kothari (ed.): *Participation: The New Tyranny?* London & New York: Zed Books, pp. 168-184

Herzog, Annabel (2002): "Is Liberalism 'All we Need?': Lévinas's Politics of Surplus." In: *Political Theory*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 204-227

Hirblinger, Andreas T./Simons, Claudia (2014): "The good, the bad and the powerful: towards local construction in peacebuilding." Unpublished paper, presented at the conference *What the FuK?! Kritische Perspektiven in der/auf die Friedens- und Konfliktforschung*. (Transl.: What the FuK?! Critical Perspectives on and in Peace and Conflict Studies.)

Hobbes, Thomas (1968): Leviathan. London: Penguin Books

Kahlenberg, Vera (2014): "Der Friedens- und Konfliktforschung den Spiegel vorhalten: Über die Notwendigkeit einer postkolonialen Selbstreflexion. Oder: Was die Friedens- und Konfliktforschung von der kritischen entwicklungspolitischen Bildungsarbeit lernen kann." (Transl.: To Hold a Mirror in Front of Peace and Conflict Studies: On the Necessity of a Postcolonial Self-reflection. Or: What Peace and Conflict Studies Could Learn from Educational Efforts of Development Politics.) Unpublished paper, presented at the conference *What the FuK?! Kritische Perspektiven in der/auf die Friedens- und Konfliktforschung* (Transl.: What the FuK?! Critical Perspectives on and in Peace and Conflict Studies.)

Kant, Immanuel (1968): *Kritik der reinen Vernunft 1: Werkausgabe Band III*. (Transl.: Critique of Pure Reason 1: Critical Edition: Volume III) Frankfurt a.M.: Suhrkamp Taschenbuch Wissenschaft

Kant, Immanuel (1992): Über den Gemeinspruch: Das mag in der Theorie richtig sein, taugt aber nicht für die Praxis: Zum Ewigen Frieden. (Transl.: On the Old Saw: That May Be Right in Theory but It Won't Work in Practice: Perpetual Peace.) Hamburg: Felix Meiner Verlag

Kant, Immanuel (1999): *Grundlegung zur Metaphysik der Sitten*. (Transl.: Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals.) Hamburg: Felix Meiner Verlag

Kende, Istvan (1989): "The History of Peace: Concept and Organisations from the Late Middle Ages to the 1870s." In: *Journal of Peace Research*, Vol. 26, pp. 233-247

Kersting, Wolfgang (1992): "Politics, freedom, and order: Kant's political philosophy." In: Paul

Guyer (ed.): *The Cambridge Companion to Kant*. Melbourne, New York, Port Chester & Sydney: Cambridge University Press, pp. 342-366

Koppe, Karlheinz (2006): "Zur Geschichte der Friedens- und Konfliktforschung im 20. Jahrhundert." (Transl.: On the History of Peace and Conflict Studies in the 20th Century.) In: Peter Imbusch/Ralf Zoll (eds.): *Friedens- und Konfliktforschung. Eine Einführung.* (Transl.: Peace and Conflict Studies: An Introduction). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, pp. 17-66

Kuus, Merje (2007): "Love, Peace and NATO: Imperial Subject-Making in Central Europe." In: *Antipode*, Vol. 39, No. 2, pp. 269-290

Lederach, Angela Jill/Lederach, John Paul (2010): *When Blood and Bones Cry Out: Journeys through the Soundscape of Healing and Reconciliation*. New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press

Lévinas, Emmanuel (1969): *Totality and Infinity: An Essay on Exteriority*. Pittsburgh: Duquesne University Press

Lévinas, Emmanuel (1981): Otherwise than Being or Beyond Essence. Pittsburgh: Duquesne University Press

Levinas, Emmanuel (1986): "The Trace of the Other." In: *Deconstruction in Context*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, pp. 345-359.

Lévinas, Emmanuel (1987): "Language and Proximity." In: Emmanuel Lévinas: *Collected Philosophical Papers*. Boston, Dordrecht & Lancaster: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, pp. 109-126

Lévinas, Emannuel (1990): *Difficult Freedom: Essays on Judaism*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press

Lévinas, Emmanuel (1996): "Peace and Proximity." In: Emmanuel Lévinas: *Basic Philosophical Writings*. Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, pp. 161-170

Lévinas, Emmanuel (1998): "From Consciousness to Wakefulness: Starting from Husserl." In: Emmanuel Lévinas: *Of God Who Comes to Mind*. Stanford: Stanford University Press, pp. 15-32

Locke, John (1980): Second Treatise of Government. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company

Mac Ginty, Roger (2008): "Indigenous Peace-Making Versus the Liberal Peace." In: *Cooperation and Conflict: Journal of the Nordic International Studies Association*, Vol. 42, No. 2, pp. 139-163

Macpherson, Crawford B. (1965): The Real World of Democracy. Toronto: CBC Learning Systems

Macpherson, Crawford B. (1980): "Editors Introduction." In: John Locke: Second Treatise of Government. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company, pp. vii-xxi

Mandelbaum, Michael (2002): *The Ideas that Conquered the World: Peace, Democracy, and Free Markets in the Twenty-First Century.* New York: Public Affairs

Marshall, Alex (2010): "Imperial nostalgia, the liberal lie, and the perils of postmodern counterinsurgency." In: *Small Wars &* Insurgencies, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 233-258

Moravcsik, Andrew (1992): "Liberalism and International Relations Theory." Harvard University, Center for International Affairs, Typescript

Morgenthau, Hans J. (1994) "Six Principles of Political Realism." In: Phil Williams, Donald M. Goldstein, Jay M. Shafritz (ed.): *Classic Readings of International Relations*. Belmont: Wadsworth Publishing Company, pp. 34-38

Muggah, Robert (2005): "No Magic Bullet: A Critical Perspective on Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration (DDR) and Weapons Reduction in Post-conflict Contexts. In: *The Round Table: The Commonwealth Journal of International Affairs*. Vol. 94, No. 379, pp. 239-252

Muggah, Robert (2008) "Introduction: The Emperor's Clothes? In: Robert Muggah (ed.): *Security and Post-Conflict Reconstruction: Dealing with fighters in the aftermath of war.* London: Routledge, pp. 1-21

Münkler, Herfried (2005): *Imperien: Die Logik der Weltherrschaft – vom Alten Rom bis zu den Vereinigten Staaten.* (Transl.: Empries: The Logic of Global Dominance – from Ancient Rome to the United States.) Berlin: Rowohlt Verlag

Ofrat, Gideon (2001): The Jewish Derrida. New York: Syracuse University Press

Oneal, John R./Russet, Bruce (2001): "Clear and Clean: The Fixed Effects of the Liberal Peace." In: *International Organisation*, Vol. 55, No. 2, pp. 469-485

Paris, Roland/Sisk, Timothy (2009): "Introduction: Understanding the contradictions of postwar statebuilding." In: Roland Paris/Timothy Sisk (ed.): *The Dilemmas of Statebuilding: Confronting the contradictions of postwar peace operations*. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 1-2

Patton, Paul (2007): "Derrida, Politics, and Democracy to Come." In: *Philosophy Compass*, Vol. 2, No. 6, pp. 766-780

Polat, Necati (2010): "Peace as War." In: *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political*, Vol. 35, pp. 317-345

Pugh, Michael (2005): "The political economy of peacebuilding: a critical theory perspective." In: *International Journal of Peace Studies*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 23-42 Pugliese, Joseph (2013): State Violence and the Execution of Law: Biopolitical Caesurae of Torture, Black Sites, Drones. New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group

Roadmap to Apartheid, Movie Trailer: <u>http://roadmaptoapartheid.org/</u> (last accessed: 5th May 2014)

Rasmussen, Mikkel Vedby (2001): "Reflexive Security: NATO and International Risk Society." In: *Millennium – Journal of International Studies*, Vol. 30, pp. 285-309

Reynolds, Jack (2001): "The Other of Derridean Deconstruction: Levinas, Phenomenology and the Question of Responsibility." In: *Minerva – An Internet Journal of Philosophy*: ISSN 1393-614X, Vol. 5, pp. 31-62

Rhodes, Edward (2003): "The Imperial Logic of Bush's Liberal Agenda." In: *Survival*, Vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 131-154

Richmond, Oliver P. (2006): 'The problem of peace: understanding the 'liberal peace'.' In: *Conflict, Security & Development*, Vol. 6, Nr. 3, pp. 291-314

Richmond, Oliver P. (2007): The Transformation of Peace. London: Palgrave Mcmillan

Richmond, Oliver P. (2009): "A post liberal peace: Eirenism and the everyday." In: *Review of International Studies*, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 557-580

Sanyal, Bishwapriya (2005): "Hybrid Planning Cultures: The search for the Global Cultural Commons. In Bishwapriya Sanyal (ed.): *Comparative Planning Cultures*. New York: Routledge, pp. 3-25

Scharffscher, Kristin S. (2011): "Disempowerment through disconnection: Local women's disaster response and international relief in post-tsunami Batticola." In: *Disaster Prevention and Management*, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 63-81

Schmitt, Esther (2006): "Gestaltungen ins Offene: Politiken der Begegnung von Fremden." (Transl.: Designing into the Open: A Politics of Meeting Strangers.) In: Zentrum für Friedensforschung und Friedenspädagogik (Transl.: Centre for Peace Research and Peace Education) (ed.): *Jahrbuch Friedenskultur 2006*. (Transl.: Yearbook Peace Culture 2006) Klagenfurt: Drava Verlag, pp. 84-91

Shapiro, Michael J. (1989): "Textualizing Global Politics." In: James Der Derian and Michael Shapiro (eds.): *International/Intertextual Relations*. Toronto: Lexington Books, pp. 11-22

Simmons, William Paul (1999): "The Third: Lévinas' Theoretical Move from An-Archical Ethics to the Realm of Justice and Politics." In: *Philosophy and Social Criticism*, Vol. 25, No. 6, pp. 83-104

Smith, Adam (2005): *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations*. An Electronic Classics Series Publication:

http://www2.hn.psu.edu/faculty/jmanis/adam-smith/wealth-nations.pdf (last accessed: 30th May 2014)

Stevenson, Michael Robert (2012) *Subjectivity and Selfhood in Kant, Fichte and Heidegger*. Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences. Columbia University, http://academiccommons.columbia.edu/item/ac:144709 (last accessed: 26th June 2012)

Tahmasebi, Victoria (2010): "Does Levinas justify or transcend liberalism? Levinas on human liberation." In: *Philosophy and Social Criticism*, Vol. 36, No. 5, pp. 523-544

Tilly, Charles (1985): "War Making and State Making as Organized Crime." In: Peter Evans, Dietrich Rueschemeyer, Theda Skocpol (ed.): *Bringing the State Back In*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 169-186

Walker, Robert (1993): *Inside/Outside: International Relations as Political Theory*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Waltz, Kenneth N. (2000): "Structural Realism after the Cold War". In: *International Security*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 5-41

Walzer, Michael (2002): "The Triumph of Just War Theory (and the Danger of its Success)." In: *Social Research*, Vol. 69, No. 4, pp. 925-944

Watson, Vanessa (2003): "Conflicting Rationalities: Implications for Planning Theory and Ethics." In: *Planning Theory & Practice*, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp.395-407

Weede, Erich (2010): "The Capitalist Peace and the Rise of China: Establishing Global Harmony by Economic Interdependence." In: *International Interactions*, Vol. 36, No. 2, pp. 206-213

Zinn, Howard (2007): A Power Governments Cannot Suppress. San Francisco: City Lights Books

Declaration Concerning the Safeguarding of Academic Integrity

I hereby declare that I am aware of and have respected the rules for the safeguarding of academic honesty and integrity, as well as the guidelines for good academic practice throughout the entire thesis at hand.

Bern, 30th May 2014

Of Banninger

Mirja Bänninger